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Introduction from the Council and Chief Executive  
 
The 2017/18 Annual Report presents Council’s progress and performance against the third year of 
the 2015-25 Long Term Plan from 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018. 
 
The last twelve months has seen continued progress towards achieving Council’s vision for the 
community of Growing Waitaki – the best place to live, work and play.  While some of the highlights 
for the year are outlined below, there is much more that has been delivered right across all areas of 
Council. 
 
Positive Financial Result 
We’ve ended the year in a strong financial position with a surplus of $0.913m.  This is the sixth 
consecutive year we’ve reported a healthy surplus and better than budgeted financial position.  We 
will continue to review our costs, particularly from an operational perspective, ensuring ratepayers get 
the best value for money.  We also received a dividend of $504,000 from Council-owned Whitestone 
Contracting Limited. 
 
Our financial position is indicative of our prudency.  When developing the 2018-28 Long Term Plan, 
we expected a 4.6% rates increase for the year ending 30 June 2019.  Despite a significant increase 
in activity, and Council’s decision to appoint new roles (such as our new Economic Development 
Manager and a Heritage Advisor), we have been able to contain the rates increase to a level of only 
3.84%, something we are very pleased with.  We have also been able to introduce some new projects 
for the coming year that will help grow our district. 
 
Organisational Realignment 
During the year, the Executive Leadership Team underwent a realignment.  As a result, organisational 
functionality has improved, with Executive Leadership Team (ELT) managers having a better ‘fit’ with 
the areas of operation for which they have responsibility.  As a result of this realignment and an earlier 
resignation of a Tier 2 manager, one Tier 3 manager was promoted to ELT level as Group Manager – 
Heritage, Environment and Regulatory.  Because of an increased focus on leveraging greater value 
for the community through improved use of technology, the Manager of Information Systems was also 
promoted to the ELT table as Group Manager – Information Systems.   
 
Economic Development 
Council has led the district’s effort to secure UNESCO Global Geopark status for the Waitaki 
Whitestone Geopark.  In May 2018, the Waitaki Whitestone Geopark was selected by the New 
Zealand National Commission for UNESCO to go forward as New Zealand’s national nomination for 
assessment as a UNESCO Global Geopark. 
 
The Alps2Ocean Cycle Trail continues to go from strength to strength.  Central Government funding 
was secured to take more of the trail off road.  A big “thank you” goes to landowners for their 
enthusiasm and co-operation to make this happen.  The addition of the Alps 2 Ocean Ultrathon has 
added yet another dimension to New Zealand’s longest national cycleway and the economic benefits 
of the A2O are increasingly evident in the Waitaki Valley and the wider district. 
 
Our success during the year in attracting the New Zealand Airline Academy to commence commercial 
airline pilot training operations at Oamaru Airport has been very pleasing.   An initial intake of 
approximately 20 trainee pilots is anticipated for 2018/19.  They will complete around 4,000 flights 
over the first 10-12 month period.  Ultimately, it is expected that the Academy will employ 10 staff 
locally, and will have 30 to 50 commercial pilot trainees within a 2-3-year period. 
 
A key focus of the water team has been to enable new developments with the supply of water 
services.  This included installation of new pipelines for the Natural Chicken Company south of 
Moeraki, Waiareka Park subdivision, Otematata school subdivision, and Reservoir Road water main 
upgrade for the Observatory Hill Retirement Village. 
 
International Internship Programme 
One of the notable successes of the year has been the successful design and implementation of our 
international internship programme, with University students from the Netherlands, France and 
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Germany choosing to undertake their mandatory international internship experience in the Waitaki 
district.  Interns have worked in a variety of tasks including assisting with our successful national 
nomination as a prospective UNESCO Global Geopark, Human Resources, Finance, Engineering, 
Information Systems, Tourism, Marketing and Economic Development. 
 
Roads 
We have continued to work on improving our roads so they can cope better with land use change and 
a period of wetter weather than normal.  Two new assets have also been added to the roading 
network – the pedestrian suspension bridge crossing the Oamaru Creek (assisted by a civil 
engineering intern) and the realigned Waterfront Road.   
 
Council’s investment to secure sustainable and affordable roading aggregates has started well with 
the pit at Robbs Crossing giving better value for money enhancing the ratepayer’s contributions on 
the network.  This has resulted in significantly more gravel being available and the last few months of 
the financial year focused on putting more gravel on unsealed roads.  In particular, the Very Rural 
Roads project of advanced metalling of such roads has progressed well and has been well received 
by those remote residents.   
 
The two rain events earlier this year had a lessor impact on our roads when compared to previous 
rain.  This is proving the value of the previous years’ Resilience Projects.  With much of the District 
already having twice last year’s rainfall to date, the roads – although in need of repair works – have 
held up well to the increase in wetness. 
 
Recreation 
A highlight was reinstating Craig Fountain in the Oamaru Public Gardens to a working state, along 
with lighting enhancements courtesy of Rotary and Network Waitaki.   
 
With increasing tourist numbers, we continued to review our services and have applied for assistance 
from central government through its Tourism Infrastructure Fund.  We are very conscious of the 
potential burden on our ratepayers in meeting increasing tourism needs and also of the environmental 
and community impact due to this changing environment.  A new toilet block was installed in Dunback 
with support from central government funding and this has been well received. 
 
The Alps to Ocean is gaining recognition nationally as one of the world’s great rides.  The Alps to 
Ocean Joint Committee would like to thank the Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment, 
Meridian, Trust Aoraki and the Friends of the Alps to Ocean for their financial support. 
 

HamNak Water Supply Upgrade 
The project to build a pipeline to connect the Hampden and Herbert water supplies to Oamaru 
continued to be a key focus of Council in 2017/18, with 34km of pipeline installed, along with two new 
pump stations.  The work will be completed in August 2018, at a cost close to $6m.   
 
South Hill Water Main Upgrades 
The first stage $2.5m of water main upgrades on the South Hill was completed and work commenced 
on the second stage of the project to make the pipe network more resilient and improve water 
pressure to residents.  When the fourth stage is complete in 2020, the programme will have cost 
approximately $6m. 
 
Harbour projects 
A number of harbour projects are underway.  Dredging has been scoped and will commence in 
2018/19 in two stages.  Initially, the channel will be dredged with a long-reach excavator, and then 
another vessel will be used to dredge further from the channel.  Holmes Wharf deck replacement has 
been scoped.  There was a considerable amount of further deterioration on the piles which has 
required the project to be re-scoped.   
 
Harbour Visitor Accommodation 
An agreement was reached to enable a luxury, boutique accommodation complex to be built at the 
corner of Tyne Street and Arun Street.  The sale of the site comprising approximately 6,200m2 follows 
Council’s call for expressions of interest from developers in August last year.  The accommodation 
complex will comprise approximately 20-24 guest sites, and will be designed to enhance the area. 
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Oamaru Courthouse 
Construction was well underway to increase the seismic strengthening on the Oamaru Courthouse.  
Once strengthened, court services will be returned to the building.  The project commenced in 
February and will be finished in September 2018. 
 

Emergency Management Civil Defence 
The team has not had to reactivate since the July 2017 flooding event, which caused approximately 
$1.5m worth of damage across Council’s assets and activities.  A new Emergency Management 
Leadership Team (ERLT) has been formed in Council and has been reviewing a number of processes 
to further improve our ability to respond in an event.  This included an exercise on 27 June 2018, 
which identified a number of further improvements for the team to consider and implement. 
 
Heritage 
On 15 December 2017, a selection of Otago's most prized cultural and historical sites were named in 
a heritage programme to recognise landmarks that have had a significant impact on the history of 
New Zealand.  The Otago Landmarks Whenua Tohunga programme is part of a wider and joint 
initiative between the Ministry for Culture and Heritage, the Department of Conservation, and Heritage 
New Zealand.  Totara Estate and Oamaru's Victorian Precinct were identified as high-quality cultural 
and historical experiences. 

 
District Planning 
There has been growth across the district with the complexity of resource consent being borne out in 
higher numbers of notified applications; especially those impacting areas of high visual and landscape 
values.   
 
The review of the District Plan has continued through work on building up the evidence base.  
However, the date for public notification has been complicated by the timing for National Planning 
Standards, associated work streams as a result of the Mackenzie Alignment Review process, and 
staff changes.   It is likely that that the Plan will be ready for notification in 2019, following public 
engagement in the latter half of 2018.   
 
Health and Safety 
Council continued to invest in health and safety assisted by a collaboration with Waitaki Health 
Services.  The SafeHold health and safety system, which was rolled out to all staff, ensures improved 
reporting, investigations, compliance and more accurate statistical analysis and trending.  We are also 
encouraging our contractors to sign-up to the pre-qualification system called SiteWise.   
 
Waitaki District Libraries 
The last year has seen the completion of the reconfiguration of Oamaru Public Library as part of the 
introduction of Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) technology.  The Community Space is one of 
the success stories of the reconfiguration and is being used for a wide range of activities. 
 
Forrester Gallery, North Otago Museum and Archive 
During this year, the team continued to support the Cultural Facility Development Project with a 
substantial focus on collection development, story and theme development, architectural and 
exhibition concept briefs, and changes to programming (delivering more offsite and online) in 
preparation for closures for building upgrades. 
 
Information Services 
In order to better support Council’s goals and objectives, the Information Services Group underwent a 
realignment.  Three teams – Services, Systems and Programme Management – were established.  
The three teams, each of which has a special focus and speciality in its designated area, now work 
together as one group to better support Council’s strategic needs.  An additional benefit of the new 
structure is that the three team leaders now provide much needed supervisory support to the teams, 
allowing the Group Manager to move from an operational to a strategic focus. 
 
Thanks to the Team 
All the results above have been possible through the efforts of a large number of people, both our 
Councillor team and Community Boards, and our staff.  It has been the input from this team that has 
delivered the results that can be seen so clearly right across our community.  We would also like to 
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give special thanks to Mr Neil Jorgensen, who ably handled the role of Council’s Acting Chief 
Executive prior Fergus commencing as our Chief Executive on 18 September 2017.   
 
We are very pleased to be part of a team that is helping grow Waitaki – the best place to live, work 
and play. 
 

 
    

pp      

Fergus Power     Gary Kircher 
Chief Executive    Mayor for Waitaki 
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Council Only - Financial Summary 
 

 
 

 

Waitaki District Rating Base 
 
This rating base information reflects the position as at the end of the preceding financial year, and 
was used as the basis on which rates for the current financial year were struck. 
 

 At 30 June 2017  

Total Rateable Properties 13,831 

Total Land Value of the District $3,813,752,400 

Total Capital Value of the District $7,284,173,900 

 

Financial Statistics

Annual

Council Only Actual Plan Actual

2018 2018 2017

Proportion of Rates to Total Income (%) 60.7% 62.5% 63.3%

Proportion of Rates to Total Expenditure (%) 61.8% 67.3% 65.4%

Total rating assessments (at the previous 1st of July) 13,831          13,827          13,773          

Average Rates per rateable property $2,178.12 $2,175.17 $2,161.66

Average Expenditure per rateable property $3,525.25 $3,234.21 $3,305.52

Net Public Debt - External (percentage of Total Assets) N/A N/A N/A

Net Public Debt - Internal (percentage of Total Assets) 2.97% 3.54% 2.95%

Net Public Debt - External (per rateable property) N/A N/A N/A

Net Public Debt - Internal (per rateable property) $1,758.82 $2,176.34 $1,646.23

Current ratio 1.45 1.87 2.84

Ratio of Current Assets to Current Liabilities

Liquid ratio 1.61 2.17 3.37

Ratio of Liquid Assets (cash & cash equivalents, trade & other receivables and other financial assets)

to Liquid Liabilities (Trade & other payables, borrowings)

Five Year Financial Summary

Council Only 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Rates revenue 30,779          30,303          30,375          30,026          29,151          

Net Operating Surplus/(Deficit) 913              1,531           1,320           2,992           3,794           

Cashflows

Operating Activities 13,034          15,316          15,486          15,757          13,536          

Investing Activities (15,301)         (13,296)         (19,841)         (10,560)         (16,997)         

Financing Activities -               -               -               (3)                 (2)                 

Net Increase/(Decrease) in cash held (2,267)          (2,020)          2,360           5,194           (3,463)          

Net Public Debt - External -               -               -               -               3                  

Net Public Debt - internal 24,326          22,673          23,943          25,075          26,738          

Total Assets 819,934        769,436        757,606        750,411        748,338        
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Council Only - Financial Disclosures 
 

Annual Report Disclosure Statement for the year ended 30 June 2018 
 
What is the purpose of this statement? 
 
This statement discloses Council’s financial performance in relation to various benchmarks to enable 
an assessment of whether Council is prudently managing its revenues, expenditure, assets, liabilities 
and general financial dealings. 
 
The inclusion of this statement in the Annual Report is a mandatory requirement imposed by the Local 
Government (Financial Reporting and Prudence) Regulation 2014 (The Regulations).  Please refer to 
the Regulations for more information, including definitions of some of the terms used. 
 

Rates Affordability Benchmark 
 
Council meets the Rates Affordability benchmarks when: 

• actual rates revenue equals or is less than each quantified limit on rates, and when; 

• annual increases in rates equal or are less than each quantified limit on rates increases. 
 

Rates Revenue Affordability 
 
These graphs compare Council’s actual rates revenue with quantified limits on rates contained in the 
financial strategy appearing in Council’s 2015-25 Long Term Plan.   
 
This quantified limit on total rates is that the average annual rate levied on a typical residential 
property in Oamaru will not exceed 10% of married national superannuation, net of tax.  This limit was 
set when adopting the 2015-25 Long Term Plan. 
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Council Only - Financial Disclosures 
 

Annual Report Disclosure Statement (continued) 
 
Rates Affordability Benchmark (continued) 
 
Rates Revenue Affordability 
 
This graph compares Council’s rates revenue with a quantified limit on rates contained in the financial 
strategy appearing in Council’s 2015-25 Long Term Plan.  The quantified limit on total rates is that 
revenue raised from Rates should fund no more than 70% of total operating expenditure.   
 

 
 

Rates Revenue Affordability 
 
This graph compares Council’s actual rates increases with a quantified limit on rates increases 
contained in the financial strategy appearing in Council’s 2015-25 Long Term Plan.   
 
The quantified limit on total rates increases is that the increase in the average annual rates levied by 
Council will not exceed the increase in the Local Government Cost Index (LGCI) for the previous year 
(to 30 June) plus 2%.  The limit was first adopted in the 2015-25 Long Term Plan. 
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Council Only - Financial Disclosures 
 

Annual Report Disclosure Statement (continued) 
 
Debt Affordability Benchmark 
 
Council meets the Debt Affordability benchmarks when actual borrowings are within each quantified 
limit on borrowing. 
 

External Debt Affordability 
 
Actual external borrowing is compared with the quantified limit on external borrowing contained in the 
financial strategy appearing in Council’s 2015-25 Long Term Plan.  Council fully repaid all remaining 
external debt at 30 June 2015; prior to that date, external debt was an insignificant burden on Council. 
Council does not consider the provision of a graph to represent its current position is warranted... 
 

Internal Debt Affordability 
 
Rather than relying on external debt, Council has a strategy of funding capital works internally, through 
the use of depreciation reserves, development contributions and internal loans.  Internal loans do not 
appear in Council’s Statement of Financial Position. 
  
The financial strategy in 2015-25 Long Term Plan set a quantified limit on internal debt, such that 
internal debt should not exceed budget.  This limit was not set prior to adoption of the 2015-25 Long 
Term Plan but, to provide meaningful comparison, results for earlier periods have been included. 
 
For the purposes of this disclosure, that benchmark is achieved when internal debt is under budget. 
 

 
 
The total of internal loans is below budget in all five years, due to several factors: 

• deferral of upgrades to meet legislated drinking water standards for some rural water schemes; 

• deferral of the project to upgrade Council’s Cultural Facilities 

• faster reduction in loan principal amounts as a result of property sales; and 

• the application of rates to limit the increase in, and ultimately clear, compounding interest loans.   
 
It may be argued that the deferral of budgeted capital projects is not a satisfactory outcome for those 
particular communities.  These projects will come to fruition once planning and consultation with those 
communities has been finalised.  
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Council Only - Financial Disclosures 
 

Annual Report Disclosure Statement (continued) 
 
Balanced Budget Benchmark 
 
This benchmark is achieved when Council’s operating revenues, excluding development and financial 
contributions, vested assets and the effects of revaluations, exceed total operating expenses. 
 
Development and Financial contributions are not available to fund operating expenditure, but to fund 
future growth and expansion of the capacity of Council’s infrastructure, while vested assets and asset 
revaluations do not involve the receipt of cash, or entitlement to receive cash, as do other forms of 
operating revenue. 
 

 
 
Operating costs include unplanned maintenance arising from the adverse weather event in July 2017. 
Negotiations continue with insurers, and Council remains confident that further reimbursement will be 
received in due course.  
 
Essential Services Benchmark 
 
Council meets this benchmark when capital expenditure on Network Services (Roads, bridges and 
footpaths, water supply systems, sewer systems and stormwater systems) equals or exceeds the 
annual Depreciation charge related to those assets.  The graph displays Council’s capital expenditure 
on Network Services as a proportion of the annual depreciation charge on those assets. 
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Council Only - Financial Disclosures 
 

Annual Report Disclosure Statement (continued) 
 
Debt Servicing Benchmark 
 
As the population of the District is expected to grow more slowly than the projected growth rate of the 
national population, Council meets this benchmark if borrowing costs equal, or are less than, 10% of 
Operating Revenue (less development and financial contributions, vested assets and the effect of 
revaluations).   
 
Debt servicing costs are interest cost only.  As Council has no external debt, this graph measures the 
cost of servicing all borrowing, including internal loans.  This is a notional cost, and is not reported 
elsewhere in this annual report, although it is a real cost of the specific service to which it relates. 
 

 
 
 
Debt Control Benchmark 
 
This benchmark reports Council’s performance in relation to net debt, defined as Financial Liabilities 
less Financial Assets (excluding Trade and Other Receivables).  Council is in a Net Asset position, as 
Financial Assets exceed Financial Liabilities, so the measure is inverted to report performance on a 
Net Asset basis.  The benchmark is met when actual Net Assets equal or exceed planned Net Assets. 
 

 
 
The exclusion of Trade and Other Receivables from the calculation of this benchmark adversely 
affects Council’s reported performance. The current financial year saw increased levels of Accounts 
Payable resulting from increased Roading and Water activity. This increase was more than matched 
by increased levels of Trade and Other Receivables, so Council is in a better financial position than 
this benchmark suggests. 
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Council Only - Financial Disclosures 
 

Annual Report Disclosure Statement (continued) 
 
Operations Control Benchmark 
 
Positive cash flow is critical for any business.  Net Cash Flow from Operations refers to the net result 
of cash generated by and used in Council’s normal day-to-day activities.  Cash flow from operations is 
dynamic and can be significantly influenced by the timing of receipts from debtors and of payments to 
suppliers and payment of staff salaries. 
 
This benchmark compares Council’s actual Net Cash Flow from Operations as a proportion of its 
planned Net Cash Flow from Operations. Council meets the Operations Control benchmark when 
actual Net Cash Flow from Operations equals or exceeds planned Net Cash Flow from Operations. 
 

 
 
Significant factors that have impacted Council’s performance against this benchmark include the 
deferral of the Cultural Facilities redevelopment project and increased maintenance costs arising from 
the adverse weather event in July 2017.    
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Outcomes, Policies, Plans and Statements 
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Community Outcomes 
 
Council’s vision is “Waitaki – the best place to live, work and play.”  The following community 
outcomes describe how we want our community to be in order to achieve our vision and what success 
will look like. 
 

 
COMMUNITY OUTCOME 

 

 
WHAT SUCCESS LOOKS LIKE 

 

ECONOMIC 
 

 

Business opportunities 
 
“We enable opportunities 
for new and existing 
businesses” 

• We plan ahead to ensure there is sufficient 
land available to meet development demands; 

• We provide key infrastructure that meets 
business and industry requirements; 

• We make Council processes easy for 
business; 

• There is a consistent and fair regulatory 
environment – barriers, costs, risks and 
uncertainties are minimised where practical; 

• We advocate in areas that maximise economic 
opportunity and benefits for the district; 

• We show leadership – partnership and 
facilitation; 

• We celebrate and promote business 
innovation and success. 

SOCIAL AND 
CULTURAL 
 

 
 
 

Affordability  
 
“We keep our district 
affordable” 
 

• We carefully balance the needs and wants of 
our community responsively (prudent);  

• We recognise the large geographical area and 
small rating base of our district; 

• We seek alternative funding sources where 
possible to complement the provision and 
delivery of our services.   

Access to services and 
facilities 
 
“We provide and enable 
services and facilities so 
people want to stay and 
move here” 
 

• There is a higher proportion of the resident 
population under 50 years old; 

• We manage public infrastructure to ensure it is 
sustainable, and to a standard to meet the 
present and future needs of our residents and 
visitors; 

• We promote quality urban design in our 
district’s communities; 

• We have attractive and liveable townships and 
communities; 

• We value our culture, arts and heritage; 

• Our public places and civic facilities are 
accessible, welcoming and vibrant; 

• Our visitor facilities and attractions are 
welcoming, attractive and meet the demand of 
a growing tourism base; 

• There are increasing visitor numbers; 

• We celebrate and tell our unique stories. 

Diverse community 
 
“We understand the 
diverse needs of our 
community” 
 

• We have a range and choice of housing 
options; 

• There are strong community connections and 
participation rates; 

• We understand the needs of our communities 
– changing age structure and a multicultural 
society; 
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COMMUNITY OUTCOME 

 

 
WHAT SUCCESS LOOKS LIKE 

 

• There are increased joint projects and 
initiatives with partners and organisations. 

Safe community 
 
“We maintain the safest 
community we can” 
 

• We manage Council infrastructure and 
community facilities to ensure the safety of 
ratepayers and visitors; 

• Individuals and families feel safe; 

• We are responsive and prepared for natural 
hazard events; 

• We are responsive to climate change 
implications on the district’s public 
infrastructure; 

• We are aware of and responsive to central and 
regional government obligations.   

ENVIRONMENTAL 
 

 

Environmental protection 
and value 
 
“Waitaki’s distinctive 
environment is valued 
and protected” 
 

• Our community respects our natural resources 
and how they interact with these (e.g.  water, 
waste, energy, climate change, natural 
hazards); 

• We are aware of and responsive to central and 
regional government obligations; 

• Our District Plan provisions ensure the 
sustainable management of our land use, and 
subdivision of land; 

• Significant areas, features and landscapes are 
recognised and protected through the District 
Plan; 

• Land area with native vegetation under 
protection and those with significant native 
plants and animals is not declining. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report  
  

To the readers of Waitaki District Council’s annual report 

for the year ended 30 June 2018  
  

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Waitaki District Council (the District Council) and its 
subsidiaries and controlled entities (the Group). The Auditor-General has appointed me, Dereck 
Ollsson, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to report on the information in the 
District Council’s annual report that we are required to audit under the Local Government Act 2002 
(the Act). We refer to this information as “the audited information” in our report.  
 
We are also required to report on:  

• whether the District Council has complied with the requirements of Schedule 10 of the Act 

that apply to the annual report; and  

• the completeness and accuracy of the District Council’s disclosures about its performance 

against benchmarks that are required by the Local Government (Financial Reporting and 

Prudence) Regulations 2014.  

We refer to this information as “the disclosure requirements” in our report.  
 
We completed our work on 30 October 2018. This is the date on which we give our report.   

Opinion on the audited information 

In our opinion:   

• the financial statements on pages 88 to 145:  

o present fairly, in all material respects:  
• the District Council and Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2018;  

• the results of the operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date; and  

 

o comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance with 
Public Benefit Entity Reporting Standards; and  

• the funding impact statement on page 140, presents fairly, in all material respects, the 

amount of funds produced from each source of funding and how the funds were applied as 

compared to the information included in the District Council’s annual plan;  

• the statement of service provision on pages 31 to 87:  
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o presents fairly, in all material respects, the levels of service for each group of activities for 
the year ended 30 June 2018, including:  

• the levels of service achieved compared with the intended levels of service and 

whether any intended changes to levels of service were achieved;  

• the reasons for any significant variation between the levels of service achieved 

and the intended levels of service; and  

o complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and  

• the statement about capital expenditure for each group of activities on pages 31 to 87, 

presents fairly, in all material respects, actual capital expenditure as compared to the 

budgeted capital expenditure included in the District Council’s annual plan; and  

• the funding impact statement for each group of activities on pages 31 to 87, presents fairly, 

in all material respects, the amount of funds produced from each source of funding and 

how the funds were applied as compared to the information included in the District 

Council’s Long-term plan.  

Report on the disclosure requirements 

We report that the District Council has:  

• complied with the requirements of Schedule 10 of the Act that apply to the annual report; 

and  

• made the disclosures about performance against benchmarks as required by the Local 

Government (Financial Reporting and Prudence) Regulations 2014 on pages 9 to 14, which 

represent a complete list of required disclosures and accurately reflects the information 

drawn from the District Council and the Group’s audited information and, where 

applicable, the District Council’s Long-term plan and annual plans.  

Basis for our opinion on the audited information 
 
We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the Professional and Ethical Standards and the International Standards on Auditing (New 
Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. We describe our 
responsibilities under those standards further in the “Responsibilities of the auditor for the audited 
information” section of this report.   
 
We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion on the audited information.  
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Responsibilities of the auditor for the audited information 
 
The District Council is responsible for meeting all legal requirements that apply to its annual report.  
 

The District Council’s responsibilities arise under the Local Government Act 2002 and the Local 
Government (Financial Reporting and Prudence) Regulations 2014.  
 
The District Council is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable it 
to prepare the information we audit that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.   
 
In preparing the information we audit the District Council is responsible for assessing its ability to 
continue as a going concern. The District Council is also responsible for disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting, unless there is an 
intention to amalgamate or cease all of the functions of the District Council and the Group or there is 
no realistic alterntive but to do so. 

Responsibilities of the auditor for the audited information 
 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the audited information, as a 
whole, is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an audit 
report that includes our opinion.   
 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit carried out in 
accordance with the Auditor General’s Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts or disclosures, 
and can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of readers taken on the 
basis of this audited information.  
 
For the budget information reported in the audited information, our procedures were limited to 
checking that the budget information agreed to the District Council’s annual plan.   
 
We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited 
information.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also:   

• We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the audited information, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 

risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 

than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  
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• We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District Council and Group’s internal 

control.  

• We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the District Council.  

• We determine the appropriateness of the reported intended levels of service in the group 

of activities, as a reasonable basis for assessing the levels of service achieved and reported 

by the District Council.  

• We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by 

the District Council and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 

uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast a significant doubt on the 

District Council and the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 

a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our audit report to the 

related disclosures in the audited information or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 

modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 

date of our audit report. However, future events or conditions may cause the District 

Council and the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the audited information, 

including the disclosures, and whether the audited information represents, where 

applicable, the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation.   

• We obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the entities or business activities 

within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated audited information.  

We communicate with the District Council regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.    

Other information 
 
The District Council is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other 
information comprises the information included on pages 1 to 8, 15 to 30, and 147 to 149, but does 
not include the audited information and the disclosure requirements.   
 
Our opinion on the audited information and our report on the disclosure requirements do not cover 
the other information.   
 
Our responsibility is to read the other information. In doing so, we consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the audited information and the disclosure requirements, 
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or our knowledge obtained during our work, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on our work, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Independence 
 

We are independent of the District Council and the Group in accordance with the independence 
requirements of the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the independence 
requirements of Professional and Ethical Standard 1 (Revised): Code of Ethics for Assurance 
Practitioners issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.   
 
In addition to our audit of the audited information and our report on the disclosure requirements, 
we have audited the District Council’s 2018-28 Long-term plan which is compatible with those 
independence requirements. Other than these engagements, we have no relationship with, or 
interests in, the District Council or its subsidiaries and controlled entities.  

 

  

Dereck Ollsson  
Audit New Zealand  
On behalf of the Auditor-General  
Dunedin, New Zealand  
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Statement of Compliance and Responsibility 
 
Compliance 
 

• Council and management confirm that all statutory requirements of the Local Government Act 
2002 regarding financial management and borrowing have been complied with. 

 
Responsibility 
 

• Council and management accept responsibility for the preparation of the financial statements, and 
for judgements exercised in preparing these; 

• Council and management accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining a system of 
internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of 
financial reporting; and 

• In the opinion of Council and management, the Annual Report and the financial statements 
contained therein for the year ended 30 June 2018 fairly reflect the financial position and 
operations of the Waitaki District Council and Group. 

pp         

Fergus Power       Gary Kircher 
Chief Executive      Mayor of Waitaki 
 
30 October 2018      30 October 2018 
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The Year in Review 
 
Roading 

• Successfully completed the 2017/18 programme of the National Land Transport Plan for the 
Waitaki District. 

• Consulted with community over levels of investment in roading that resulted in a positive 
outcome of needing more investment to address increasing demands.  This was incorporated 
into the RLTP submission. 

• Adopted changes to RLTP 18-21 to meet Government Policy Statement on Land Transport. 

• The business case for Council’s submission to the Regional Land Transport Plan 2018 – 2021 
was completed and Year 1 endorsed by NZTA with minor amendments. 

• Moved towards gaining sustainability of aggregate supplies by managing Robbs Crossing pit for 
the roading purposes only. 

• Developed a preliminary business case for the proposed replacement of Kakanui Point Bridge 
that was endorsed by NZTA. 

• Council completed the Rural Resilience Project in 2016/17 which was again tested a couple of 
times earlier this year.  While we had a number of roads closed and under caution, roads were 
opened a lot more quickly than in past events with far less damage to the road network. 

• A procedural audit by NZTA was carried out and completed on the roading administration 
practices with a very successful outcome. 

• Major LED street lighting upgrade of the network commenced in 2016/17 including a 
collaboration with NZTA for State Highways.  Council is leading the way for the lower South 
Island in terms of collaboration for the supply of 12,500 LED lighting units and assisting 
neighbouring councils.  We expect the whole of Waitaki district to be upgraded to LED by 
December 2018.   

• A full programme of renewals completed, including resurfacing of roads, road renewals and 
footpath resurfacing with small amounts of funding for unsealed metalling and bridges to be 
carried over. 

• Full programme of minor improvements completed, including safety and rural resilience 
measures. 

• Successful construction of Waterfront Road realignment project to improve safety at the 
Tyne/Arun Street intersection and improved accessibility for future localised development was 
completed. 

• Road maintenance included edge break, drain channel clearance, low shoulder filling and 
stabilised road repairs. 

• A pedestrian suspension bridge crossing the Oamaru Creek was completed.  This will form part 
of the Cycleway and walkway between the Harbour and North Oamaru.  Further landscaping to 
be completed. 

• Continued with the installation of pedestrian drop crossings for improved access in conjunction 
with the kerb and channel renewal programme. 

• Full programme of seal widening completed on various roads. 

• Moeraki community, with NZTA and Council, engaged with the upgrading of the Moeraki Village 
and Boulders intersections.  New signs are being erected and some physical works yet to be 
completed. 

• Haven Street remains under watch and is repaired frequently to retain direct access to the 
village. 

• Road Safety programmes successfully completed for the year. 

• Roading responded to 94% of CRMs within timeframes, 4% above the benchmark, of which 89% 
were successfully resolved. 

• Business case successfully completed for a submission to the 2018-21 Regional Land Transport 
Plan at the end of August 2017 which included a period of consultation with stakeholders and the 
public to give direction and feedback on the size of the programme. 

• Roading met with a number of stakeholder groups to better understand their needs within the 
roading network, e.g.  Automobile Association, New Zealand Transport Agency and Forestry. 
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The Year in Review 
 
Water Services and Waste 
Protected the public health of Waitaki communities by continuing to: 

• Source, treat, store and distribute drinking water to more than 20,000 residents across 17 water 
supplies 

• Collect, treat and dispose of wastewater from more than 14,000 residents across eight networks 

• Collect and dispose of stormwater across seven community areas 

• Ensure the provision of accessible waste management and minimisation services and facilities 

Of note during the past 12 months: 

• Significant progress was made towards completing the new water supply pipeline from Oamaru 
to Herbert, Waianakarua, Hampden and Moeraki.  This $6.7m project will supply NZ Drinking 
Water Standard compliant water from the Oamaru Water Treatment Plant to more than a 
thousand consumers in these areas. 

• Stage 1 of the project to upgrade the South Hill water mains was completed.  This project was 
designed to ensure ongoing supply resilience and capacity, and will support the addition of 
Herbert, Waianakarua, Hampden and Moeraki to the supply.  The project also included 
development of a new pump station at the South Hill reservoir to improve the water pressure for 
households in the area known as the South Hill microzone. 

• Capacity studies for both water supply and wastewater were commenced to consider future 
demand in the Oamaru area and the effect this may have on the capacity of the current 
networks.  The studies are utilising a range of Council data along with information provided from 
various stakeholders and will provide a sound basis for asset management and development into 
the future and ensure we can provide the services needed for community wellbeing and 
economic sustainability. 

• Council’s Waste Management and Minimisation Plan 2018-24 was developed, publicly consulted 
on and adopted.  The plan is required under the Waste Minimisation Act 2008 and provides the 
strategic framework for Council’s role in waste management and minimisation.  It also includes 
an action plan and budgets for the next six years to 2024. 

• An aftercare plan for Oamaru Landfill to meet Otago Regional Council’s closed landfill resource 
consent conditions was completed. 
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The Year in Review 
 
Recreation 
We provided coaching services to the Oamaru Swim Club who continue to punch well above their 
weight this year winning the award for the top performing swim club in the Mako Zone (South Island) 
at the New Zealand Junior Swim Meet.  Note: this is on a win basis and not on swim club size, so was 
a significant achievement.  In recognition of this Narcis Gherca picked up coach of the year at the 
North Otago Sports Awards for the third year in a row. 
 

Provided a venue for two Otago swim meets, various community fun days (such as the Lions Special 
Needs Pool Party), multiple School Swim sports and the South Island Secondary Schools Canoe Polo 
Championships (for the third time).  The Canoe Polo Championships are estimated to have brought 
3,500 people to Oamaru for the weekend.   
 
Flooding in July resulted in reprioritising the work programme for the year and put pressure on staff 
and contractors.  Following a lull from November to January, rain continued in from February on.  In 
total, we received 950mm of rain for the year compared to a historic average of 565mm.  This amount 
of rain made maintenance difficult as resourcing is planned for a typical year and wet ground 
conditions mean that we are unable to access for maintenance without causing damage.  Despite 
these difficulties, maintenance was completed to a satisfactory level and a number of unsolicited 
compliments were received from members of the community and visitors on the condition of our 
reserves and particularly the Oamaru Public Gardens which many tourists rate highly. 
 
A number of community groups and projects were supported by Council including;  

• A reinvigorated BMX club who have made great progress with construction of a new BMX track 

• The North Otago Mountain Bike Club who continue to develop and maintain a network of tracks 
for the community 

• A local Dog Obedience Group who have developed an agility area on Cape Wanbrow 

• Forest and Bird who continue to revegetate Cape Wanbrow and Fenwick Park 

• School groups and other members of the community with plantings in Glen Eden 

• The Kurow Island group and Otematata wetlands group who continue to develop their networks 
of trails and carry out beautification work 

• Other members of our community with progress being made on the ‘Lost Graves Memorial’ sign 
and in refurbishing the children’s area of the Oamaru Cemetery. 

 
A highlight was reinstating Craig Fountain in the Oamaru Public Gardens to a working state along with 
lighting enhancements courtesy of Rotary and Network Waitaki.   
 
The direction sign at the Oamaru lookout was refurbished with a ‘steampunk’ and world heritage 
focus. 
 
Historic informal dumpsites identified along Awamoa Beach were cleaned up and we are working with 
ORC to determine how these need to be managed. 
 

We completed drainage improvements to Mill Domain.  This has improved the situation, but ongoing 
turf improvement work such as liming and vibramoling will be required to progressively improve the 
predominantly clay based soil structure. 
 
A new toilet block was installed in Dunback with support from central government funding and this has 
received favourable comments. 
 
We continue to progress construction of the Alps to Ocean cycle trail with a section completed this 
year to avoid the Kurow Bluffs and consents obtained for the section from Sailors Cutting to Benmore 
Dam.  The Alps to Ocean is gaining recognition as one of the world’s great rides. 
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The Year in Review 
 
Community Development and Safety 
Community Participation in the Safer Waitaki Coalition, coordinated by our community development 
coordinator has grown substantively since its inception.  The number of organisations on the 
database has grown from the original 17 to 127 with numerous projects, activities and events taking 
place across six working groups: Mental Health and Addictions, Family Whānau, Violence Prevention, 
Industry Link, Positive Aging and Alcohol and Drug. 
For Families 

• SKIP (strategies for kids information for parents) has undertaken a number of activities including 
a Positive Parenting initiative in a local supermarket.   

• MumSpace, a parent led mums group, was the launchpad for the new initiative of MAKE-
AWAYS.  MAKE-AWAYS was a collaboration between SKIP, the Waitaki Community Gardens 
and Elim Church designed to teach basic cooking skills and support families to provide cost 
effective, nutritious meals to families working within a tight budget.   

• The Clued Up Kids event was attended by 264 students from 15 primary schools across the 
district in August.  This is an interactive programme designed for Year 6 students.  Learning 
objectives are to become more aware of personal safety, learn how to react in dangerous 
situations and know what role the emergency services play. 

• Clued Up Families - Held on Saturday March 10, showcasing what is available in the community 
for under 5s.  There were stalls from 43 different services and agencies and approximately 500 
people attended. 

Health & Safety 
Safer Waitaki Employers Group - Industry Link delivered a number of training opportunities during the 
year including Cultural Integration, Celebrating Success, Traffic Management, Legislative 
responsibilities for Contractor Management and Contractor Management.   
Violence Prevention 
A Men’s Hui was successfully held at Uenuku Marae at Moeraki in March.  This was primarily for Men 
who have been victims and/or perpetrators of violence.  27 men attended the event and an Oamaru 
Men’s Peer Support group was established as a result. 
Road Safety 

• Waitaki Roadsafe held two Fatigue Stops in October 2017 and June 2018.  400 vehicles were 
stopped, drivers were given goodie bags containing water, sweets and road safety messages.  
All travellers were offered a free sausage sizzle and hot drink to combat fatigue.  Feedback was 
excellent with tourists and kiwi travellers alike surprised and impressed with the initiative which is 
designed to combat fatigue on long journeys 

• Cycle Skills Day a Waitaki Roadsafe event, was held in February with 9 volunteers and 55 
children and their families attending, an increase on the previous year.  This is a free event 
allowing children aged 4-12 years to practice a variety of cycling skills in a safe environment.  
The event promotes safe cycling for the younger more vulnerable road users and was funded by 
Network Waitaki.   

Other  

• Game On (minimisation of alcohol harm) programme was successfully delivered to three rugby 
and netball clubs.  Local presenters covered topics of nutrition, mental game, injury prevention, 
club culture and pride.  The programme was funded by the Health Promotion Agency. 

• Methcon presentations in July.  The main focus of the presentations was the direct and indirect 
effects of illicit drugs, specifically Methamphetamine.  They were confronting, with a goal of 
“harm elimination”, focusing on the health effects rather than legal implications.   
Five presentations were held across schools, services, employers and community with 513 
attendees.  The presentation was funded by ACC, the Otago Community Trust and sponsorship 
from the Brydone Hotel.   

• Mental Health National Inquiry in May.  Community Development Coordinator facilitated this at a 
local level.  Seven groups presented key themes across a range of mental health services 
issues.  The panel acknowledged the positive level of collaboration in the Waitaki Community.   
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The Year in Review 
 
Forrester Gallery and North Otago Museum and Archive 

• Continued to support the Cultural Facility Development Project with substantial focus on collection 
development, story and theme development, architectural and exhibition concept briefs and 
changes to programming (delivering more offsite and online) in preparation for closures for 
building upgrades. 

• Increased our community visibility through the support of community events - Steampunk Festival, 
Waitaki Arts Festival and Heritage Week. 

• Delivered 26 exhibitions and displays (19 at the Gallery, 2 at the Museum, 2 at the Library and 3 
at the Oamaru Opera House), 15 events and talks and 14 blogs on our Culture Waitaki website. 

• Delivered our wonderlab education programme, the annual Burns Memorial School Art Exhibition, 
and outreach visits to schools. 

• Carried out research and audits of our collections including a review of objects at the Museum 
related to local agricultural history, and rehousing of the dress and costume collection; continuing 
the ongoing review of the photographic collection at the Archive readying it for online access in 
2019 and the creation of a forward collecting plan for the Gallery. 
 

Waitaki District Libraries 

• Completed the reconfiguration of Oamaru Public Library as part of the introduction of Radio 
Frequency Identification (RFID) technology.  This is in line with the international practice of more 
customer-driven library services, but working within a 40-year-old building footprint.  This has 
resulted in increased foot traffic.  The Community Space is one of the success stories of the 
reconfiguration and is being used for community activities and lifelong learning as well as being 
used for meetings, interviews, events, eGovernment sessions, Census support, quiet study or 
reading, to name a few.   

• Worked collaboratively with government and community agencies in particular Literacy North 
Otago, ARA and WorkBridge, to address the challenges of access to technology and upskilling 
some ratepayers to engage with e-Government sites as part of Council's commitment to Lifelong 
Literacy in the community.   

• We have also further developed our own Digital Literacy modules to train staff and the public.  
The Library is also supporting a SparkJump initiative that provides cheap internet to families with 
school aged children.   

• Staff have been invited to share our successes with community outreach and future proofing our 
library services with the reconfiguration, on several national and regional platforms, such as 
SOLGM NZ (Society for Local Government Managers) and LIANZA (Library and Information 
Association of NZ). 
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The Year in Review 
 
Community Amenities, Oamaru Harbour and Historic Precinct 

• New Zealand Airline Academy commenced operations at the Oamaru Airport.  An initial intake of 
approximately 20 trainee pilots is anticipated for 2018/19 who will complete about 4,000 flights in 
the first 10-12 month period.  It is expected that the Academy will employ 10 staff locally, and will 
have 30-50 commercial pilot trainees within a 2-3 year period. 

• The Oamaru Courthouse strengthening project commenced in January and will be completed in 
September 2018, enabling court services to return to a building that is fit for purpose. 

• An agreement was reached to enable a luxury, boutique accommodation complex to be built at 
the corner of Tyne Street and Arun Street.  The sale for the site, comprising approximately 
6,200m2, follows Council’s call for expressions of interest from developers in August last year.  
The accommodation complex will comprise approximately 20-24 guest sites and be designed to 
enhance the area. 

• Part of the Council headquarters basement was extensively flood damaged in the July flooding.  It 
was a complicated project to repair as it involved moving thousands of records, this was repaired 
by December. 

• A number of Harbour area projects commenced for example, dredging and Holmes Wharf deck 
replacement is being planned, the Betsy Mast and Signalman’s Hut was moved for navigational 
safety reasons, etc. 

• Staff office accommodation was well below NZ guidelines for office space and this was affecting 
productivity.  A project to relocate 80 staff was completed throughout the main headquarters 
building.  This also involved leasing additional external premises for 17 staff.   

• 24 Thames Street was purchased as a commercial investment property with the long term 
strategic view of potentially using it for additional office accommodation. 

• Six Community Housing units were renovated, two were partially renovated. 
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The Year in Review 
 
Democracy and Accountability  

• 2016/17 Annual Report adopted 25 October 2017 

• 2018 – 28 Long Term Plan adopted 26 June 2018 

• Waste Management and Minimisation Plan 2018-24 adopted 26 June 2018 

• 2018 Development and Financial Contributions Policy adopted 29 May 2018 

• Revenue and Financing Policy adopted 26 June 2018 

• General Bylaw adopted 8 May 2018 

• District Plan review progressing. 
 
 
Environment, Regulation and Safety 
Building Services 
There is a high level of growth in the Waitaki district that is very positive and can also be challenging 
to manage.  New home consents have increased 50% from the previous financial year and 
commercial activity is also high in comparison.  Across the country it is difficult to recruit experienced 
Building Control Officers and that has resulted in the use of external contractors to assist us in 
meeting statutory timeframes. 

 
There has also been a noted increase in reported non complying buildings.  Our staff do what we can 
to assist home owners in these circumstances but often options are limited.  It is our intent to develop 
information material to help the public understand the value of consents and when they are required. 

 
Overall our staff have responded extremely well and continue to focus on delivering a timely and 
consistent experience to the industry and public. 
 
Environmental Services  
A new team structure was implemented in February 2018, with the introduction of an Environmental 
Services Manager.  This team continues to demonstrate a high level of commitment to meeting 
timeframes and ensuring Food and Alcohol premises are of a high standard, that water monitoring 
standards are adhered to and other compliance matters investigated.  Our Parking Officer continues 
to promote the District.   
 

District Planning 
A new Planning Manager started in September 2017.  Since that time there have been a number of 
new appointments.   

 
There has been growth across the district with the complexity of resource consents being borne out in 
higher numbers of notified applications; especially those impacting areas of high visual and landscape 
values.   

 
Council is pleased about the strong interest in our Waitaki Biodiversity Fund and to be providing 
support in ecological restoration projects.    

 
The review of the District Plan has continued through work on building up the evidence base.  
However the date for public notification has been complicated by the timing for National Planning 
Standards, associated work streams connected with the Mackenzie Alignment Review process and 
staff changes.  It is likely that that the Plan will be ready for notification in 2019, following public 
engagement in the latter half of 2018.   
 

 

  



 

Waitaki District Council Annual Report 31 

Groups of Activities 
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Roads and Footpaths 
 
What we did 

• We maintained 1,799km of roads, or 3,242 lane kilometres this year; 5km of cycleways and 179 
bridges. 

• Footpath renewals: 5.7km. 

• Unsealed roads metalling: 285km, or 23,630m3 applied. 

• Sealed roads resurfacing: 94km, or 685,000m2. 

• Culvert renewals of 400m in length. 

• Kerb and channel renewals of 485m. 

• Drainage renewals of 2.3km. 

• Rehabilitated sealed roads by 5.9km, or 20,000m2. 

• The table below shows expenditure from the Maintenance and Operations Report to NZTA for 
2017/18. 

 

Work category No. Works completed 
Actual  
expenditure ($) 
2017/18 

111 Routine pavement repairs ($)  1,233,878  

 Pre-reseal repairs ($)  198,569  

112 Grading unsealed roads ($)  197,198  

 Other unsealed pavement maintenance ($)  287,849  

113 Street cleaning ($)  58,349  

 Drainage maintenance ($)  426,698  

114 Bridge maintenance ($)  261,699  

 Retaining wall maintenance ($)  11,060  

121 Vegetation control ($)  113,206  

 Winter maintenance activities ($)  20,690  

 Litter, debris and graffiti control ($)  21,600  

 Other environmental maintenance ($)  122,867  

122 Traffic services power supply ($)  191,004  

 Road markings ($)  122,130 

 Signs and other traffic services ($)  108,106  

124 Cycleway operations and maintenance ($)  10,594 

151 Network management (incl inspections) ($)  1,391,543  
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Renewals 
 

Work category No. Works completed 
Actual  
expenditure ($) 
2016/17 

211 Unsealed road rehabilitation ($) 770,085 

212 Chip seals resurfacing ($)  1,664,330  

213 Culvert renewals ($)  115,306  

 Kerb and channel renewals ($)  72,175  

 Other drainage renewals ($)  312,554  

214 Urban sealed road pavement rehabilitation ($)  140,661  

 Rural sealed road pavement rehabilitation ($)  1,067,793  

215 Other structure component replacements ($)  205,900  

222 Traffic signs renewals ($)  73,987  

 Traffic monitoring and lighting renewals ($)  76,210  

 
 

 

Road Safety 
 

Alcohol 

• Continuation of Christmas period promotion of courtesy vehicles in the district.  Encouraging 
people to ‘plan their journey’. 

• ‘Waitaki Living Legend’ campaign was developed and had a focus on motorists in rural parts of 
the district.  The campaign included posters and newspaper advertising promoting sober driving.   

Young Drivers 

• 2018 saw the final ‘Drive 2 Survive’ expo for Year 12 students.  This has been a successful event 
that has been run for several years, though the decision has been made to replace this format 
with something original.   

• A 48 Hour Film Project was held in conjunction with SADD.  There were 8 entries which 
generated plenty of exposure in WBHS, WGHS and across Facebook.   

Older Drivers 

• Three types of courses were offered; a theory refresher course, introduction to mobility scooters 
and a practical driver assessment.  These courses are consistently well-attended and 
appreciated by older residents. 

• Newspaper advertising undertaken to promote responsible mobility scooter use in town. 
Fatigue 

• Volunteer group ‘Waitaki Road Safe’ set up Fatigue Stops at the beginning of public holiday 
weekends.  100-200 vehicles were stopped and given resource bags with water, lollies, road 
safety literature and other giveaways for families.  BBQ food and hot drinks were available.  
Volunteers discussed the journey with motorists raising awareness of the dangers of driving 
while fatigued. 

Safe Speeds 

• Newspaper and radio advertising took place throughout the year and covered various relevant 
topics which aligned with the NZTA advertising calendar and priority seasonal risks addressed by 
Police. 

2,000 ice scrapers were delivered to petrol stations, Police, AA and i-Site, for distribution at the 
beginning of winter. 
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Roads and Footpaths 
 

Community outcomes 
 

Community outcomes How the activity contributes to the outcome 

We enable opportunities for new and 
existing businesses 

By providing roads and footpaths that are safe, 
effective, efficient, accessible and fit for purpose for 
people and goods 

We provide and enable services and facilities 
so people want to stay and move here 

By providing roads and footpaths that are safe, 
effective, efficient, accessible and fit for purpose for 
people and goods 

We maintain the safest community we can By providing transport networks and services 
that are safe 

We keep our district affordable By ensuring roading activities are managed efficiently 
and effectively 

 

How we performed – Roads and Footpaths 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 

LTP 2017/18 – 2024/25 

The change from the 
previous financial year in 
the number of fatalities and 
serious injury crashes on 
local road network (not state 
highways), expressed as a 
number 

Achieved  
2018 – 8 fatal or serious injury 
crashes  
2017: 9 fatal or serious injury crashes 
therefore a reduction in number of 
crashes by one 
[Data from Crash Analysis System 
(CAS)] 

Reduce the number of 
serious injuries and 
fatalities when compared to 
the previous year 

Percentage of residents who 
are satisfied or very 
satisfied with the sealed 
roading network 

Not achieved: 
Residents’ Survey: 
2017/18 – 35% of residents satisfied 
with the sealed roading network 
2016/17 – 47% of residents satisfied 
with the sealed roading network 

Increase in percentage of 
residents who are satisfied 
or very satisfied with the 
sealed roading network: 

• 2015/16 – 50% 

• 2016/17 – 60% 

• 2017/18 – 70% 

Percentage of residents who 
are satisfied or very 
satisfied with the unsealed 
roading network 

Not achieved: 
Residents’ Survey 
2017/18 – 29% of residents satisfied 
with the unsealed roading network 
2016/17 – 27% of residents satisfied 
with the unsealed roading network 

Increase in percentage of 
residents who are satisfied 
or very satisfied with the 
unsealed roading network: 

• 2015/16 – 50% 

• 2016/17 – 60% 

• 2017/18 – 70% 
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Roads and Footpaths 
 
 

How we performed – Roads and Footpaths 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 

LTP 2017/18 – 2024/25 

The average quality of ride on 
sealed roads, measured by 
smoothness (smooth travel 
exposure) 

Achieved: 
2017/18 – 87%  
2016/17 - 90% 
Note these refer to DIA 
STE (Smooth Travel 
Exposure) targets which 
are the relevant targets 
specified by NZTA1 

Target to be set once One 
Network Road Classification 
(ONRC) benchmark established, 
in the interim 2015-18 maintained 
at 96 or less 

The percentage of the sealed 
local road network that is 
resealed 

Not achieved:  
6.4% local roads resealed 
in 2017/18  
55.5km - 7.1% local roads 
resealed in 2016/17 

Reseal 7% each year of sealed 
network 

The percentage of footpaths 
within the district that fall 
within the specified level of 
service 

Not achieved: 
95.6% meet specified level 
of service 2017/18 
97.8% meet specified level 
of service 2016/17 

Footpath condition (percentage 
compliant with standards) = 96% 

The percentage of public 
enquiries responded to within 
agreed timeframes 

Achieved: 
92% of public enquiries 
responded to within agreed 
timeframes 2017/18  
94% of public enquiries 
responded to within agreed 
timeframes 2016/17 

90% of public enquiries 
responded to within agreed 
timeframes 

 
 

                                                   
1 Data is collected every two years.  2017 data is from the data measured in 2016.  (Note: smaller councils with a 
large roading network are unlikely to have significant changes). 
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Funding Impact Statement – Roads and Footpaths 

Roads & Footpaths Commentary on Major Changes

2016/17 2016/17 1 2017/18 2017/18

Actual Budget Actual Budget Commentary on Major Changes

$000 $000 $000 $000

 Sources of Operating Funding 

129 244  General Rates, Uniform Annual General Charge, Rates Penalties 66 56

6,465 6,433  Targeted Rates 6,693 6,663

6,594 6,677  Rates Revenue 6,759 6,719

1,021 2,830  Subsidies and Grants for Operating Purposes 4,627 2,898

242 239  Fees and Charges 238 284

 -  -  Interest and Dividends from Investments  -  - 

20 25  Internal Charges and Overheads Recovered 21 20

310 494  Local Authorities' Fuel Tax, Fines, Infringement Fees and Other Receipts 549 409

1,593 3,588  Operating Revenue 5,435 3,611

8,187 10,265  Total Sources of Operating Funding 12,194 10,330

 Applications of Operating Funding 

4,656 5,194  Payments to Staff and Suppliers 7,134 5,261

 -  -  Finance Costs  -  - 

1,473 1,606  Internal Charges and Overheads Applied 1,435 1,811

 -  -  Other Operating Funding Applications  -  - 

6,129 6,800  Total Applications of Operating Funding 8,569 7,072

2,058 3,465  Surplus / (Deficit) of Operating Funding 3,625 3,258

 Sources of Capital funding 

5,027 3,831  Subsidies and Grants for Capital Expenditure 3,213 4,026

232 100  Development and Financial Contributions 319 200

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Debt  -  - 

 -  -  Gross Proceeds from Sale of Assets 87  - 

5,259 3,931  Total Sources of Capital Funding 3,619 4,226

 Applications of Capital funding 

Capital Expenditure

 -  -  Meet Additional Demand  -  - 

1,373 1,561  Improve Levels of Service 1,594 2,233

5,073 5,655  Replace Existing Assets 6,110 6,233

871 180  Increase / (Decrease) in Reserve (460) (982)

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Investments  -  - 

7,317 7,396  Total Applications for Capital Funding 7,244 7,484

(2,058) (3,465)  Surplus / (Deficit) of Capital Funding (3,625) (3,258)

 -  -  Funding Balance  -  - 

Levels of service are consistent with those in the 

Annual Plan. The level of NZ Transport Agency 

subsidy reduced by 1% to 56% from 1 July 2017 - 

a move that was factored into the Annual Plan. 

The adverse weather event in July 2017 resulted 

in additional unbudgeted maintenance works and 

increased subsidy. NZTA also reimbursed 

Council fully for state highway lighting upgrades. 
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Water Services and Waste 
 
The Water Services and Waste group of activities include: 

• Waste Management and Minimisation 

• Stormwater Drainage 

• Water Supplies 

• Sewage Treatment and Disposal 
 
What we did 
 
Waste Management and Minimisation 
Setting the strategic direction: 

The main focus for this activity has been the development of Council’s Waste Management and 

Minimisation Plan 2018-24, which is required under the Waste Minimisation Act 2008 and provides 

the strategic framework for Council’s role in waste management and minimisation.  It also includes an 

action plan and budgets for the next six years to 2024.   

 

Following the completion of a full waste assessment in 2017, the draft plan was developed and 

publicly consulted on in March and April 2018.  In addition to confirming Council’s current user-pays 

approach to waste management and including increases to waste disposal fees at the Council-owned 

rural recovery parks and Palmerston Landfill, the plan places more emphasis on waste minimisation 

education and initiatives and includes additional funding to support these.  A budget was also 

included to survey the community about kerbside services in 2018-19.  The final plan was adopted on 

26 June 2018. 

 

Managing the activity in accordance with consent conditions and enforcement of the relevant 

legislation to mitigate adverse environmental effects: 

This has been a significant part of Council’s waste management activities over the past year and 

included: 

• Monitoring and assessing the newly capped Oamaru Closed Landfill 

• Developing an aftercare plan for the Oamaru Closed Landfill to meet ORC’s aftercare consents 

and investigating cap requirements for potential future site use 

• Designing a new tip face at the Palmerston Landfill and implementing other site improvements 

 

An emerging issue was the escalating subsidence of the Hampden Closed Landfill following ex-

Cyclone Gita in February.  Council commenced investigations into long term options for addressing 

this, in consultation with the Otago Regional Council and a geotechnical engineer, and has included 

funding for this in the Long Term Plan. 

 

Providing access to affordable, reliable, accessible and efficient waste disposal systems and 

facilities: 

Meeting the waste management needs of small, remote communities in a cost-effective way 

continued to be a challenge.  Last year, Council worked with the Lake Ohau community and private 

contractors to develop an affordable kerbside collection service to replace the town’s waste skips.  

The new service commenced in December 2017. 

 

Council also continued to work with the Waitaki Resource Recovery Trust and Waste Management 

Limited, in accordance with our Memorandum of Understanding, to ensure the community has access 

to good quality waste management and minimisation facilities. 
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Water Services and Waste  
 

Encouraging minimisation, reuse and recycling of waste: 

Council continued to provide annual financial support of $270,000 to the Waitaki Resource Recovery 

Trust to support them in running the Chelmer Street recovery park and continued to assist them with 

their site redevelopment.  We also provided a $24,000 grant to Waihemo Wastebusters. 

 

Township recycling bins continued to be provided in Herbert, Enfield and Papakaio and recycling 

centres at the rural recovery parks in Hampden, Kurow, Otematata and Ōmārama.  We also worked 

with the Waitaki Resource Recovery Trust to replace some existing township litter bins with bins that 

cater for both waste and recyclables. 

 

Encouraging the provision of different waste disposal options by the private sector: 

Council confirmed in the Waste Management and Minimisation Plan its intention to leave the provision 

of waste management services to the private market. 

 
Stormwater Drainage 
Council continued to collect and dispose of stormwater across seven community areas. 

 

Maintaining the quality and continuity of stormwater services, and managing the activity 

efficiently and effectively: 

The Waitaki Stormwater Activity Management Plan was completed in conjunction with the Long Term 

Plan 2018-28 and implementation of this is underway.  The purpose of the plan is to outline and 

summarise in a coordinated manner Council’s long-term asset management approach for stormwater 

throughout the district. 

 
Water Supplies 
Council continued to source, treat, store and distribute drinking water to more than 20,000 residents 

across 17 water supplies. 

 

Protecting the communities from drinking water related health issues by providing quality 

potable water to agreed areas: 

Oamaru to Hampden pipeline project (Hamnak water supply upgrade): 

Significant progress was made towards completing the new water supply pipeline from Oamaru to 

Herbert, Waianakarua, Hampden and Moeraki.  This $6.7m project will supply NZ Drinking Water 

Standard compliant water from the Oamaru Water Treatment Plant to more than a thousand 

consumers in these areas.  Progress on this project during the past year has included: 

• Awarding the construction contract to Whitestone Contracting Limited 

• Installing 34kms of pipeline and two new pump stations 

• Successfully negotiating pipeline access with more than 40 landowners 

• Drilling and installing pipelines under five significant waterways – including the Kakanui and 

Waianakarua rivers 

• Keeping landowners, supply consumers and key stakeholders informed through regular emails, 

newsletters and other communication channels 

The project is expected to be completed within the estimated timeframes and supplying water to 

consumers by September 2018. 
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Other water supply upgrades: 

Concept designs for water treatment plant upgrades were developed for Ōmārama and Lake Ohau 

Village to ensure they are compliant with the NZ Drinking Water Standards.  Construction will begin in 

the 2018/19 year once suitable options have been confirmed in consultation with local communities 

and contractor resources become available. 

 

Various works were completed at the Oamaru Water Treatment Plant to ensure it continues to supply 

high quality water to the community – including a new air compressor and oxygen generator, 

optimising the performance and capacity of the treatment membranes, development of a new 

membrane cleaning regime and chlorine analysis ahead of an upcoming project to improve 

consistency and efficiency of chlorine application. 

 

Water safety plans development and implementation: 

Eight of our existing water safety plans were reviewed between November and July, and new plans 

were completed for Otematata and Lake Ohau Village.  In accordance with a directive from the 

Ministry of Health following the Havelock North Inquiry, Critical Control Points and Critical Limits were 

included in all of these.   

 

Various rural water supplies were shut down and issued with boil water notices during flood events to 

protect consumers in accordance with our water safety plans. 

 

Chlorine disinfection was introduced to the Otematata and Duntroon supplies and remains in place.  

This step was taken by many local authorities to maximise protection of water supply consumers 

following recommendations arising from the Havelock North contamination event. 

 

Corriedale Water: 

Following Council’s 2017 resolution setting the standard for the operation of the four Corriedale water 

supplies by Corriedale Water Management Limited (CWML) for the next five years, officers have 

continued to monitor CWML’s performance to ensure the supplies are operated in accordance with 

health compliance requirements. 

 

Providing assurance of a sustainable, efficient and effective water service through long term 

planning for maintenance, renewals and provision for growth: 

Oamaru Tower Zone capacity improvement: 

To service the new Observatory Hill retirement village and allow for future growth, 780m of trunk 

water main through the Tower Zone was replaced. 

 

South Hill water main renewals: 

Stage 1 of the project to upgrade the South Hill water mains was completed.  This project was 

designed to ensure ongoing supply resilience and capacity, and will support the addition of Herbert, 

Waianakarua, Hampden and Moeraki to the supply.  The project also included development of a new 

pump station at the reservoir to improve the water pressure for households in the area known as the 

South Hill microzone. 

 

Moeraki supply improvements: 

Pipeline upgrades were undertaken in and around the Moeraki township to improve supply capacity 

and resilience once the supply is linked to Oamaru, and to support the development of the Natural 

Chicken Company Hillgrove chicken farm. 

 

  



 

Waitaki District Council Annual Report 40 

Water Services and Waste  
 

In addition to this: 

• Four of the supply tanks at the Moeraki Reservoir were replaced to secure the township’s supply 

• Telemetry was installed at the Moeraki Reservoir to allow better monitoring of its level and early 

notification on any issues  

• A restrictor inspection programme identified a number of missing, worn or incorrectly-sized 

restrictors in the Moeraki township.  The replacement of these assisted with reducing demand on 

the supply over the summer period 

 

 

Ōmārama Reservoir roof: 

The reservoir roof failed in June 2018 and required urgent planning for replacement.  Installation of a 

new roof will be complete by September 2018. 

 

Contract review: 

A review of the current Reticulation Operations and Maintenance Contract with SouthRoads was 

undertaken in June 2018.  This confirmed the strong relationship that has developed between the two 

parties and areas of strong performance, while also identifying areas for improvement.  In particular, 

the summer months in 2017/18 proved to be challenging due to a higher than usual number of 

callouts for water leaks, no water and other maintenance issues.  An action plan has been developed 

to ensure improvements can be successfully implemented in preparation for the 2018/19 summer 

period. 

 

Measuring demand and use to actively manage water: 

Asset Management Plan: 

The Waitaki Water Activity Management Plan was completed in conjunction with the Long Term Plan 

2018-28 and implementation of this is underway.  The purpose of the plan is to outline and summarise 

in a coordinated manner Council’s long-term asset management approach for drinking water 

throughout the district. 

 

Oamaru Water Supply Capacity Study: 

A comprehensive study commenced into future demand for water supply in the Oamaru area and the 

effect this may have on current water facility and reticulation capacity.  The study is utilising a range of 

Council data along with information provided for various stakeholders.  It will provide a sound basis for 

asset management and development into the future and will ensure we can provide the services 

needed for community wellbeing and economic sustainability.   

 

Water supply intake meters: 

The five-yearly verification of all water supply intake meters was completed to ensure compliance with 

the Resource Management (Measurement and Reporting of Water Takes) Regulations 2010. 

 
Sewage Treatment and Disposal 
Council continued to collect, treat and dispose of wastewater from over 14,000 residents across eight 

networks. 

 

Maintaining quality and continuity of wastewater services: 

Moeraki wastewater disposal upgrade:  

This project is required to ensure disposal of treated wastewater meets ORC consent requirements.  

Following consultation with Te Rūnanga o Moeraki, a concept design for this upgrade was completed 

and work is expected to commence in 2018/19 when contractor resources become available. 
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Ōmārama wastewater treatment plant disposal upgrade: 

This project is required to ensure disposal of treated wastewater meets Ecan consent requirements.  

A concept design for disposal to land via infiltration trenches at the Ōmārama Airfield was developed 

and discussions commenced with Ōmārama Airfield Ltd regarding formalising land use agreements.   

 

Chelmer Street sewer main upgrade: 

A project to renew the sewer main along Chelmer Street was completed.  This will support ongoing 

development and network resilience in the area. 

 

Asset Management Plan: 

The Waitaki Wastewater Activity Management Plan was completed in conjunction with the Long Term 

Plan 2018-28 and implementation of this is underway.  The purpose of the plan is to outline and 

summarise in a coordinated manner Council’s long-term asset management approach for Sewage 

Treatment and Disposal throughout the district. 

 

Oamaru Wastewater Capacity Study: 

A comprehensive study commenced into future demand on the wastewater network in the Oamaru 

area and the effect this may have on current wastewater infrastructure capacity.  Significant floods in 

July 2017 resulting in reticulation network overflows when the systems in Oamaru failed to cope, and 

the number of aging wastewater infrastructure throughout the town, highlighted the need for this 

study.  Flood events are anticipated to increase in frequency and intensity as a result of climate 

change.  The study is utilising a range of Council data along with information provided for various 

stakeholders and will provide a sound basis for risk assessment and asset management and 

development into the future.   

 

Managing the activity efficiently and effectively: 

Facilities management: 

The new wastewater facilities contract with SouthRoads commenced in July 2017 and is progressing 

well.  This contract, managed by direct engagement, replicates the water facilities contract. 

 

Hampden on-site wastewater management systems cleaning and inspection: 

In 2013, Council resolved to instigate a rates funded cleaning and inspection programme of all septic 

tanks within the Hampden township.  A contractor for this work was engaged in December 2017 and 

work has been underway since January.  As of June, no reports from the contractor of damaged 

systems posing a risk to public health were received. 

 

Repairs to the Regina Lane pump station: 

Significant floods in July 2017 resulted in the inundation of the Regina Lane pump station, causing 

irreparable damage to the control switchboard.  A new, elevated control room was installed at the site 

using a mix of Government financial assistance, Council’s civil defence emergency insurance and 

depreciation reserves. 

 

Acknowledging and incorporating the natural environment in design, construction, operation 

and maintenance of infrastructure: 

We have continued to collaborate and consult with key stakeholders - including landowners, Otago 
Regional Council, Environment Canterbury and Te Rūnanga o Moeraki – to ensure the natural 
environment is considered in our operation, maintenance and development of wastewater 
infrastructure.  
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Waste Management and Minimisation 
 
Community outcomes 
 

Community outcomes How the activity contributes to the outcome 

We enable opportunities for new and 
existing businesses 

By providing access to affordable, reliable, accessible 
and efficient waste disposal systems and facilities 

We provide and enable services and 
facilities so people want to stay and move 
here 

By providing access to affordable, reliable, accessible 
and efficient waste disposal systems and facilities 

We maintain the safest community we can By providing access to reliable and efficient waste 
disposal systems and facilities 

Waitaki’s distinctive environment is valued 
and protected 

By managing the activity in accordance with consent 
conditions and enforcement of the relevant legislation 
to mitigate adverse environmental effects 
 
By encouraging minimisation, reuse and recycling of 
waste 

We understand the diverse needs of our 
community 

By encouraging the provision of different waste 
disposal options by the private sector 

 

How we performed - Waste Management and Minimisation 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 

LTP Year 3 – 2017/18 

Percentage of residents 
who are within 25km of a 
transfer station, landfill or 
recycling drop-off station 

Achieved: 
97% of residents are within 
25km of a transfer station, 
landfill or recycling drop-off 
station. 
(97% in 2016/17) 

90% of residents are within 25km of a 
transfer station, landfill or recycling 
drop-off station 

The amount of material 
being removed from the 
waste stream 

Achieved: 
Glass – 550 tonnes was 
removed from the waste 
stream 
(436 tonnes in 2016/17) 
 
Not achieved: 
Recyclables – 2,173 tonnes 
was removed from the 
waste stream  
(2,144 tonnes in 2016/17) 
 (All diversion activities are 
carried out by the Waitaki 
Resource Recovery Trust) 

Remove from the waste stream at 
least: 

• Recyclables – 2,500 tonnes 

• Glass – 450 tonnes 
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Funding Impact Statement – Waste Management and Minimisation 

Waste Management & Minimisation Commentary on Major Changes

2016/17 2016/17 1 2017/18 2017/18

Actual Budget Actual Budget Commentary on Major Changes

$000 $000 $000 $000

 Sources of Operating Funding 

1,049 1,051  General Rates, Uniform Annual General Charge, Rates Penalties 1,115 1,116

 -  -  Targeted Rates  -  - 

1,049 1,051  Rates Revenue 1,115 1,116

84 75  Subsidies and Grants for Operating Purposes 85 82

1,280 356  Fees and Charges 160 76

 -  -  Interest and Dividends from Investments  -  - 

 -  -  Internal Charges and Overheads Recovered  -  - 

55  -  Local Authorities' Fuel Tax, Fines, Infringement Fees and Other Receipts  -  - 

1,419 431  Operating Revenue 245 158

2,468 1,482  Total Sources of Operating Funding 1,360 1,274

 Applications of Operating Funding 

1,856 1,062  Payments to Staff and Suppliers 1,383 783

 -  -  Finance Costs  -  - 

232 276  Internal Charges and Overheads Applied 205 258

 -  -  Other Operating Funding Applications  -  - 

2,088 1,338  Total Applications of Operating Funding 1,588 1,041

380 144  Surplus / (Deficit) of Operating Funding (228) 233

 Sources of Capital funding 

 -  -  Subsidies and Grants for Capital Expenditure  -  - 

 -  -  Development and Financial Contributions  -  - 

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Debt  -  - 

 -  -  Gross Proceeds from Sale of Assets  -  - 

 -  -  Total Sources of Capital Funding  -  - 

 Applications of Capital funding 

Capital Expenditure

 -  -  Meet Additional Demand  -  - 

 -  -  Improve Levels of Service  -  - 

 -  -  Replace Existing Assets  -  - 

380 144  Increase / (Decrease) in Reserve (228) 233

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Investments  -  - 

380 144  Total Applications for Capital Funding (228) 233

(380) (144)  Surplus / (Deficit) of Capital Funding 228 (233)

 -  -  Funding Balance  -  - 

The closure of the Oamaru landfill in April 2017 

resulted in a considerably reduced revenue and 

associated operating costs being reported. 

However use of the Palmerston landfill has 

exceeded budget expectations in the current 

year, and contributed to increased operating 

costs
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Stormwater Drainage 
 
Community outcomes 
 

Community outcomes How the activity contributes to the outcome 

We maintain the safest community we can By managing flooding events in urban areas 

We enable opportunities for new and 
existing businesses 

By managing flooding events in urban areas 

Waitaki’s distinctive environment is valued 
and protected 

By acknowledging and incorporating the natural 
environment in design, construction, operation and 
maintenance of infrastructure 

We keep our district affordable By providing a timely response to service requests and 
system failures 
 
By managing the activity efficiently and effectively 

We provide and enable services and 
facilities so people want to stay and move 
here 

By maintaining the quality and continuity of stormwater 
services 

 
How we performed – Stormwater Drainage 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP Year 3 – 2017/18 

a) The number of 
flooding events that 
occur in our systems 

Not achieved*: 
1 flooding event from the 
stormwater system. 
(NIL in 2016/17) 
(*The result of a significant 
flood in July 2017.  A Civil 
Defence Emergency was 
declared in Waitaki during 
this event and other South 
Island regions whose 
networks were similarly 
affected) 

NIL 

b) For each event, the 
number of habitable 
floors affected 
(expressed per 1,000 
properties connected to 
our stormwater systems) 

Not achieved: 
0.1 habitable floors per 
1000 properties. 
(NIL in 2016/17) 
(Refer to explanation 
above and below) 

NIL 

The median response 
time to attend a flooding 
event, measured from 
the time that we receive 
notification to the time 
that service personnel 
reach the site 

Achieved: 
Median attendance time 
for flooding events was 0 
hours. 
(NIL in 2016/17) 
(Council was not advised 
of the flooding to the 
property until 5 days after 
the flood event occurred) 

4 hours 
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Stormwater Drainage  
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP Year 3 – 2017/18 

The total number of 
complaints received by 
us about the 
performance of the 
stormwater system, 
expressed per 1,000 
properties connected to 
our stormwater system 

Achieved: 
0.6 complaints received 
per 1,000 connections. 
(0.5 in 2016/17) 
(Stormwater system 
considered to be from the 
Council owned main to 
point of discharge) 

Less than 1 per 1,000 connections 
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Funding Impact Statement – Stormwater 

Stormwater Drainage Commentary on Major Changes

2016/17 2016/17 1 2017/18 2017/18

Actual Budget Actual Budget Commentary on Major Changes

$000 $000 $000 $000

 Sources of Operating Funding 

 -  -  General Rates, Uniform Annual General Charge, Rates Penalties  -  - 

428 428  Targeted Rates 471 471

428 428  Rates Revenue 471 471

 -  -  Subsidies and Grants for Operating Purposes  -  - 

 -  -  Fees and Charges 6  - 

 -  -  Interest and Dividends from Investments  -  - 

 -  -  Internal Charges and Overheads Recovered  -  - 

 -  -  Local Authorities' Fuel Tax, Fines, Infringement Fees and Other Receipts  -  - 

 -  -  Operating Revenue 6  - 

428 428  Total Sources of Operating Funding 477 471

 Applications of Operating Funding 

40 59  Payments to Staff and Suppliers 119 60

 -  -  Finance Costs  -  - 

106 126  Internal Charges and Overheads Applied 105 164

 -  -  Other Operating Funding Applications  -  - 

146 185  Total Applications of Operating Funding 224 224

282 243  Surplus / (Deficit) of Operating Funding 253 247

 Sources of Capital funding 

 -  -  Subsidies and Grants for Capital Expenditure  -  - 

 -  -  Development and Financial Contributions  -  - 

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Debt  -  - 

 -  -  Gross Proceeds from Sale of Assets  -  - 

 -  -  Total Sources of Capital Funding  -  - 

 Applications of Capital funding 

Capital Expenditure

 -  -  Meet Additional Demand  -  - 

 -  -  Improve Levels of Service  -  - 

 -  -  Replace Existing Assets 33 15

282 243  Increase / (Decrease) in Reserve 220 232

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Investments  -  - 

282 243  Total Applications for Capital Funding 253 247

(282) (243)  Surplus / (Deficit) of Capital Funding (253) (247)

 -  -  Funding Balance  -  - 

Levels of service are consistent with those 

anticipated in the Annual Plan.
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Water Supply 
 
Community outcomes 
 

Community outcome How the activity contributes to the outcome 

We enable opportunities for new and 
existing businesses 

By providing assurance of a sustainable, efficient 
and effective water service through long term 
planning of maintenance, renewals, and provision 
for growth 

We provide and enable services and 
facilities so people want to stay and move 
here 

By providing assurance of a sustainable, efficient 
and effective water service through long term 
planning of maintenance, renewals, and provision 
for growth 

We maintain the safest community we can By protecting the communities from drinking water 
related health issues by providing quality potable 
water to agreed areas 

We keep our district affordable By measuring demand and use to actively manage 
water 
Through timely response to service requests and 
failure 
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Water Supply 
 
How we performed – Water Supply 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
Year 3 – 2017/18 

The extent to which 
our water supplies 
comply with: 
a) Part 4 of the 
drinking water 
standards (bacteria 
compliance criteria) 

Compliant: Kurow, Lower Waitaki, 
Oamaru, Ōmārama, Waihemo. 
Non-compliant: Hampden-Moeraki, 
Herbert-Waianakarua, Kauru Hill, 
Otematata, Tokarahi, Windsor. 
 
(2016/17 - Compliant: Oamaru, 
Waihemo, Lower Waitaki, Tokarahi, 
Awamoko, Kurow, Ōmārama, Kauru 
Hill.  Non-Compliant: Herbert-
Waianakarua, Hampden-Moeraki, 
Otematata, Lake Ohau, Windsor) 

Compliance as specified 
on page 48 of 2015-25 
Long Term Plan 

The extent to which 
our water supplies 
comply with: 
b) Part 5 of the 
drinking water 
standards (protozoa 
compliance criteria) 
 

Compliant: Kurow, Oamaru, Waihemo. 
Non-compliant: Hampden-Moeraki, 
Herbert-Waianakarua, Kauru Hill, 
Lower Waitaki, Ōmārama, Otematata, 
Tokarahi, Windsor. 
 
(2016/17 - Compliant: Oamaru, 
Waihemo, Lower Waitaki, Kurow.  
Non-Compliant: Herbert-Waianakarua, 
Tokarahi, Hampden-Moeraki, 
Awamoko, Ōmārama, Kauru Hill, 
Otematata, Windsor, Lake Ohau) 

* Herbert-Waianakarua, Hampden-Moeraki, Ōmārama, Lake Ohau, Awamoko, Tokarahi, Windsor and 
Kauru Hill are yet to be upgraded to meet the Drinking Water Standards.  
 
Duntroon and Lake Ohau are not required to comply with Part 4 and Part 5 of the Drinking Water 
Standards as Council has elected to comply with Section 10. 
 
Stoneburn and Bushey Creek (previously Otekaieke) are classified Rural Agricultural water supplies 
for which no Standards exist to date. 
 

The 2017/18results are provisional, pending the assessment of compliance by the independent 
Drinking-Water Assessor.  
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Water Supply 
 
How we performed – Water Supply 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP Year 3 – 2017/18 

The percentage of 
real water loss from 
our networked 
reticulation system 

Achieved:  
Oamaru – 24% 
Otematata – 26% 
Ōmārama – 45% 
 
Not achieved: 
Palmerston – 37% 
Kurow – 58% 
 
(2016/17 
Oamaru - 29% 
Palmerston – 32% 
Kurow – 54% 
Ōmārama – 45% 
Otematata – 8%) 
(Water loss has been 
calculated for on-demand 
water supplies only, in 
accordance with the 
Department of Internal Affairs 
Non-Financial Performance 
Measure Guidelines, Minimum 
Night Flow Analysis. 
 
Restricted water supplies have 
been excluded due to the 
nature of their constant trickle 
feed operation removing the 
ability to determine minimum 
night time flows. 
 
Large water supply consumers 
have not been excluded from 
the water loss calculations and 
therefore actual water loss 
values are lower than 
indicated) 

Maintain current results: 
Oamaru 24%, Palmerston 31%, 
Kurow 44%, Ōmārama 87%, 
Otematata 28% 
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Water Supply 
 
How we performed – Water Supply 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP Year 3 – 2017/18 

Median time for 
attendance of urgent call 
outs: from the time that we 
receive notification to the 
time that service 
personnel reach the site 

Achieved*: 
Median attendance time for 
the 546 urgent call outs 
was 0.7 hours.   
(0.9 hours in 2016/17) 

1 hour  

Median time for resolution 
of urgent call outs: from 
the time that we receive 
notification to the time 
that service personnel 
confirm resolution of the 
fault or interruption 

Achieved*: 
Median resolution time for 
the 546 urgent call outs 
was 3.6 hours 
(7.7 hours in 2016/17) 
 

6 hours 

Median time for 
attendance of non-urgent 
call outs: from the time 
that we receive 
notification to the time 
that service personnel 
reach the site 

Not achieved*: 
Median attendance time for 
the 1762 non-urgent call 
outs was 20.7 hours 
(5.4 hours in 2016/17) 
 

8 hours 

Median time for resolution 
of non-urgent call outs: 
from the time that we 
receive notification to the 
time that service 
personnel confirm 
resolution of the fault or 
interruption 

Achieved*: 
Median resolution time for 
the 1762 non-urgent call 
outs was 28.0 hours 
(23.9 hours in 2016/17) 

48 hours 

*These targets were set based on previous contractor performance but not aligned with the actual 
contract requirements.  They have since been amended in the Long Term Plan 2018-28 to align with 
the contract. 
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Water Supply 
 
How we performed – Water Supply 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP Year 3 – 2017/18 

Total number of 
complaints about water 
quality and quantity 

Achieved: 
28.8 complaints received 
per 1,000 connections* 
(20.7 complaints in 
2016/17) 

Less than 30 per 1,000 
connections 

The average consumption 
of drinking water per day 
per resident within Waitaki 
district 

Not achieved: 
Average consumption per 
resident of 583 litres per 
day 
(430 litres per day in 
2016/17) 
(Consumption has been 
calculated for on-demand 
(urban) water supplies only 
as restricted supplies (rural) 
are for stock consumption 
also and the percentage 
split cannot be confirmed) 

Less than 500 litres per day  

* The ‘1000 connections’ unit is based on a count of physical service connections.  For the Waitaki 
District this is a more accurate method of measurement compared to ‘rateable units’. 
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Water Supply - Safety of drinking water  

 
* From page 48 of the 2015-25 Long Term Plan
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Funding Impact Statement – Water Supply 

 

Water Supply Commentary on Major Changes

2016/17 2016/17 1 2017/18 2017/18

Actual Budget Actual Budget Commentary on Major Changes

$000 $000 $000 $000

 Sources of Operating Funding 

1 1  General Rates, Uniform Annual General Charge, Rates Penalties 1 1

5,236 5,236  Targeted Rates 5,373 5,378

5,237 5,237  Rates Revenue 5,374 5,379

 -  -  Subsidies and Grants for Operating Purposes  -  - 

513 481  Fees and Charges 571 481

 -  -  Interest and Dividends from Investments  -  - 

293 351  Internal Charges and Overheads Recovered 209 236

14  -  Local Authorities' Fuel Tax, Fines, Infringement Fees and Other Receipts 26  - 

820 832  Operating Revenue 806 717

6,057 6,069  Total Sources of Operating Funding 6,180 6,096

 Applications of Operating Funding 

3,148 2,917  Payments to Staff and Suppliers 3,562 2,848

 -  -  Finance Costs  -  - 

1,413 1,301  Internal Charges and Overheads Applied 1,217 1,364

 -  -  Other Operating Funding Applications  -  - 

4,561 4,218  Total Applications of Operating Funding 4,779 4,212

1,496 1,851  Surplus / (Deficit) of Operating Funding 1,401 1,884

 Sources of Capital funding 

 -  -  Subsidies and Grants for Capital Expenditure  -  - 

238 295  Development and Financial Contributions 800 218

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Debt  -  - 

 -  -  Gross Proceeds from Sale of Assets  -  - 

238 295  Total Sources of Capital Funding 800 218

 Applications of Capital funding 

Capital Expenditure

 -  -  Meet Additional Demand  -  - 

1,429 5,600  Improve Levels of Service 4,992 1,840

2,104 1,280  Replace Existing Assets 2,714 1,935

(1,799) (4,734)  Increase / (Decrease) in Reserve (5,505) (1,673)

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Investments  -  - 

1,734 2,146  Total Applications for Capital Funding 2,201 2,102

(1,496) (1,851)  Surplus / (Deficit) of Capital Funding (1,401) (1,884)

 -  -  Funding Balance  -  - 

Levels of service are consistent with those 

anticipated in the Annual Plan. Several 

significant capital projects, including the 

HamNak pipeline, were undertaken this financial 

year, having been deferred from 2016/17
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Sewage Treatment and Disposal 
 

Community outcomes 
 

Community outcome How the activity contributes to the outcome 

We enable opportunities for new and 
existing businesses 

By providing community reticulated systems in agreed 
areas 

We provide and enable services and 
facilities so people want to stay and move 
here 

By providing a timely response to service requests and 
system failures 
 
By maintaining quality and continuity of wastewater 
services 

We maintain the safest community we 
can 

By maintaining the quality and continuity of wastewater 
services and protecting the community from wastewater 
related health issues 

We keep our district affordable By providing a timely response to service requests and 
system failures 
 
By managing the activity efficiently and effectively 

Waitaki’s distinctive environment is 
valued and protected 

By acknowledging and incorporating the natural 
environment in design, construction, operation and 
maintenance of infrastructure 

 

How we performed – Sewage Treatment and Disposal 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP Year 3 – 2017/18 

The number of dry 
weather overflows 
from our sewerage 
system, expressed 
per 1,000 sewerage 
connections to the 
system 

Not achieved: 
2.0 dry weather overflows 
per 1,000 connections (15 
in total) 
(3.6 overflows per 1,000 
connections in 2016/17) 

Less than 1.4 per 1,000 connections 
(<20 total) 

Compliance with 
resource consents for 
discharge from our 
sewerage system 
measured by the number 
of: 
a) Abatement notices 
b) Infringement notices 
c) Enforcement orders 
d) Convictions 

a) Achieved: 
NIL abatement notices 
received 
(NIL in 2016/17) 
b) Achieved: 
NIL infringement notices 
received 
(NIL in 2016/17) 
c) Achieved: 
NIL enforcement orders 
received  
(NIL in 2016/17) 
d) Achieved: 
NIL convictions received 
(NIL in 2016/17) 

a) NIL 
b) NIL 
c) NIL 
d) NIL 
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Sewage Treatment and Disposal 
 
How we performed – Sewage Treatment and Disposal 
 

Performance 
Measures 

Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP Year 3 – 2017/18 

Where we attend to 
sewerage overflows 
resulting from a 
blockage or other 
fault in our sewerage 
system, the following 
median response 
times measured: 

 
a) Attendance time: 

from the time that 
we receive 
notification to the 
time that service 
personnel reach the 
site 

 
b) Resolution time: from 

the time that we 
receive notification 
to the time that 
service personnel 
confirm resolution of 
the blockage or other 
fault 

a) Achieved*: 
Median attendance time for 
the 22 sewerage overflows 
was 0.6 hours  
(0.7 hours in 2016/17) 
 
b) Achieved*: 
Median resolution time for 
the 22 sewerage overflows 
was 3.6 hours  
(3.6 hours in 2016/17) 

a) 0.75 hours  
b) 6 hours  

The total number of 
complaints received by 
us about any of the 
following: 
a) Sewage odour 
b) Sewerage system 

faults 
c) Sewerage system 

blockages, and 
d) Our response to 

issues with our 
sewerage system 
expressed per 1,000 
connections to our 
sewerage system 

Achieved: 
9.3 complaints received per 
1,000 connections 
(10.5 complaints per 1,000 
connections in 2016/17) 
(Approximately 30% of 
complaints were identified 
on inspection as “no fault 
found” due to the cause 
being a private fault) 

Less than 12 per 1,000 connections 

*These targets were set based on previous contractor performance but not aligned with the actual 
contract requirements.  They have since been amended in Long Term Plan 2018-28 to align with the 
contract. 
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Funding Impact Statement – Sewage Treatment and Disposal 

Sewerage (Treatment & Disposal) Commentary on Major Changes

2016/17 2016/17 1 2017/18 2017/18

Actual Budget Actual Budget Commentary on Major Changes

$000 $000 $000 $000

 Sources of Operating Funding 

 -  -  General Rates, Uniform Annual General Charge, Rates Penalties  -  - 

1,611 1,607  Targeted Rates 1,639 1,628

1,611 1,607  Rates Revenue 1,639 1,628

 -  -  Subsidies and Grants for Operating Purposes  -  - 

308 270  Fees and Charges 291 319

 -  -  Interest and Dividends from Investments  -  - 

352 389  Internal Charges and Overheads Recovered 338 333

10  -  Local Authorities' Fuel Tax, Fines, Infringement Fees and Other Receipts 51 21

670 659  Operating Revenue 680 673

2,281 2,266  Total Sources of Operating Funding 2,319 2,301

 Applications of Operating Funding 

1,220 946  Payments to Staff and Suppliers 1,453 959

 -  -  Finance Costs  -  - 

500 558  Internal Charges and Overheads Applied 469 570

 -  -  Other Operating Funding Applications  -  - 

1,720 1,504  Total Applications of Operating Funding 1,922 1,529

561 762  Surplus / (Deficit) of Operating Funding 397 772

 Sources of Capital funding 

 -  -  Subsidies and Grants for Capital Expenditure  -  - 

100 110  Development and Financial Contributions 208 100

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Debt  -  - 

 -  -  Gross Proceeds from Sale of Assets  -  - 

100 110  Total Sources of Capital Funding 208 100

 Applications of Capital funding 

Capital Expenditure

 -  -  Meet Additional Demand  -  - 

29 580  Improve Levels of Service 254 525

119 200  Replace Existing Assets 631 525

513 92  Increase / (Decrease) in Reserve (280) (178)

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Investments  -  - 

661 872  Total Applications for Capital Funding 605 872

(561) (762)  Surplus / (Deficit) of Capital Funding (397) (772)

 -  -  Funding Balance  -  - 

The adverse weather event in July 2017 caused 

significant damage to sewer infrastructure, 

resulting in increased maintenance expenditure 
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Arts, Heritage and Community  
 
The Arts, Heritage and Community group of activities include: 

• Waitaki District Libraries 

• Forrester Gallery, North Otago Museum and Archive 

• Oamaru Opera House 

• Community Development, Safety and Grants 
 
What we did 
 
Waitaki District Libraries 

• Completed the reconfiguration of Oamaru Public Library as part of the introduction of Radio 
Frequency Identification (RFID) technology.  This is in line with the international practice of more 
customer-driven library services, but working within a 40-year-old building footprint.  This has 
resulted in increased foot traffic.  The Community Space is one of the success stories of the 
reconfiguration and is being used for community activities and lifelong learning as well as being 
used for meetings, interviews, events, eGovernment sessions, Census support, quiet study or 
reading, to name a few. 

• Worked collaboratively with government and community agencies in particularly Literacy North 
Otago, ARA and WorkBridge, to address the challenges of access to technology and upskilling 
some ratepayers to engage with e-Government sites as part of Council's commitment to Lifelong 
Literacy in the community. 

• We have also further developed our own Digital Literacy modules to train staff and the public.  
The Library is also supporting a SparkJump initiative that provides cheap internet to families with 
school aged children.   

• Staff have been invited to share our successes with community outreach and future proofing our 
library services with the reconfiguration, on several national and regional platforms, such as 
SOLGM NZ (Society for Local Government Managers) and LIANZA (Library and Information 
Association of NZ). 

• We have developed branch liaison and development and have recruited additional volunteers and 
have computerised the Ōmārama Community Library.  We have scheduled more regular visits 
and support to volunteers. 

• Held a number of successful displays, events, talks, presentations and demonstrations in the 
library by authors and musicians.  Celebrated NZ Book Month, Music Month; hosted book 
launches, community talks, multi-cultural events, etc.   

• Fostered a positive relationship with the shared Customer Service/Library at Palmerston and 
shifted the service levels to be more library focused, with on-going events and programmes and 
expanding children’s programmes. 

• Continued to offer the ever-popular range of programmes to the community: 
o School holiday programmes  
o Wriggle & Rhyme; an active movement programme for 0-24 month olds 
o Toddler Time; we have also expanded the Toddler Time programme to Palmerston 
o Continued developing the Kid’s Book Club 
o Staff visited schools and encouraged visits to the Library 

• Encouraged the use of eBook reading as an option and offered eReader demonstrations to the 
public.  Staff visited schools to demonstrate ebooks. 

• Palmerston staff are supporting outsourcing processing of new library materials 

• Reduced newspaper and magazine subscriptions to expand our electronic database 
subscriptions, e.g.  World Book, EBSCO on-line databases and Ancestry. 

• Continued developing the Library’s webpage, resulting in a new mobile-device-friendly front page. 

• Expanded the use of Facebook, Pinterest and Twitter as marketing tools, with excellent results in 
event attendance. 

• Further developed the Culture Waitaki website, working with staff of the Forrester Gallery, 
Archive, Oamaru Opera House and North Otago Museum. 
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Arts, Heritage and Community  
 
Waitaki District Libraries – continued  

• Continued to use and develop the Open Source Koha Library Management System which was 
upgraded and enhanced during the year.  Supported Waimate District Council with their 
development and upgrade of the Koha system and shared in staff training.  We joined a Koha 
consortium, resulting in savings and efficiencies. 
 
 

Forrester Gallery, North Otago Museum and Archive 

• Continued to support the Cultural Facility Development Project with substantial focus on collection 
development, story and theme development, architectural and exhibition concept briefs and 
changes to programming (delivering more offsite and online) in preparation for closures for 
building upgrades. 

• Delivered 26 exhibitions and displays (19 at the Gallery, 2 at the Museum, 2 at the Library and 3 
at the Oamaru Opera House).  Of these 8 were of local artists and 6 presented objects from 
across the breadth of our permanent collections.   

• Delivered 15 events and talks (including participation in community events).  In particular we 
delivered: The NZ Archaeology Week talk by Professor Richard Walter about his research into the 
Willetts’ Collection of first settlement artefacts held by the Museum and The Moa Talk by Dr Mike 
Dickison from Whanganui Museum. 

• Delivered online content via 14 blogs on our website and a range of content (about our 
programmes, and collections, shared links to resources and short films) through Facebook and 
social media platforms such as Twitter and Instagram. 

• Delivered three wonderlab exhibitions presenting our collections collaboratively and as interactive 
and educational programmes: Te Moa, Rogues Gallery and Sprocket & Gear: Elements of 
Steampunk.  Rogues Gallery was developed as part of Heritage Week and included an outreach 
exhibition and programme at Totara Estate.  Sprocket & Gear was developed to support the 
annual Steampunk festival and features objects from across our collections as well as work made 
by local and visiting artists and artisans.   

• Delivered a total of 25 school education programmes and visits to the facilities. 

• Increased our community visibility through the support of community events - Steampunk Festival, 
Waitaki Arts Festival and Heritage Week. 

• Maintained our visitor numbers at the Gallery. 

• Grew our participation numbers in holiday programmes held across one week of each school 
holiday. 

• Grew our volunteer base across the Museum/Gallery/Archive.  Our overall volunteer hours for the 
year were 3,435. 

• Carried out research and audits of our collections completing a full review of the Gallery collection 
and creation of a collecting plan; a review of objects at the Museum related to local agricultural 
history, and continuing a review of the photographic collection at the Archive readying it for online 
access during 2018-2019. 

• Carried out improvements to our collection storage through full upgrades to electronic 
temperature and humidity data loggers, better packing and storage systems which have 
increased overall efficiency of the collection spaces. 

• Continued to grow our collections through significant acquisitions, the highlights being: 
o Gifting of the Totara Tree Stone Company Records from the Perry family 
o Gifting of dresses from Maria Tschepp of the local Maritza Boutique 
o Gifting of an artwork by NZ artist and Frances Hodgkins fellow Neil Frazer 
o Purchase of The Poor List by local artist Peter Cleverley with support of the Friends and JW 

Christie Trust. 

• Continued to progress an important collaborative research project with University of Otago into 
the Willetts’ collection at the Museum working with the Department of Archaeology and 
Anthropology, Iwi and Willetts’ family members.  The most recent work included identifying and 
visits to local stone quarry sites of significance. 

• Worked collaboratively with community by supporting and delivering talks to local groups, 
supporting the Steampunk Festival, Waitaki Arts Festival and Heritage Week. 
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Arts, Heritage and Community  
 
Forrester Gallery, North Otago Museum and Archive – continued  

• Assisted the Whitestone Waitaki Geopark project by providing support and assistance to the 
Project and Advisory Teams. 

• Worked collaboratively with staff from across Council units to deliver various projects including 
Digital Asset Management, a review of Records Management processes, education and outreach 
projects with Library and Opera House and the Culture Waitaki website.   

• Continued to improve collection knowledge and efficiency through auditing, research and 
upgrades and improvements to the Vernon Collection database system. 

• Represented the Gallery/Museum/Archive at a national level by participating in surveys, working 
with our national body Museums Aotearoa and attendance at national training, Hui and 
conferences.   

 
Oamaru Opera House 

• Two audience development programmes in place:  ‘Test Drive the Arts’ offered to community 
groups and local businesses and ‘Arts Ambassadors’ from the local high schools. 

• Continued collaboration with Forrester Gallery, North Otago Museum and Waitaki District 
Libraries to deliver a combined Heritage Week Programme and Waitaki Arts Festival. 

• Three conferences were hosted. 

• Free-of-charge meeting space provided for not-for-profit organisations.  This was utilised 
throughout the year, providing space for 106 meetings. 

• A diverse performing arts programme was delivered which included 7 international tours. 

• Collaborated with the Library for presentation of the preschool event Wriggle & Rhyme. 

• Engaged with local community hosting North Otago Schools Music Festival, North Otago 
Kaupapa Māori Festival, the Performing Arts Competitions, Tap Dancing Competitions and 
Filipino Cultural performance. 

• Provided ticketing services for local and national events, in particular rugby games held at 
Forsyth Barr Stadium. 

• Delivered 34 shows in the Whitestone Contracting Auditorium and Inkbox Theatre. 

• Secured sponsorship funding from Whitestone Contracting Ltd and Whitestone Cheese Ltd. 

• Continued excellence in café and catering services for meetings and events. 
 
Community Development, Safety and Grants 

• Facilitated a meeting with Census and the community on 13 December.   

• Participated in the Network Leadership Group for Raise Hope Mental Health and Addictions 
meetings attended by representatives from across Otago/Southland.  The Safer Waitaki 
Mental Health and Addictions Network, which has a membership of 30 organisations, is the 
local group for this project. 

• Safer Waitaki Governance Group met formally three times during the year.   

• Safer Waitaki Management Group met monthly. 

• Safer Waitaki Working groups, Family Whānau, Mental Health and Addictions, Alcohol and 
Drug, Family Violence and Industry Link met monthly/six weekly. 

• Older Person’s Forum to ascertain interest held on 27 March.  Monthly meetings commenced 
in May. 

• Safer Waitaki Alcohol and Drug group successfully generated external funding of $10,000 for 
Game On Project. 

• Along with Police, led the successful delivery of a co-ordinated White Ribbon event.  The 
event involved four high schools, classic cars, and 50 motorcycle riders and was supported by 
local businesses in Oamaru and Hampden. 

• Co-ordinated Family Violence training with It’s Not OK in 6 March followed by a business 
breakfast.   

• Successfully delivered a Road Safety contract with Dunedin City Council.  This was for the 
delivery of a three day road safety event aimed at year 11 students: ‘Safer Journeys Expo’.  
1,573 registrations were received from schools across Otago. 

• Co-ordinated Strategic Planning Session for Non-Government Organisations (NGO’s). 

• Worked collaboratively with multicultural communities in the Waitaki district. 
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Arts, Heritage and Community  
 
Community outcomes 
 

Community outcome How the activity contributes to the outcome 

We provide and enable services and 
facilities so people want to stay and move 
here 

By providing facilities and services that contribute to the 
quality of life of the district and make it attractive for 
people to live here 

We maintain the safest community we can By playing an active role in the Safer Waitaki Coalition 

 
How we performed: 

• Waitaki District Libraries 

• Forrester Gallery, North Otago Museum and Archive 

• Oamaru Opera House 

• Community Development Safety and Grants  
 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP 2017/18 – 2024/25 

  Waitaki District Libraries  

Percentage of residents 
who are satisfied or very 
satisfied with library 
services 

Achieved: 
Residents’ Survey 
93% of residents satisfied 
with library services 
2017/18 
(2016/17 - 95% of residents 
satisfied with library 
services) 

92% of residents are satisfied or very 
satisfied with library services 

Average number of 
attendees per event held 
at the libraries 

Achieved: 
25 attendees per event at 
the libraries 2017/18 
(2016/17 - 24 attendees per 
event at the libraries) 

Maintain or grow average number of 
people attending each event 

Percentage increase in 
the number of enquiries 
handled by librarians, 
which include, for 
example, readers’ 
advisory, assistance with 
mobile devices, research 
enquiries 

Achieved: 
34% increase 9,521 
enquiries handled by 
librarians 2017/18 
(2016/17 –7,082 enquiries 
handled by librarians)  
Note 2017/18 includes face 
to face, manual and 
electronic enquiries.  Staff 
were also encouraged to 
report digital enquiries.   
 

5% increase on previous year 
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Arts, Heritage and Community  
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP 2017/18 – 2024/25 

  Waitaki District Libraries  

Number of library 
visitors:  

• Electronic visits to the 
library website 
 
 
 

 

• Physical visits 

Achieved 
2017/18 - 9,785 website 
OPAC (On-line Catalogue 
total users) 
2016/17: 9,456 website 
OPAC (On-line Catalogue 
total users) 
 
Not achieved: 
2017/18 – 124,931 
2016/17: 140,822 visits  
We have been separating 
Palmerston Service Centre 
visits from library visits.  
There is a national 
downward trend for visits to 
libraries 

 

• Benchmark to be set year 1 (9,623) 
 
 
 
 
 

 

• Maintain numbers 

 
 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP 2017/18 – 2024/25 

Forrester Gallery, North Otago Museum and Archive 

Number of visitors to the 
Gallery 

Not achieved: 
2017/18 - 12,180 
2016/17 - 12,286 visitors 
 

Maintain visitor numbers to the Gallery 
in advance of the Cultural Facility 
Development project 

Percentage of the 
community satisfied or 
very satisfied with the 
level of information about 
the redevelopment of the 
Gallery and Museum 

Not achieved: 
Residents’ Survey: 
23% of residents satisfied 
with the level of information 
about the redevelopment of 
the Gallery and Museum  
31% 2016/17 

80% are satisfied or very satisfied with 
the level of information about the 
redevelopment of the Gallery and 
Museum 

Percentage of the 
district’s schools who are 
satisfied or very satisfied 
with the Gallery and 
Museum’s educational 
activities and/or 
engagement 

Achieved: 
88% of schools satisfied or 
very satisfied with the level 
of engagement by the 
Gallery/Museum 
(2016/17 - 89% 
satisfaction) 

80% of the district’s schools are 
satisfied or very satisfied with the 
Gallery’s and Museum’s educational 
activities and/or engagement 

Percentage of Archive 
users satisfied with the 
Archive services 

Achieved.   
In-house visitor statistics 
which show 96% 
satisfaction in 2017-18.  
Unchanged from 2016/17  

90% of Archive users are satisfied with 
the Archive services 

 
 

  



 

Waitaki District Council Annual Report 62 

Arts, Heritage and Community  
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP 2017/18 – 2024/25 

Oamaru Opera House 

Percentage of residents 
who are satisfied or very 
satisfied with the opera 
house 

Achieved: 
Residents’ Survey: 
92% of residents satisfied 
with the Opera House 
2017/18  
(2016/17 - 95% of residents 
satisfied with the Opera 
House) 

90% of residents are satisfied or very 
satisfied with the Opera House 

Number of community 
meetings and events held 
at the Opera House 

Achieved: 
145 community meetings and 
events held 
(2016/17 - 130 community 
meetings and events held) 

Maintain numbers of community 
meetings and events held 

Percentage increase in 
tickets sold for 
performances 

Achieved: 
Ticket sales up 1.48%  
(9,669)   
(2016/17 tickets sales – 
9,528) 

5% increase in the number of tickets 
sold for performances on the 
previous year 

Percentage growth in use 
of the Opera House for 
commercial meetings, 
events, functions and 
conferences 

Achieved: 
Events up 43.8% (to 187)  
(2016/17 - 130 events)  
 

5% increase in contracted hires on 
the previous year 

 
 
 
How we performed – Community Development Safety and Grants 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP 2017/18 – 2024/25 

Percentage of residents 
who are satisfied or very 
satisfied that Waitaki is a 
safe place to live 

Not achieved: 
Residents’ Survey: 
87% of residents satisfied that the 
Waitaki district is generally a safe 
place to be 
(2016/17 - 90% residents satisfied) 

95% of residents are 
satisfied or very satisfied 
that the Waitaki district is a 
safe place to live 
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Funding Impact Statement – Arts, Heritage and Community 

Arts, Heritage & Community Commentary on Major Changes

2016/17 2016/17 1 2017/18 2017/18

Actual Budget Actual Budget Commentary on Major Changes

$000 $000 $000 $000

 Sources of Operating Funding 

316 316  General Rates, Uniform Annual General Charge, Rates Penalties 364 361

3,170 3,170  Targeted Rates 3,324 3,323

3,486 3,486  Rates Revenue 3,688 3,684

98 111  Subsidies and Grants for Operating Purposes 113 117

669 395  Fees and Charges 330 359

 -  -  Interest and Dividends from Investments  -  - 

 -  -  Internal Charges and Overheads Recovered  -  - 

153 157  Local Authorities' Fuel Tax, Fines, Infringement Fees and Other Receipts 217 136

920 663  Operating Revenue 660 612

4,406 4,149  Total Sources of Operating Funding 4,348 4,296

 Applications of Operating Funding 

2,542 2,643  Payments to Staff and Suppliers 2,774 2,653

 -  -  Finance Costs  -  - 

1,357 1,347  Internal Charges and Overheads Applied 1,519 1,444

 -  -  Other Operating Funding Applications  -  - 

3,899 3,990  Total Applications of Operating Funding 4,293 4,097

507 159  Surplus / (Deficit) of Operating Funding 55 199

 Sources of Capital funding 

15 788  Subsidies and Grants for Capital Expenditure 20 2,000

 -  -  Development and Financial Contributions  -  - 

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Debt  -  - 

3  -  Gross Proceeds from Sale of Assets 3  - 

18 788  Total Sources of Capital Funding 23 2,000

 Applications of Capital funding 

Capital Expenditure

 -  -  Meet Additional Demand  -  - 

266 445  Improve Levels of Service 179 2,255

120 136  Replace Existing Assets 131 135

139 366  Increase / (Decrease) in Reserve (232) (191)

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Investments  -  - 

525 947  Total Applications for Capital Funding 78 2,199

(507) (159)  Surplus / (Deficit) of Capital Funding (55) (199)

 -  -  Funding Balance  -  - 

Levels of service are consistent with those 

anticipated in the Annual Plan, except that the 

redevelopment of the Cultural Facilities (Forrester 

Gallery, North Otago Museum and Archives) did 

not proceed as budgeted, and has been deferred 

pending further design and planning work. This 

chnage resulted in reduced capital revenue and 

expenditure
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Parks and Recreation 
 
What we did 
 
Aquatic Centre 
We offered a range of services at the Aquatic Centre including a comprehensive swim programme 
(new-borns through to competitive swimming), water safety skills, water aerobics and attractions in 
the form of rope swim, small slide and inflatables, fitness and holiday programmes.  Numbers using 
the facility exceeded 155,000 for the first time.  This has presented some challenges in managing 
demand at peak times and we continue to review how we can improve this with recent initiatives in 
price reductions to try to attract some use to non-peak hours. 
 
We kept our prices slightly lower than similar facilities in New Zealand and we continue to provide a 
variety of price options from single entry to ten swim and three month passes.  We also provided 
discounted entry for Community Services Card holders, Gold Card holders and Green Prescription 
referrals and sponsored 10 learn to swim registrations each term for struggling families. 
 
We provided coaching services to the Oamaru Swim Club who continue to punch well above their 
weight this year winning the award for the top performing swim club in the Mako Zone (South Island) 
at the New Zealand Junior Swim Meet.  Note: this is on a win basis and not on swim club size, so was 
a significant achievement.  In recognition of this Narcis Gherca picked up coach of the year at the 
North Otago Sports Awards for the third year in a row. 
 
Provided a venue for two Otago swim meets, various community fun days (such as the Lions Special 
Needs Pool Party), multiple School Swim sports and the South Island Secondary Schools Canoe Polo 
Championships (for the third time).  The Canoe Polo Championships are estimated to have brought 
3,500 people to Oamaru for the weekend.   
 
We also supported the Friendly Bay Fun Day by putting an inflatable into Friendly Bay as part of the 
festivities and provided grants in return for community access to school pools in Kurow and 
Palmerston. 
 
Lakes Camping 
We provided and maintained six traditional ‘kiwi style’ campgrounds at the Waitaki Lakes, along with 
boat ramps.  Numbers were higher than previous years with revenue 16% higher than forecast.  No 
major issues arose and campers had a great season.  Almost 1,000 plants were planted in Parson 
Rock Campground to offset the impact of removing the willows that threatened the transmission lines. 
 
Forestry 
As the majority of Council’s forestry blocks have been harvested in recent years, work focused on 
weed control and fencing issues. 
 
Parks 
Flooding in July resulted in reprioritising the work programme for the year and put pressure on staff 
and contractors.  Following a lull from November to January, rain continued in from February on.  In 
total, we received 950mm of rain for the year compared to a historic average of 565mm.  This amount 
of rain made maintenance difficult as resourcing is planned for a typical year and wet ground 
conditions mean that we are unable to access for maintenance without causing damage.  Despite 
these difficulties, maintenance was completed to a satisfactory level and a number of unsolicited 
compliments were received from members of the community and visitors on the condition of our 
reserves and particularly the Oamaru Public Gardens which many tourists rate highly. 
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Parks and Recreation 
 
A number of community groups and projects were supported by Council including;  

• A reinvigorated BMX club who have made great progress with construction of a new BMX 
track 

• The North Otago Mountain Bike Club who continue to develop and maintain a network of 
tracks for the community 

• A local Dog Obedience Group who have developed an agility area on Cape Wanbrow 

• Forest and Bird who continue to revegetate Cape Wanbrow and Fenwick Park 

• School groups and other members of the community with plantings in Glen Eden 

• The Kurow Island group and Otematata wetlands group who continue to develop their 
networks of trails and carry out beautification work 

• Other members of our community with progress being made on the ‘Lost Graves Memorial’ 
sign and in refurbishing the children’s area of the Oamaru Cemetery. 

 
A highlight was reinstating Craig Fountain in the Oamaru Public Gardens to a working state along with 
lighting enhancements courtesy of Rotary and Network Waitaki.   
 
The direction sign at the Oamaru lookout was refurbished with a ‘steampunk’ and world heritage 
focus. 
 
Historic informal dumpsites identified along Awamoa Beach were cleaned up and we are working with 
ORC to determine how these need to be managed. 
 
Sports 
We carried out a turf renovation programme to ensure our sportsfields are fit for sporting use as 
recommended by New Zealand Sports Turf Institute, including vibramoling, coring/pulverising and 
under-sowing. 
 

We completed drainage improvements to Mill Domain.  This has improved the situation, but ongoing 
turf improvement work such as liming and vibramoling will be required to progressively improve the 
predominantly clay based soil structure. 
 
Public Toilets 
With increasing tourist numbers, we continue to review our services and have applied for assistance 
from central government through their Tourism Infrastructure fund.  We are very conscious of the 
potential burden on our ratepayers in meeting increasing tourism needs and also of the environmental 
and community impact in not responding to this changing environment.  A new toilet block was 
installed in Dunback with support from central government funding and this has received favourable 
comments. 
 
Cemeteries 
We provided and maintained 11 open cemeteries for burials and maintained two additional closed 
cemeteries for the community.  New signs were installed in the Kurow Cemetery to assist visitors to 
orientate themselves. 
 
Alps to Ocean 
We continue to progress construction of the Alps to Ocean cycle trail with a section completed this 
year to avoid the Kurow Bluffs and consents obtained for the section from Sailors Cutting to Benmore 
Dam.  The Alps to Ocean is gaining recognition as one of the world’s great rides. 
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Parks and Recreation 
 
Community outcomes 
Recreation supports Council’s vision of Growing Waitaki – the best place to live, work and play.  We 
are a major contributor to the district’s quality of life, making Waitaki attractive to existing and 
prospective residents and businesses.   

• Provision of cemeteries contributes to open space in the district and helps to commemorate 
our history and loved ones.   

• Provision of public toilets helps to maintain a clean hygienic community that is attractive to 
residents and visitors. 

• Provision of green space and recreation opportunities: 
o Reduces stress and violence 
o Improves ability to concentrate 
o Enhances health and encourages rapid healing 
o Improves environmental conditions and moderates climate change  
o Reduces crime  
o Increases workplace productivity and reduces fatigue 
o Provides economic stimulation and increases property values  
o Teaches life and survival skills and fosters child development. 

 
What we do leads to a happier, healthier, safer and better connected community.  Council provides 
these facilities because the community desires them as they provide the social benefits outlined 
above but are not economic for private enterprise to supply.   

 
Community outcome How the activity contributes to the outcome 
We provide and enable services 
and facilities so people want to stay 
and move here 

By providing parks, gardens and greenspaces, sports 
and recreation facilities that contribute to the district’s 
quality of life, which in turn helps make Waitaki attractive 
to existing and prospective residents and businesses 

We keep our district affordable By providing activities at low cost or free to users and 
managing the activity efficiently and effectively 

We understand the diverse needs 
of our community 

By acknowledging the needs of the wider community and 
cultural and recreation/sport groups through the provision 
of multipurpose spaces 

We maintain the safest community 
we can 

By meeting industry standards and providing 
opportunities for people to feel safe while being active 
and to connect the community through sport and 
recreation 

Waitaki’s distinctive environment is 
valued and protected 

By complying with resource consents and regulations 
 
By providing opportunities for people to enjoy the 
district’s distinctive environment. 

We enable opportunities for new 
and existing businesses 

By providing facilities that contribute to the attractiveness 
of the district and create opportunities for new 
businesses, for example, tour operators, sports events, 
accommodation 
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Parks and Recreation 
 
How we performed 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP 2017/18 – 2024/25 

Percentage increase in 
visitors to the Waitaki 
Aquatic Centre 

Achieved: 
8.3% increase in visitors 
compared to 2016/17 when 
we closed for four weeks 
maintenance and 2.3% 
increase compared to 
2015/16. 
(2016/17: -5.5% decrease) 

1% increase in number of visits 
per annum (+1,373 per annum) 

Percentage of customers 
who are satisfied or very 
satisfied with the Waitaki 
Aquatic Centre 

Not achieved: 
Residents’ Survey: 
85% of customers satisfied 
with the Waitaki Aquatic 
Centre 
(2016/17: 87% customers 
satisfied) 

90% of customers satisfied or 
very satisfied with the Waitaki 
Aquatic Centre 

Percentage of residents 
who are satisfied or very 
satisfied with Waitaki’s 
parks and reserves 

Not achieved: 
Residents’ Survey: 
87% of residents satisfied 
with Waitaki’s parks and 
reserves 
(2016/17: 85% residents 
satisfied) 

90% of residents are satisfied or 
very satisfied with Waitaki’s parks 
and reserves 

Percentage of residents 
who have used the 
district’s camping grounds 
and are satisfied or very 
satisfied with the quality of 
the camping grounds 

Not achieved:  
Residents’ Survey: 
64% of users satisfied with 
the quality experience of the 
district’s camping grounds 
(2016/17: 66% users 
satisfied) 

90% of users are satisfied or very 
satisfied with the quality 
experience of the district’s 
camping grounds 

Percentage of residents 
who are satisfied or very 
satisfied with Waitaki’s 
sports fields and facilities 

Not achieved:  
Residents’ Survey: 
84% of residents satisfied 
with Waitaki’s sports fields 
and facilities 
(2016/17: 84% residents 
satisfied) 

90% of residents are satisfied or 
very satisfied with Waitaki’s sports 
fields and facilities 

Percentage of the 
residents who are satisfied 
or very satisfied with the 
district’s cemeteries 

Not achieved: 
Residents’ Survey: 
86% satisfaction with the 
district’s cemeteries 
(2016/17: 83% satisfaction) 

95% satisfaction with the district’s 
cemeteries 
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Funding Impact Statement – Parks and Recreation 

 

Parks & Recreation Commentary on Major Changes

2016/17 2016/17 1 2017/18 2017/18

Actual Budget Actual Budget Commentary on Major Changes

$000 $000 $000 $000

 Sources of Operating Funding 

677 678  General Rates, Uniform Annual General Charge, Rates Penalties 734 713

3,390 3,389  Targeted Rates 3,109 3,094

4,067 4,067  Rates Revenue 3,843 3,807

43 4  Subsidies and Grants for Operating Purposes 84 24

986 920  Fees and Charges 1,111 1,015

 -  -  Interest and Dividends from Investments  -  - 

 -  -  Internal Charges and Overheads Recovered  -  - 

456 20  Local Authorities' Fuel Tax, Fines, Infringement Fees and Other Receipts 235 8

1,485 944  Operating Revenue 1,430 1,047

5,552 5,011  Total Sources of Operating Funding 5,273 4,854

 Applications of Operating Funding 

3,993 3,688  Payments to Staff and Suppliers 3,943 3,565

 -  -  Finance Costs  -  - 

530 880  Internal Charges and Overheads Applied 814 1,021

 -  -  Other Operating Funding Applications  -  - 

4,523 4,568  Total Applications of Operating Funding 4,757 4,586

1,029 443  Surplus / (Deficit) of Operating Funding 516 268

 Sources of Capital funding 

77  -  Subsidies and Grants for Capital Expenditure 10 20

 -  -  Development and Financial Contributions  -  - 

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Debt  -  - 

320  -  Gross Proceeds from Sale of Assets 86  - 

397  -  Total Sources of Capital Funding 96 20

 Applications of Capital funding 

Capital Expenditure

 -  -  Meet Additional Demand  -  - 

278 342  Improve Levels of Service 61 93

91 243  Replace Existing Assets 324 468

1,057 (142)  Increase / (Decrease) in Reserve 227 (273)

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Investments  -  - 

1,426 443  Total Applications for Capital Funding 612 288

(1,029) (443)  Surplus / (Deficit) of Capital Funding (516) (268)

 -  -  Funding Balance  -  - 

Levels of service are consistent with those 

anticipated in the Annual Plan.
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Commercial and Development Activities 
 
The Commercial and Development Activities group of activities include: 

• Economic Development, Grants and Services 

• Commercial Holdings 

• Community Property 

• Property Holdings 

• Public Toilets 
 
What we did 
 

• Oamaru Court House seismic strengthening project commenced in February and is 
expected to finish late September.  Court services will be returned to the building once the 
building works are complete. 

• An agreement was reached to enable a luxury, boutique accommodation complex to be built 
at the corner of Tyne Street and Arun Street.  The sale of the site comprising of 6,200m2 

follows Council’s call for expressions of interest from developers in August last year.  The 
accommodation complex will comprise approximately 20-24 guest sites and be designed to 
enhance the area. 

• A lease was negotiated with the New Zealand Airline Academy at Oamaru Airport who will 
commence commercial airline pilot training operations.  An initial intake of approximately 20 
trainee pilots is anticipated for 2018/19 and will complete around 4,000 flights over the first 
10-12 month period.  It is expected that NZAA will employ 10 staff locally and will have 30-
50 commercial pilot trainees within a 2-3 year period. 

• Due to the flooding event in July, the basement of the main Council headquarters building 
needed extensive remedial works.  Thankfully there was no damage to Council records but 
it was a labour intensive task to relocate thousands of records whilst the building 
remediation work took place. 

• Council staff accommodation was well below NZ guidelines for office space and this was 
affecting productivity.  A project to relocate 80 staff was completed through the main 
headquarters building.  This also involved leasing additional external premises for 17 staff. 

• Council strategically purchased the adjacent building at 24 Thames Street as an investment, 
but as a possibility for future staff accommodation. 

• A number of harbour projects are underway.  The slipway capacity was upgraded to take up 
to 12 tonnes which enables most harbour boats to be able to use the slipway.  Dredging has 
been scoped and will commence in 2018/19.  Holmes Wharf deck replacement has also 
been scoped.  Some minor projects have also been completed such as moving the Betsy 
mast and signalman’s hut to improve navigational safety. 

• Intern accommodation was sourced and fitted out.   

• Six Community Housing units were renovated, two were partially renovated. 

• Community Housing units are fully tenanted with a waiting list in place. 

• Planning is underway to repeal historic legislation from 1875 which prevents the RSA from 
being used for anything other than Recreation.   

• Renovations undertaken to various commercial, residential and operational buildings e.g. 
insulation, heating, carpet, etc. 

• Carried out seismic and asbestos assessments on Council-owned buildings. 
 
Public Toilets 

• We installed a new toilet block and wastewater treatment system at Dunback to replace the old 
facility.  This was completed with funding from MBIE. 

• We made application in the third round of Ministry of Business and Innovation funding for support 
for replacement toilet blocks at Otematata, All Day Bay, Kātiki Straight and for a new dump station 
in Palmerston. 

• We partnered with other agencies in the Mackenzie to develop a working group in order to plan a 
co-ordinated response to tourism needs. 
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Commercial and Development Activities 
 

Community outcomes 
 

Community outcome How the activity contributes to the outcome 

We enable opportunities for new and existing 
businesses 

By contributing to the economy of the district 

We keep our district affordable By effectively managing the property portfolio, meaning 
returns are maximised and rates input is minimised 

We provide and enable services and 
facilities so people want to stay and move 
here 

By providing properties that meet the needs of the 
community, meaning that people are more likely to want 
to stay and they will encourage others to move here 

 

 
How we performed - Commercial and Development Activities 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP 2017/18 – 2024/25 

Tenants are satisfied or 
very satisfied with their 
tenancy as a percentage 
of all tenancies by 
annual user survey: 
a) Community housing 
tenants 
b) Commercial 
tenants 

Achieved: 
a) 98% of community housing 
tenants satisfied with their 
tenancy (2016/17: 96% of 
community housing tenants 
satisfied with their tenancy) 
b) 90% of commercial tenants 
satisfied with their tenancy.  
(2016/17: 98% of commercial 
tenants satisfied with their 
tenancy) 

a) 80% of community housing 
tenants satisfied with their 
tenancy 
 
 
b) 75% of commercial tenants 
are satisfied with their tenancy 

Individual tenancies 
are occupied as a 
percentage of 
available 
units/tenancies: 

a) Community housing 
units 
 
b) Commercial tenancies 

Achieved:  
a) 97% of community housing 
units occupied (2016/17: 93% of 
community housing units 
occupied) 
b) 100% of commercial tenancies 
occupied (2016/17: 100% of 
commercial tenancies occupied) 

 

a) 80% of community housing 
units occupied 
 
 
b) 80% of commercial 
tenancies occupied 

Percentage of residents 
who are satisfied or very 
satisfied with public toilets 

Not achieved:  
Residents’ Survey 
73% of residents satisfied with 
public toilets (2016/17: 74% 
residents satisfied) 

 
80% of residents are satisfied 
with public toilets 

North Otago Irrigation 
Company (NOIC) annual 
report on financial, 
environmental, service, 
economic and social 
benefits 

Not achieved: 
Six monthly report to 31 
December 2017 was received 
on 5 October 2018 
 
Achieved: 
Annual Report for year ended 30 
June 2017 was received on 
5 October 2018 

Six monthly report submitted 
by 30 April in Years 1 to 3 
 
 
 
Audited Annual Report 
submitted by 30 November in 
Years 1 to 3 

Annual return on 
investment in NOIC 

Achieved:  
Annual rate of return on the 
NOIC investment for 2017/18 
was 3.28% (3.58% in 2016/17) 

Annual return equals market 
one year swap rate of 2.03% 
(2017: 2.33%) plus 1.25% 
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Funding Impact Statement - Commercial and Development Activities 

Commercial & Development Activities Commentary on Major Changes

2016/17 2016/17 1 2017/18 2017/18

Actual Budget Actual Budget Commentary on Major Changes

$000 $000 $000 $000

 Sources of Operating Funding 

613 617  General Rates, Uniform Annual General Charge, Rates Penalties (35) 206

549 540  Targeted Rates 816 800

1,162 1,157  Rates Revenue 781 1,006

5  -  Subsidies and Grants for Operating Purposes 45  - 

1,523 1,325  Fees and Charges 1,622 1,430

1,974 1,257  Interest and Dividends from Investments 1,724 1,474

(665) (765)  Internal Charges and Overheads Recovered (568) (590)

426 523  Local Authorities' Fuel Tax, Fines, Infringement Fees and Other Receipts 404 433

3,263 2,340  Operating Revenue 3,227 2,747

4,425 3,497  Total Sources of Operating Funding 4,008 3,753

 Applications of Operating Funding 

3,375 3,287  Payments to Staff and Suppliers 2,591 2,749

 -  -  Finance Costs  -  - 

55 53  Internal Charges and Overheads Applied 31 133

 -  -  Other Operating Funding Applications  -  - 

3,430 3,340  Total Applications of Operating Funding 2,622 2,882

995 157  Surplus / (Deficit) of Operating Funding 1,386 871

 Sources of Capital funding 

684 1,300  Subsidies and Grants for Capital Expenditure 260 250

811  -  Development and Financial Contributions 1,028  - 

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Debt  -  - 

413 50  Gross Proceeds from Sale of Assets 706 239

1,908 1,350  Total Sources of Capital Funding 1,994 489

 Applications of Capital funding 

Capital Expenditure

 -  -  Meet Additional Demand  -  - 

1,662 1,675  Improve Levels of Service 1,479 4,828

471  -  Replace Existing Assets 137 700

770 (168)  Increase / (Decrease) in Reserve 1,764 (4,168)

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Investments  -  - 

2,903 1,507  Total Applications for Capital Funding 3,380 1,360

(995) (157)  Surplus / (Deficit) of Capital Funding (1,386) (871)

 -  -  Funding Balance  -  - 

Interest rates remain below levels anticipated in 

the Annual Plan, but deferred capital projects 

and proceeds of property sales have resulted in 

Council having more funds available for 

investment. Dividends received from subsidiaries 

exceeded budget, and resulted in a healthy 

return from investments. 
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Environment, Regulation and Safety  
 
The Environment, Regulation and Safety group of activities include: 

• Building Control 

• Environmental Health and Safety 

• Animal Control 

• Emergency Management 

• District Planning 
 

 
What we did 
 
Regulatory Services 

• 98.4% of building consents were issued within 20 working days with 4 months at 100%.  This was 
a much more consistent result than previous years. 

• The Outstanding Code Compliance Certificate project is 75% completed and on track to finish in 
September 2018. 

• 25% reduction in animal control complaints. 

• 100% of on and off licensed premises inspections completed. 

• The Waitaki Districts Food outlets have successfully transitioned from the Food Hygiene Act to 
the requirements of the Food Act 2014. 

• A breakfast training seminar was held with the Alcohol Industry and supported by the Health 
Promotion Agency and Public Health South. 

• Officers attended a Ministry of Justice forum to discuss consistent New Zealand wide reporting 
requirements in regards to the Sale and Supply of Alcohol Act 2012.   

 
District Planning  

• 93% of Resource Consents were processed within the required timeframes.   

• Participated in MacKenzie Alignment project. 

• Participated in National Standards Framework. 
 
Waitaki Civil Defence Emergency Management 
Otago’s new Civil Defence organisation has been bedding in as the new shared service managed and 
run from Otago Regional Council (ORC) headquarters under the leadership of Civil Defence Regional 
Manager, Chris Hawker.   
 
The team has not had to reactivate since the July 2017 flooding event, which caused approximately 
$1.5m worth of damage across Council’s assets and activities.  A new Emergency Management 
Leadership Team (ERLT) has been formed in Council and has been reviewing a number of processes 
to further improve Council’s ability to respond in an event.  This included an exercise on 27 June 
2018, which has identified a number of further improvements for the team to consider and implement. 
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Environment, Regulation and Safety 
 

Community outcomes 
 

Community outcome How the activity contributes to the outcome 

We keep our district affordable By managing the activity efficiently and effectively 

We provide services and facilities so 
people want to stay and move here 

By providing building control services in a professional 
and efficient manner 

We enable opportunities for new and 
existing businesses 

By ensuring building consents are processed 
accurately, efficiently and within statutory timeframes 

We enable opportunities for new and 
existing businesses 

By ensuring sufficient land is zoned for business, 
commercial and rural activities 

We maintain the safest community we can By ensuring buildings are safe and do not pose a risk 
to the public 
 

By ensuring that food for sale to the public is prepared 
in safe premises that meet food hygiene regulations 
 

By ensuring the threat to the community from nuisance 
or dangerous dogs or wandering stock is minimised 
 

By having a fully functional Emergency Operations 
Centre and trained and competent emergency 
management personnel to ensure we play an active 
role in supporting and co-ordinating emergency 
responses in the district 

Waitaki’s distinctive environment is valued 
and protected 

By resolving commercial and domestic environmental 
impacts 
 

By monitoring approved resource consents and 
conditions to minimise environmental impact and 
promote sustainable land management 

 

 
How we performed – Environment, Regulation and Safety 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP 2017/18 – 2024/25 

Percentage of resource 
consents processed are 
within the statutory 
timeframes 

Not achieved: 94% of resource 
consents processed within statutory 
timeframes 
(2016/17 100% of resource 
consents (166) processed within 
statutory timeframes) 

100% of resource consents are 
processed within the statutory 
timeframes 

Percentage of approved 
resource consents 
implemented 

Not achieved: 
Unable to be measured: 
Consent holders have a five year 
timeframe in which to implement 
the approved consent. 
(2016/17: Unable to be measured)  

100% of implemented 
subdivision consents and 
notified land use consents 
 
50% of implemented non-
notified land use consents 
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Environment, Regulation and Safety 
 

How we performed – Environment, Regulation and Safety continued 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP 2017/18 – 2024/25 

Percentage of building 
consents processed 
within 20 working days 

Not achieved: 
98.57% of the 697 consents were 
processed in 20 working days.  Consents 
have increased by 12% from the previous 
year 
(2016/17: 88% building consents 
approved within 20 working days)  

100% of building 
consents processed 
within 20 working days 

Percentage of public 
buildings with specified 
systems audited 
annually against 
building compliance 
standards 
 
High risk buildings 
(such as hotels) checked 
more than once every 
five years 

Achieved: 
23% of buildings have been audited in 
the past 12 months 
(2016/17 - 69 premises audited; 20.5% of 
total register)  
 
 
Not achieved: 98.5% of high risk 
buildings have been audited at least once 
in the past five years  
(2016/17: Achieved 100%) 

 
20% of premises 
audited 
 
 
 
 
High risk buildings (such 
as hotels) checked more 
than once every five 
years 

Percentage of Category 
1 food premises and 
Category 2 and 3 
premises inspected 
annually 

Not achieved  
Under the Food Act 2014, Food Premises 
now receive a verification visit based on 
its risk.  Dependent on its performance a 
premise may receive more than one visit 
a year.  Council is required to complete a 
verification visit within one month of it 
becoming due and it is our intention to 
complete 100% within this timeframe.  
Reporting is still under development.   
 
2016/17: 
Category 1 - 106% of category 1 food 
premises inspected (note: percentage of 
premises inspected exceeded 100% due 
to 12 registered premises changing 
ownership) 
Category 2 and 3 
72% of category 2 food premises 
inspected  
69% of category 3 food premises 
inspected 

Annual inspection of 
100% of Category 1 
food premises 
 
 
 
Annual inspection of 
50% of Category 2 and 
3 premises 
 

Percentage of high risk 
licenced premises 
inspected every six 
months 

Achieved: 
100% of high risk licenced premises 
inspected every six months 
(2016/17: 100% of high risk licenced 
premises inspected every six months)  

100% of high risk 
licenced premises 
inspected every six 
months 

Number of reported dog 
attacks 

Achieved: 
29 dog attacks reported 
(2016/17: 26 dog attacks reported)  

The number of reported 
dog attacks is less than 
54 

Menacing and 
dangerous dog incidents 
responded to within two 
hours of notification 

Not achieved: 
Every endeavour is made to respond to 
dog attacks quickly.  A change in 
reporting system has overlooked the 
development of this report.   

100% of menacing and 
dangerous dog incidents 
responded to within two 
hours of notification 
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Environment, Regulation and Safety  
 
How we performed – Environment, Regulation and Safety continued 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP 2017/18 – 2024/25 

Percentage of urgent 
stock control incidents 
responded to within two 
hours of notification 

Not achieved: 
98% of stock control incidents 
responded to within two hours of 
notification 
 (2016/17 - No urgent stock incidents 
reported) 

100% of urgent stock 
control incidents 
responded to within two 
hours of notification 

 
 
How we performed – Environment, Regulation and Safety 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP 2017/18 – 2024/25 

Number of fully trained 
and competent 
Emergency Operations 
Centre (EOC) staff 

Achieved: 
41 EOC Staff not counting Technical 
support or I.T help.  Of those 41 there 
is a vast range in level of EOC 
competence 
(2016/17: Not Achieved) 

35 fully trained and 
competent EOC staff 

Percentage of residents 
who are satisfied or very 
satisfied with emergency 
services 

Not achieved: 
Residents’ Survey: 
72% satisfaction with the district’s 
emergency services 
(2016/17 - 63% satisfaction) 

75% of residents are 
satisfied or very satisfied 
with emergency services 
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Funding Impact Statement – Environment, Regulation and Safety 

 

Environment, Regulation & Safety Commentary on Major Changes

2016/17 2016/17 1 2017/18 2017/18

Actual Budget Actual Budget Commentary on Major Changes

$000 $000 $000 $000

 Sources of Operating Funding 

2,141 2,028  General Rates, Uniform Annual General Charge, Rates Penalties 2,447 2,329

490 487  Targeted Rates 70 68

2,631 2,515  Rates Revenue 2,517 2,397

4  -  Subsidies and Grants for Operating Purposes 3  - 

1,526 1,404  Fees and Charges 1,579 1,605

 -  -  Interest and Dividends from Investments  -  - 

 -  -  Internal Charges and Overheads Recovered  -  - 

88 45  Local Authorities' Fuel Tax, Fines, Infringement Fees and Other Receipts 145 76

1,618 1,449  Operating Revenue 1,727 1,681

4,249 3,964  Total Sources of Operating Funding 4,244 4,078

 Applications of Operating Funding 

1,200 1,237  Payments to Staff and Suppliers 926 1,469

 -  -  Finance Costs  -  - 

3,099 2,973  Internal Charges and Overheads Applied 3,065 2,869

 -  -  Other Operating Funding Applications  -  - 

4,299 4,210  Total Applications of Operating Funding 3,991 4,338

(50) (246)  Surplus / (Deficit) of Operating Funding 253 (260)

 Sources of Capital funding 

 -  -  Subsidies and Grants for Capital Expenditure  -  - 

168 90  Development and Financial Contributions 320 175

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Debt  -  - 

 -  -  Gross Proceeds from Sale of Assets  -  - 

168 90  Total Sources of Capital Funding 320 175

 Applications of Capital funding 

Capital Expenditure

 -  -  Meet Additional Demand  -  - 

11 500  Improve Levels of Service  -  - 

 -  -  Replace Existing Assets 1  - 

107 (656)  Increase / (Decrease) in Reserve 572 (85)

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Investments  -  - 

118 (156)  Total Applications for Capital Funding 573 (85)

50 246  Surplus / (Deficit) of Capital Funding (253) 260

 -  -  Funding Balance  -  - 

Levels of service are consistent with those 

anticipated in the Annual Plan. The budget 

anticipated continuing increases in cost, and 

also that work to progress the district plan would 

proceed, but actual expenditure has been 

constrained
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Democracy and Accountability 
 

The Democracy and Accountability group of activities includes: 

• Waitaki District Council 

• Ahuriri and Waihemo Community Boards 

• Community Planning 

• Community Accountability 
 

Council and Community Boards are governance bodies forming a vital link between communities and 
Council staff who manage assets and activities.  Council and Community Boards are ‘democracy in 
action’.  Elections every three years give citizens the opportunity to express their opinion on how well 
Councillors and Community Boards have performed.  Residents’ surveys and other measures shown 
below supplement the election decisions made by citizens of the district. 
 

Under Section 78 of the Local Government Act 2002 a local authority must, in the course of its 
decision-making process in relation to a matter, give consideration to the views and preferences of 
persons likely to be affected by, or to have an interest in, the matter. 
 
 
Council and Community Boards – What we did 
 

Council 

• Elected Members Induction October 2017  

• 2016/17 Annual Report adopted 25 October 2017 

• 2018 – 28 Long Term Plan adopted 26 June 2018 

• Waste Management and Minimisation Plan 2018-24 adopted 26 June 2018 

• 2018 Development and Financial Contributions Policy adopted 29 May 2018 

• Revenue and Financing Policy adopted 26 June 2018 

• General Bylaw adopted 8 May 2018 
 
 
Ahuriri Community Board 

• Approved a budget of $19,000 from the Otematata Amenity Rate for the Otematata East Road 
Traffic Island Improvement Works.   

• Renewed the contract with the Waitaki Valley Community Society’s Ahuriri Ward Agency 
Services.   

• Commenced negotiations with Tourism Waitaki to get a service agreement in place with the 
Waitaki Valley Society for an Information Centre in Kurow.   

• Agreed to support the expenditure of $2,500 from its Community Board Discretionary Fund for 
the swimming area zone at Parsons Rock, in conjunction with ECAN. 

• Approved Otematata Sports Club’s request to construct cricket practice nets on the Otematata 
Domain.   

• Approved the payment of Otago Maintenance Limited’s invoice for pontoon work at Otematata, in 
the amount of $2,500 (excluding GST). 

• Visioning workshops were held in (Kurow, Otematata and Ōmārama), to discuss and agree a 
way forward with suggestions for the Long Term Plan and the District Plan. 

• Approved the purchase of a drinking fountain for installation in each of the three townships 
(Kurow, Otematata and Ōmārama), with funding to come from the minor parks improvement fund 
for the Ahuriri Ward. 
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Democracy and Accountability 
 
Waihemo Community Board 

• Approved a contribution of up to $20,000 for the construction of a dish channel of about 130 
metres along the frontages on Lincoln Street connecting to the State Highway kerb, to be funded 
from the Hampden Amenity Rate, subject to suitable funding being identified which is acceptable 
to the Community Board. 

• Approved a budget of $15,000 to repair the Palmerston Town Clock funded from the Waihemo 
Community Board Community Grants fund. 

• February 2018 approved: 
o The construction of a nib kerb on Muir Street intersection with Stour Street, up to a budget 

of $10,000, funded from the Palmerston Amenity Rate. 
o The construction of a nib kerb at Ross Park intersection with Stromness and Runbrake 

Streets, up to a budget of $7,000, funded from the Palmerston Amenity Rate. 
o Funding of up to $6,000 from the Waihemo reserve improvement fund to: 

▪ Install bollards to separate the Hampden Beach playground from the road 
and parking areas, AND 

▪ Provide an additional picnic table at Hampden Beach. 

• Visioning workshops were held in Dunback, Palmerston and Moeraki to discuss and agree a way 
forward with suggestions for the Long Term Plan and the District Plan.   

• Approved a contribution of $320 to the Palmerston Scooter Competition being held at the 
Palmerston Skate Park in November 2018 payable from the Waihemo Community Board 
Discretionary Fund. 

• Approved funding from Discretionary Fund to assist with the sound system at "Tina`s Mini Show." 

• Providing support to assist in progression of streetscaping projects in Dunback and Hampden. 
 
 
Community outcomes 
 

Community outcome How the activity contributes to the outcome 

We keep our district affordable By providing governance structures, planning and 
reporting to provide cost effective, good quality 
infrastructure, public services and regulatory 
functions 

We provide and enable services and 
facilities so people want to stay and move 
here 

By providing opportunities for the community to 
actively contribute to democratic local decision 
making on services and facilities 

We understand the diverse needs of our 
community 

By providing opportunities to participate in democratic 
local decision making through representation on 
Community Boards, Council and by consultation 
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Democracy and Accountability 
 
How we performed – Democracy and Accountability 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP 2017/18 – 2024/25 

Percentage of plans, 
policies and bylaws 
adopted and reviewed 
within statutory 
timeframes 

Achieved: 
100% of plans, policies and bylaws 
required by legislation* adopted within 
statutory timeframes  
These included: 

• 2016/17 Annual Report adopted 
25 October 2017 

• 2018 – 28 Long Term Plan 
adopted 26 June 2018 

• Waste Management and 
Minimisation Plan 2018-24 
adopted 26 June 2018 

• 2018 Development and Financial 
Contributions Policy adopted 29 
May 2018 

• Revenue and Financing Policy 
adopted 26 June 2018 

• General Bylaw adopted 8 May 
2018 

• District Plan Review progressing 
 
* Note as the Strategic Work 
Programme is currently being 
reviewed this measure reports against 
what is required by legislation.   
 
(2016/17: 100% of plans, policies and 
bylaws 100% of plans, policies and 
bylaws identified in the Strategic Work 
Programme adopted within statutory 
timeframes) 

 
100% of plans, policies 
and bylaws identified in 
the Strategic Work 
Programme adopted 
within statutory 
timeframes 

Percentage of residents 
satisfied or very satisfied 
with the performance of 
the Mayor and Councillors 

Not achieved: 
Residents’ Survey: 
56% of residents satisfied with the 
performance of Mayor and 
Councillors 
(57% in 2016/17)  

75% of residents are 
satisfied or very satisfied 
with the performance of 
the Mayor and Councillors 
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Democracy and Accountability 
 
How we performed - Democracy and Accountability  
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP 2017/18 – 2024/25 

   

Percentage of residents 
satisfied or very satisfied 
with the performance of 
the Ahuriri Community 
Board 

Not achieved: 
Residents’ Survey: 
44% of residents satisfied with the 
performance of the Ahuriri Community 
Board  
(49% in 2016/17) 

85% of residents rate the 
performance of the Ahuriri 
Community Board as 
satisfactory or very 
satisfactory 

Percentage of residents 
satisfied or very satisfied 
with the performance of 
the Waihemo Community 
Board 

Not achieved: 
Residents’ Survey: 
49% of residents satisfied with the 
performance of the Waihemo 
Community Board  
(46% in 2016/17) 

85% of residents rate the 
performance of the 
Waihemo Community 
Board as satisfactory or 
very satisfactory 

Percentage of residents 
satisfied or very satisfied 
with consultation and 
engagement 

Not achieved: 
Residents’ Survey: 
39% of residents satisfied with 
consultation and engagement  
(43% in 2016/17) 

60% of residents satisfied 
or very satisfied with 
consultation and 
engagement 
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Funding Impact Statement – Democracy and Accountability 

Democracy and Accountability Commentary on Major Changes

2016/17 2016/17 1 2017/18 2017/18

Actual Budget Actual Budget Commentary on Major Changes

$000 $000 $000 $000

 Sources of Operating Funding 

1,971 1,968  General Rates, Uniform Annual General Charge, Rates Penalties 2,271 2,187

1,538 1,529  Targeted Rates 1,668 1,682

3,509 3,497  Rates Revenue 3,939 3,869

28 31  Subsidies and Grants for Operating Purposes 1 34

 -  -  Fees and Charges  -  - 

 -  -  Interest and Dividends from Investments  -  - 

 -  -  Internal Charges and Overheads Recovered  -  - 

39 56  Local Authorities' Fuel Tax, Fines, Infringement Fees and Other Receipts 1  - 

67 87  Operating Revenue 2 34

3,576 3,584  Total Sources of Operating Funding 3,941 3,903

 Applications of Operating Funding 

1,107 1,156  Payments to Staff and Suppliers 917 983

 -  -  Finance Costs  -  - 

2,344 2,642  Internal Charges and Overheads Applied 2,674 3,010

 -  -  Other Operating Funding Applications  -  - 

3,451 3,798  Total Applications of Operating Funding 3,591 3,993

125 (214)  Surplus / (Deficit) of Operating Funding 350 (90)

 Sources of Capital funding 

 -  -  Subsidies and Grants for Capital Expenditure  -  - 

 -  -  Development and Financial Contributions  -  - 

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Debt  -  - 

 -  -  Gross Proceeds from Sale of Assets  -  - 

 -  -  Total Sources of Capital Funding  -  - 

 Applications of Capital funding 

Capital Expenditure

 -  -  Meet Additional Demand  -  - 

 -  -  Improve Levels of Service  -  - 

 -  -  Replace Existing Assets  -  - 

125 (214)  Increase / (Decrease) in Reserve 350 (90)

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Investments  -  - 

125 (214)  Total Applications for Capital Funding 350 (90)

(125) 214  Surplus / (Deficit) of Capital Funding (350) 90

 -  -  Funding Balance  -  - 

Levels of service are consistent with those 

anticipated in the Annual Plan. 
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Support Services (Net Allocated) 

Support Services (Net Allocated) Commentary on Major Changes

2016/17 2016/17 1 2017/18 2017/18

Actual Budget Actual Budget Commentary on Major Changes

$000 $000 $000 $000

 Sources of Operating Funding 

 -  -  General Rates, Uniform Annual General Charge, Rates Penalties  -  - 

 -  -  Targeted Rates  -  - 

 -  -  Rates Revenue  -  - 

19  -  Subsidies and Grants for Operating Purposes  -  - 

2 6  Fees and Charges 4 1

 -  -  Interest and Dividends from Investments  -  - 

15,774 16,713  Internal Charges and Overheads Recovered 17,409 17,944

28 17  Local Authorities' Fuel Tax, Fines, Infringement Fees and Other Receipts 74 45

15,823 16,736  Operating Revenue 17,487 17,990

15,823 16,736  Total Sources of Operating Funding 17,487 17,990

 Applications of Operating Funding 

11,197 11,222  Payments to Staff and Suppliers 11,222 12,012

 -  -  Finance Costs  -  - 

4,663 4,950  Internal Charges and Overheads Applied 5,457 5,255

 -  -  Other Operating Funding Applications  -  - 

15,860 16,172  Total Applications of Operating Funding 16,679 17,267

(37) 564  Surplus / (Deficit) of Operating Funding 808 723

 Sources of Capital funding 

 -  -  Subsidies and Grants for Capital Expenditure  -  - 

 -  -  Development and Financial Contributions  -  - 

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Debt  -  - 

70 85  Gross Proceeds from Sale of Assets 73 26

70 85  Total Sources of Capital Funding 73 26

 Applications of Capital funding 

Capital Expenditure

 -  -  Meet Additional Demand  -  - 

92 235  Improve Levels of Service 354 35

372 485  Replace Existing Assets 355 176

(431) (71)  Increase / (Decrease) in Reserve 172 538

 -  -  Increase / (Decrease) in Investments  -  - 

33 649  Total Applications for Capital Funding 881 749

37 (564)  Surplus / (Deficit) of Capital Funding (808) (723)

 -  -  Funding Balance  -  - 

Levels of service are consistent with those 

anticipated in the Annual Plan. The programme 

of replacement and upgrading of computer 

systems has been stepped up this year
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Council Controlled Organisations (CCOs) 
 
Council holds shares in four Council Controlled Organisations (CCOs).  Council reconsiders its 
reason for ownership annually by reviewing each company’s Statement of Intent.  The four CCOs are 
particularly diverse in their functions and objectives. 
 

• Council promotes and supports economic development and tourism through Tourism Waitaki Ltd 
and, through its 50% ownership of Ōmārama Airfield Ltd, supports one of the world’s best gliding 
centres which brings both tourism and economic benefits to the district. 

 

• Council provides on-going support for health services and other important social functions for the 
community through its continued ownership and support of Waitaki District Health Services Ltd. 

 

• Whitestone Contracting Ltd provides contracting services to Council and to other customers 
throughout and beyond the Waitaki district, retaining employment, revenue and economic benefits 
within the district. 

 
Subsidiary companies are required to submit regular six-monthly reports on their financial and 
operational affairs, and to provide annual reports and audited financial statements within two months 
of the end of the financial year. 
 
Each business must report its achievements against targets set out in its individual Statement of 
Intent – full detail of these achievements, and the full financial statements, may be obtained directly 
from the companies concerned. 
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Ōmārama Airfield Limited 
 
The company was established in 1993 as a joint venture between Council and the Ōmārama Soaring 
Centre Inc. to develop and operate the Ōmārama Airfield.  Each shareholder holds 50% of the issued 
shares, but as Council appoints a majority of the Directors, the company, under the provisions of the 
Local Government Act 2002, is deemed to be a Council Controlled Organisation (CCO). 
 
Council’s primary objective for continued involvement in the ownership and control of the company is 
to advance and promote tourism and provide economic benefits and opportunity within the district. 
 
Community outcomes 

• Provide and enable services and facilities so people want to visit or reside in the district. 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP 2017/18 – 2024/25 

Maintain, operate and provide 
planned services within 
budgeted income 

Achieved – Revenue was 
over budget by 1.3% and 
expenses were 4.7% 
under budget 
 
The surplus after tax was 
better than budget by 
$6,181 
 
 

Operate and provide planned 
services within budgeted income 
 
 
 
Achieve a break-even or better 
result after prudent provision for 
assets depreciation and 
replacement, and for future trading 
requirements 

Enhance the economic 
benefits to the Ōmārama and 
Ahuriri community arising 
from the operation and 
development of the airfield as 
measured by increased 
patronage of facilities and 
participation in events 

Estimated 1,500 (2017: 
1,500) visitors annually 
enjoy local amenities.  
Local contractors are 
used for maintenance, 
and at least 20 people 
work at the airfield during 
the season.  Hosted a ten 
day Youth Glide camp, 
and numerous other 
events, all contributing to 
the local economy  
 

Maintain or improve economic 
benefits  

 
The Company received an unqualified audit report for the year ended 30 June 2018 on 14 August 
2018.  A full copy of the Company's Annual Report is available at the Company's offices. 
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Tourism Waitaki Limited 
 
Tourism Waitaki Limited (formerly Waitaki Development Board Limited) was established in December 
1996, and is 100% owned by Council.  Under the provisions of the Local Government Act 2002, is 
deemed to be a Council Controlled Organisation (CCO). 
 
Council’s primary objective for continued ownership and control of the company is to advance and 
promote tourism within the district. 
 
Community outcomes 

• Enable opportunities for new and existing business 

• Provide and enable services and facilities so people want to visit and reside in the district 

• Waitaki’s distinctive environment is valued and protected 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP 2017/18 – 2024/25 

Growth in visitors from core 
domestic markets 

Domestic visitor bed nights 
reduced by 0.8% overall 
compared with 2017, 
although international 
visitor bed nights rose 11%. 
 
Signage strategy still in 
development  

Achieve annual growth in visitors 
from core domestic markets 
 
 
 
 

Signage strategy developed and 
implemented 

Expansion of current trade 
ready products 

Continue development of  
Whitestone City product 
and OBPC facilities, 
enhance the Alps2Ocean 
Trail, support new 
operators – Waitaki River 
Braids and Heliventures 

Develop new trade ready 
products  

Travel infrastructure 
network expanded 

Opened an Information 
Centre in Omarama and 
co-funded the Kurow 
information Centre 

Expand travel infrastructure 
network 

International Marketing 
Alliance (IMA) agreements in 
place across the South 
Island 

IMA agreements in place 
covering the South Island 

International Marketing Alliance 
agreements in place 

Industry affiliations 
expanded 

Working with Christchurch 
International Airport “South” 
brand and in discussions 
with Dunedin Airport to 
grow it as a gateway to the 
Southern Region 

Expand wider industry affiliations  

Increased inbound 
operators (IBO) visitors 

Growth of 13% in trade-
related OBPC ticket sales  

Increase number of Inward Bound 
Organised visitors 

Growth in TRENZ attendees 
from the district 

TRENZ 2018 in Dunedin  
co-sponsored by Tourism 
Waitaki. New operators 
were Steampunk, 
Whitestone City and Cycle 
Journeys. Whitestone 
Cheese was a product 
sponsor at the event 

Increase number of TRENZ 
attendees 

 
The Company received an unqualified audit report for the year ended 30 June 2018 on 23 September 
2018.  A full copy of the Company's Annual Report is available at the Company's offices.   
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Waitaki District Health Services Limited 
 
Waitaki District Health Services Limited was established in 1997 for the charitable purpose of 
providing health services to the community, and is 100% owned by Council.  Under the provisions of 
the Local Government Act 2002, it is deemed to be a Council Controlled Organisation. 
 
Council’s primary objective for continued ownership and control is to ensure the healthcare needs and 
interests of the district are met through the provision of quality, locally based, healthcare services, 
principally at Oamaru Hospital. 
 
Community outcomes 

• Provide and enable services and facilities so people want to visit and reside in the district 

• Maintain a safe and healthy community 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP 2017/18 – 2024/25 

Fulfilment of all 
professional and technical 
standards 

Achieved – confirmed by 
regular independent audits 

Meet all professional and technical 
standards 

Forums provided for 
effective collaboration with 
stakeholders 

Achieved – held the planned 
number of forum meetings 

Provide adequate forums for 
effective collaboration with 
stakeholders 

Percentage compliance 
with all performance 
targets and service 
standards required by the 
Ministry of Health 
contractual arrangements 
with the company 

Achieved all performance 
targets and standards 
required under contracts 
with both the Ministry of 
Health and the Southern 
District Health Board 

100% compliance with performance 
targets and service standards 
required under the Ministry of Health 
contractual arrangements with the 
company 

Percentage of planned 
services provided within 
budget 

Achieved – all planned 
services were delivered, 
although the company did 
not achieve its planned 
financial surplus 

Operate and provide 100% of 
planned services within budgeted 
income including services contract 
with District Health Board 

 
The Group comprises Waitaki District Health Services Limited and Waitaki District Health Services 
Trust. 
 
The Company and Group received an unqualified audit report for the year ended 30 June 2018 on 29 
September 2018.  A full copy of the Company's Annual Report is available at the Company's offices. 
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Whitestone Contracting Limited 
 
Whitestone Contracting Limited (formerly Whitestone Limited) was established in 1991 and is 100% 
owned by Council.  Under the provisions of the Local Government Act 2002, it is deemed to be a 
Council Controlled Trading Organisation. 
 
Council’s objectives for continued ownership and control, and the Company’s objectives, were 
reviewed during the 2016 financial year and the Company’s Statement of Intent was updated 
accordingly. 
 
Council’s objectives for continued ownership and control include: 

• Stimulating and maintaining a competitive contracting sector in our district 

• Supporting local opportunities for a diverse labour market 

• Obtaining a good return on investment commensurate with the business risks of Whitestone 
Contracting Limited and the risk appetite of Council 

• Providing emergency services support 
 
Community outcomes 

• We provide and enable services and facilities so people want to stay and move here 

• We enable opportunities for new and existing businesses 
 

Performance Measures Achievements 2017/18 Targets 
LTP 2017/18 – 2024/25 Year 3 

Before income tax return 
on opening shareholders’ 
funds 

Achieved a return of 10.66% 
(2017: 8.18%) before 
donations, sponsorships and 
subvention payments 

Achieve a before-income tax 
return (prior to donations, 
sponsorships and subvention 
payments) on opening 
shareholders’ funds that exceeds 
7% return on investment 

Maintenance of the relevant 
quality standards 

Maintained both ISO 9001 
and ISO 14001 accreditation 

Maintain ISO 9001 registration 
and related quality assurance 
programmes 
 
Maintain ISO 14001 standard to 
ensure we have systems in place 
to meet environmental legislative 
and regulatory requirements 

Percentage increase of 
revenue from sources other 
than Waitaki District 
Council over the previous 
year 

79% (2017: 84%) of revenue 
was generated by customers 
other than Waitaki District 
Council 

Increase the percentage of 
revenue from sources other than 
Waitaki District Council 

In Quarter four of each year 
agree KPI targets for the 
next year 

KPI targets have been agreed 
for the 2018/19 financial year 

In Quarter four of each year 
agree KPI targets for the next 
year 

The increase in market 
share in North Otago and 
other areas of operation 

Revenue has increased by 
$2.2 million (2016/2017: 
reduced by $2.0 million) 

Maintain and grow market share 
in North Otago and other areas 
of operation 

Ratio of shareholder funds 
to total assets 

Achieved 77.46% (2017: 
78.23%) 

Maintain the ratio of shareholder 
funds to total assets within the 
range 60% - 80% 

 
The Company received an unqualified audit report for the year ended 30 June 2018 on 28 August 
2018.  A full copy of the Company's Annual Report is available at the Company's offices. 
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Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and 
Expenditure 
 

For the year ended 30 June 2018 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying Notes form part of these financial statements 

Council Only Consolidated

2018 2018 2017 2018 2017

Notes Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Revenue 

Rates Revenue 1 30,779           30,717           30,303           30,733        30,266        

User Charges 5,116             3,907             5,909             29,754        28,327        

Regulatory Charges 1,573             1,557             1,508             1,573           1,508           

Development and RMA Contributions 1,351             692                738                1,351           738              

Government Grants and Subsidies 2 8,160             7,163             6,339             18,989        16,148        

Other Grants and Donations 3 422                2,388             900                564              958              

Finance Revenue 4 1,220             1,354             1,184             1,332           1,318           

Petrol Tax 206                196                193                206              193              

Infringements and Fines 88                  57                  86                  88                86                

Dividend and Subvention Payments 504                120                790                -               -               

Assets vested in Council 5 976                -                 726                976              726              

Total Revenue 32 50,395           48,151           48,676           85,566        80,268        

Expenses

Personnel costs 6 10,822           11,314           10,652           30,168        29,282        

Depreciation and amortisation 10,11 13,396           12,119           11,887           15,416        13,928        

Finance Costs 4 -                 -                 1                     8                  12                

Other expenses 7A 24,540           21,286           22,987           38,482        34,381        

Other gains and Losses 7B 724                -                 1,618             418              2,208           

Total Expenses 32 49,482           44,719           47,145           84,492        79,811        

Surplus / (Deficit) before Tax 913                3,432             1,531             1,074           457              

Income Tax Expense / (Refund) 8 -                 -                 -                 301              101              

Surplus / (Deficit) after tax 913                3,432             1,531             773              356              

Other Comprehensive Revenue and Expense

Gain/(Loss) on revaluation of Infrastructural Assets 10 46,519           14,315           -                 46,519        -               

Gain/(Loss) on revaluation of Properties 10 -                 -                 9,741             309              10,084        

Other Comprehensive Revenue -                 -                 -                 -               -               

Total Other Comprehensive Revenue and Expense 46,519           14,315           9,741             46,828        10,084        

Total Comprehensive Revenue and Expense $47,432 $17,747 $11,272 $47,601 $10,440
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
 

For the year ended 30 June 2018 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying Notes form part of these financial statements  

Council Only Consolidated

2018 2018 2017 2018 2017

Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Public Equity at 1 July 762,169        760,303        750,897        786,316      775,876      

Total Comprehensive Revenue and Expense 47,432           17,747           11,272           47,601        10,440        

Public Equity at 30 June $ 809,601 $ 778,050 $ 762,169 $ 833,917 $ 786,316
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Statement of Financial Position 
 

As at 30 June 2018 
 

 
 
 
 
The accompanying Notes form part of these financial statements   

Council Only Consolidated

2018 2018 2017 2018 2017

Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual

Notes $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Public Equity

Ratepayers' Equity 9 310,208           310,208           310,208           310,208      310,208      

Revaluation Reserve 9 460,450           426,746           415,187           470,645      425,073      

Operating Reserve 9 24,515             25,448             21,932             38,636        36,193        

Other Reserves 9 14,428             15,648             14,842             14,428        14,842        

Total Public Equity $809,601 $778,050 $762,169 $833,917 $786,316

Non-Current Assets

Property Plant and Equipment 10 770,691           740,550           719,240           793,590      741,528      

Intangible Assets 11 647                  820                  681                  992              1,100           

Forestry 12 253                  100                  226                  253              226              

Assets held for Sale 16 1,150               1,150               1,150               1,150           1,150           

Other Financial Assets

 - Investments in CCO's 13 4,912               4,912               4,912               -               -               

 - Investments in other entities 13 145                  145                  145                  145              145              

 - Loans to other entities 13 28,606             25,032             25,060             31,125        27,435        

806,404           772,709           751,414           827,255      771,584      

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 14 2,216               2,150               4,483               3,761           5,540           

Receivables 15 6,613               3,275               3,470               10,521        7,475           

Prepayments 345                  285                  233                  478              387              

Inventory 18 10                     14                     26                     916              1,082           

Work in Progress 17 -                   -                   -                   293              155              

Other Financial Assets

 - Term deposits 13 4,250               6,750               9,425               6,885           12,876        

 - Loans to other entities 13 96                     1                       16                     16                16                

Assets held for Sale 16 -                   -                   369                  -               369              

13,530             12,475             18,022             22,870        27,900        

Total Assets 819,934           785,184           769,436           850,125      799,484      

Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 19 719                  390                  788                  719              788              

Employee Entitlement Liabilities 20 -                   -                   -                   116              102              

Borrowings 21 -                   -                   -                   8                  10                

Deferred Tax Liability 8 -                   -                   -                   522              623              

719                  390                  788                  1,365           1,523           

Current Liabilities

Trade and Other Payables 22 8,179               5,620               5,272               10,349        7,525           

Short Term Borrowings 21 -                   -                   -                   1                  1                  

Employee Entitlement Liabilities 20 1,126               1,050               1,074               3,998           4,040           

Provisions 19 309                  74                     133                  326              144              

Provision for Taxation -                   -                   -                   169              (65)               

9,614               6,744               6,479               14,843        11,645        

Total Liabilities 10,333             7,134               7,267               16,208        13,168        

Net Assets $809,601 $778,050 $762,169 $833,917 $786,316
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Statement of Cash Flows 
 

For the year ended 30 June 2018 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying Notes form part of these financial statements 
 

Council Only

2018 2018 2017 2018 2017

Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual

Notes $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Cash flows from Operating Activities

Receipts from Rates Revenue 30,617      30,101       30,862      30,579    30,826    

Interest received 1,055        1,001        1,097        1,178     1,223     

Dividends/Subvention payments received 504           120           790           -         -         

Receipts from Other Revenues 14,327      17,131       15,502      50,018    47,408    

Payments to Suppliers & Employees (33,408)     (32,350)      (33,116)     (66,664)   (63,071)   

Interest Paid -            -            (1)             (8)           (12)         

Income Tax Refund Received / (Paid) -            -            -            (206)       (283)       

Net GST (61)            (35)            182           (61)         182        

Net Cash from Operating Activities 13,034      15,968       15,316      14,836    16,273    

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Proceeds from Sale of P.P.& E 1,643        666           2,510        1,939     2,762     

Proceeds from Sale of Investments 18,593      27,940       14,751      19,410    14,751    

Purchase of P.P.& E (18,658)     (22,257)      (13,806)     (21,083)   (16,346)   

Acquisition of Investments (16,879)     (24,094)      (16,751)     (16,879)   (19,101)   

Net Cash from Investing Activities (15,301)     (17,745)      (13,296)     (16,613)   (17,934)   

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from Borrowing -            -            -            -         -         

Repayment of Borrowing -            -            -            (2)           (1)           

Net Cash from Financing Activities -            -            -            (2)           (1)           

Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash (2,267)       (1,777)       2,020        (1,779)    (1,662)    

Total Cash Resources at 1 July 4,483        3,927        2,463        5,540     7,202     

Total Cash Resources at 30 June 14 $2,216 $2,150 $4,483 $3,761 $5,540

Consolidated  
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Reconciliation of Net Operating Surplus to Cash 
Flows from Operating Activities  
 

For the year ended 30 June 2018 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
The accompanying Notes form part of these financial statements 
 

2018 2018 2017 2018 2017

Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Net Operating Surplus after Taxation 913          3,432       1,531       773        356        

Add/(Less) non-cash items

Depreciation/Amortisation 13,396     12,119     11,887     15,416    13,928    

Interest compounded (165)         (94)           (87)           (165)       (87)         

Increase/(Decrease) in Doubtful Debts Provision (10)           (23)           (414)         (3)           (532)       

Increase/(Decrease) in Landfill Closure & Other Provisions 107          (151)         185          107        185        

Net Loss/(Profit) on sale of Assets 836          -           1,911       675        1,556     

Gain on Forestry Harvesting (60)           -           (208)         (60)         (208)       

Loss/(Gain) on Forestry revaluation (52)           (15)           (85)           (52)         (85)         

Provision for Impairment -           -           -           (145)       947        

Vested Assets (976)         -           (726)         (976)       (726)       

Surrender of Carbon Credits 8             -           38            8            38          

Increase/(decrease) in Deferred Tax position -           -           102        78          

13,084     11,836     12,501     14,907    15,094    

Add/(Less) movements in Other Working Capital items

Decrease/(Increase) in Trade & Other Receivables (3,133)      749          891          (3,358)    764        

Decrease/(Increase) in Prepayments (112)         (55)           123          (91)         100        

Decrease/(Increase) in Inventories 16            6             3             165        (133)       

Decrease/(Increase) in Work in Progress -           -           -           (138)       (65)         

Increase/(Decrease) in Trade & Other Payables 2,214       (75)           208          2,380     478        

Increase/(Decrease) in Employee Entitlements 52            75            59            (39)         (61)         

Increase/(Decrease) in Provision for Taxation -           -           -           237        (260)       

(963)         700          1,284       (844)       823        

Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities $ 13,034 $ 15,968 $ 15,316 $ 14,836 $ 16,273

Consolidated  Council Only
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Statement of Accounting Policies 
 

REPORTING ENTITY 
The Waitaki District Council (Council) is a territorial local authority established under the Local Government 
Act 2002 (the LGA, the Act), and is domiciled and operates in New Zealand.  Relevant legislation governing 
Council’s operations include the LGA and the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002. 
 
Council’s consolidated group consists of the ultimate parent, Waitaki District Council, and its subsidiaries: 
Whitestone Contracting Limited (100% owned), Waitaki District Health Services Limited (100% owned) and 
Tourism Waitaki Limited (100% owned).  The investment in Ōmārama Airfield Limited (50% owned) is 
treated as a joint venture.  All companies are incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand. 
 
The primary objective of Council is to provide local infrastructure and public services, and to perform 
regulatory functions in the community for social benefit rather than making a financial return.  Accordingly, 
Council has designated itself and the group as public benefit entities (PBEs) for the purposes of complying 
with generally accepted accounting practice. 
 
The financial statements of the Waitaki District Council are for the year ended 30 June 2018 and were 
authorised for issue by Council on 30 October 2018. 
 

BASIS OF PREPARATION 
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, and all accounting policies have 
been applied consistently throughout the period. 
 

Statement of Compliance 
The financial statements of the Council and Group have been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of the LGA and the Local Government (Financial Reporting and Prudence) Regulations 2014 which include 
the requirement to comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand (NZ GAAP). 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Tier 1 PBE accounting standards, and are 
fully compliant with those accounting standards. 
 

Presentation currency and rounding 
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and all values, unless otherwise stated, are 
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($000), apart from disclosures relating to remuneration and 
severance payments.  The functional currency of Council and the group is New Zealand dollars. 
 

Standards issued and not yet effective and not early adopted 
In 2017, the XRB issued a number of new or updated standards. These include: 
 

• Effective for financial periods commencing on or after 1 January 2018: an amendment to PBE IPSAS 1 
“Presentation of Financial Statements” related to the use of Approved Budgets. 

 

• Effective for financial periods commencing on or after 1 January 2019: the new PBE IPSAS 39 
“Employee Benefits” replaces the current PBE IPSAS 25, and five new standards for accounting for 
interests in other entities (PBE IPSAS 34 – 38) replace the current PBE IPSAS 6 – 8. 

 

• Effective for financial periods commencing on or after 1 January 2021: amendments to PBE IPSAS 21 
and PBE IPSAS 26 dealing with impairment of revalued assets; new PBE IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” 
replacing PBE IPSAS 29, and new PBE FRS 48 “Service Performance Reporting”, establishing principles 
and requirements for presenting service performance information. 

 
In each case, Council has completed an initial assessment, and does not expect any significant changes to 
accounting treatment or presentation will result. Council does not intend early adopting these standards.  
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Statement of Accounting Policies 

 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Significant Accounting policies affecting the measurement of operating results, cash flows and financial 
position may be found in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
Other more general accounting policies and practices are detailed below: 
 

Basis of Consolidation 
The Consolidated Group financial statements are prepared by adding together like items of assets, liabilities, 
equity, revenue and expenses of entities in the group on a line-by-line basis.  Intragroup balances, 
transactions, revenues and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. 
 
Subsidiaries 
Council consolidates as subsidiaries in the group financial statements all entities where Council has the 
capacity to control financing and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from the activities of the entity.  
This power exists where Council controls the majority voting power of the governing body, or where such 
policies have been irreversibly predetermined by Council or where the determination of such policies is 
unable to materially impact the level of potential ownership benefits that arise from the activities of the 
subsidiary. 
 
Council measures the cost of a business combination as the aggregate of the fair value, at the date of 
exchange, of assets given and liabilities incurred or assumed, in exchange for control of the subsidiary, plus 
any costs directly attributable to the business combination.   
 
Any excess of the cost of the business combination over Council’s interest in the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recognised as goodwill.  If Council’s interest in the net 
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised exceeds the cost of the 
business combination, the difference will be recognised immediately in the surplus or deficit. 
 
The following entities are consolidated as subsidiaries, and the bases of their inclusion for consolidation in 
these financial statements are as follows: 

• Whitestone Contracting Limited 

• Tourism Waitaki Limited 

• Waitaki District Health Services Limited 
 
These entities are Council Controlled Organisations as defined by Part 5 of the LGA, with Whitestone 
Contracting Limited being a Council Controlled Trading Organisation.  Council holds 100% of the shares.  The 
companies’ balance dates are 30 June.  Whitestone Contracting Limited has three non-trading, fully owned 
subsidiaries: Whitestone Quarries and Landfill Limited, Dunstan Sprayers Ltd and Dunstan Contracting Ltd. 
 
Jointly Controlled Entity 
Joint ventures are entities over which the Council and Group has joint control established by contractual 
agreement. The consolidated financial statements of the Group uses the equity method of consolidation, and 
the Group’s share of the surplus or deficit of the joint venture is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Revenue and Expenditure. 
 

• Ōmārama Airfield Limited 
 
This company is a Council Controlled Organisation as defined by Part 5 of the Act.  Its balance date is 30 
June.  Council holds 50% of the shares, and the company is treated as a jointly controlled venture.   
 
Council’s investment in its subsidiaries and jointly controlled ventures is carried at cost, less any impairment, 
in the parent financial statements. 
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Statement of Accounting Policies 
 

Goods and Services Tax 
These accounts have been prepared on a GST exclusive basis, except for receivables and payables which 
are presented on a GST-inclusive basis.  Any net GST due or owing at balance date is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the Statement of Financial Position as appropriate.  Any GST that is not 
recoverable as an input tax is recognised as part of the related asset or expense. 
 
The net GST paid to, or received from, IRD, including GST related to investing and financing activities, is 
classified as an operating cash flow in the Statement of Cash Flows. 
 
Commitments and contingencies are stated exclusive of GST. 
 

Budget Figures 
The budget figures are those approved by Council in its 2017/18 Annual Plan.  The budget figures have 
been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP, using accounting policies that are consistent with those 
adopted by Council for the preparation of these financial statements. 
 

Groups of Activities 
The Groups of Activities, as provided in the Annual Plan, report the net cost of services for each significant 
activity of Council, and are represented by the costs of providing the service less all revenue that can be 
allocated to these activities: 
 
The net cost of service for each significant Council activity has been derived using the cost allocation system 
outlined below: 
 

• Direct costs are directly attributable to a significant activity, and are charged accordingly.   

• Indirect costs are those that cannot be attributed in an economically feasible manner to a specific 
significant activity, and are instead allocated as overheads using appropriate cost drivers such as actual 
usage, staff numbers, floor area occupied, etc. 

 

Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions 
In preparing these financial statements, estimates and assumptions have been made concerning the future.  
These estimates and assumptions may differ from the subsequent actual results.   
 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below: 
 
Infrastructural Assets 
Refer to Note 10 for information about the estimates and assumptions applied in determining the fair value of 
infrastructural assets, including donated and vested assets. 
 
Forestry Holdings 
Refer to Note 12 for information about the estimates and assumptions applied in determining the fair value of 
Council’s forestry plantations. 
 
Changes in Accounting Policies 
There have been no changes in accounting policies. 
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Statement of Accounting Policies 
 

General Revenue Recognition - Policy 
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, and is reported gross. 
 
Specific accounting policies for significant revenue items not otherwise outlined in Notes 1 to 5 that follow 
are detailed below: 
 

• User and Regulatory charges, Sales of goods and revenue from commercial activities 

- Fees and charges, and the proceeds of sales of goods, are recognised when invoiced or when a product 
is sold or a service is provided to the customer 

- Rental income is recognised as revenue over the course of individual lease terms 

- The gross revenue from other commercial operations undertaken in the normal course of business is 
recognised when earned 

 

• Petrol Tax 

- Petrol Tax is recognised when earned 
 

• Development and financial contributions  

- Development and financial contributions are recognised at the later of invoicing or the event that will give 
rise to a requirement for a development or financial contribution under the relevant legislation 

 

• Infringements and Fines 

- Infringement fees and fines are recognised when an infringement notice is issued, but the degree to 
which the income is recognised takes into account the likelihood that the fee or fine will be collected 

 

• Dividends and subvention payments 

- Dividends and subvention payments from subsidiaries are recognised immediately when received 
 

Notes 1 to 5 provide analysis in relation to specific types of Revenue, and include detail of relevant 
accounting policies. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

 
 

Note 1: Operating Revenue - Rates 
 
Rates revenue - Policy 

• General rates, targeted rates (excluding water by meter) and uniform annual general charges are 
recognised at the start of the financial year to which the rates resolution relates, at the amounts then due. 

• Late payment penalties applied to unpaid rates are recognised as revenue when rates become overdue 

• Revenue from rates for water supplied by meter is recognised quarterly based on usage 

• Rate remissions are recognised as a reduction in rates revenue at the start of the financial year 
 
Analysis of revenue from Rates: 
 

 
 

Note 2: Operating Revenue – Government Grants and Subsidies 
 
Government grants and subsidies - Policy 

• New Zealand Transport Agency provides funding for road maintenance and capital expenditure.  These 
subsidies are recognised as revenue when conditions pertaining to eligible expenditure have been met 

• The New Zealand Cycletrails Fund has approved funding for construction of the Alps2Ocean Cycletrail.  
Revenue is recognised as work is completed towards meeting milestones set as part of that contract. 

• In general, revenue from other Governmental agencies is recognised when eligibility has been 
established, unless there is an obligation in substance to return the funds should conditions of the grant 
not be met, in which case the grants are initially recorded as revenue in advance, and only recognised as 
revenue when all conditions are satisfied 

 
Analysis of revenue from Government Grants: 
 

 
 
The NZ Transport Agency provided additional subsidies to assist with recovery efforts following the adverse 
weather event in July 2017, and to meet the cost of upgraded streetlighting on state highways in the district.  
The Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment administers the New Zealand Cycletrails Fund, which 
supports the construction and maintenance of the Alps2Ocean cycletrail.  MBIE has also funded the 
construction of public toilets, subject to meeting certain criteria.  

Council Only Consolidated

2018 2018 2017 2018 2017

Budget

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

General Rates 1,762           1,757           1,837           1,717           1,800           

District Services Rates 1,621           1,615           1,505           1,621           1,505           

Uniform Annual General Charge 5,199           5,211           5,059           5,199           5,059           

Ward Rates 6,447           6,437           6,578           6,447           6,578           

Separate Rates 9,723           9,678           9,559           9,723           9,559           

Targeted Rates for water supply 5,373           5,378           5,236           5,373           5,236           

User charges for water supply by meter 559              481              416              558              416              

Rates Penalties charged 336              400              385              336              385              

Less Rates Remitted (241)             (240)             (272)             (241)             (272)             

Total Rates Revenue $30,779 $30,717 $30,303 $30,733 $30,266

New Zealand Transport Agency subsidies 7,839           6,776           6,047           7,839           6,047           

Ministry of Business, Innovation & Employment 112              250              138              452              138              

Ministry for the Environment 85                82                84                85                84                

Ministry of Social Development 10                -               -               10                -               

Ministry of Youth Development -               -               18                -               18                

Southern DHB operational contract funding -               -               -               10,489        9,809           

Other Government grants and subsidies 114              55                52                114              52                

Total Government Grants $8,160 $7,163 $6,339 $18,989 $16,148
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

 
 

Note 3: Operating Revenue – Other Grants and Donations 
 
Other Grants and donations - Policy 

• Revenue is recognised when eligibility has been established, unless there is an obligation in substance to 
return the funds should conditions of the grant not be met, in which case the grants are initially recorded 
as revenue in advance, and only recognised as revenue when all conditions are satisfied. 

 
Analysis of revenue from Other Grants and Donations: 
 

 
 
Funds provided by Friends of the Alps2Ocean include grants from Trust Aoraki and the Meridian Community 
Fund.  In 2017, these donations included grants from NZ Lotteries, Trust Aoraki and the Lion Foundation.  
Development of the proposed Cultural Facilities did not take place as planned during the year 
 

Note 4: Finance Revenue and Finance Expense 
 
Finance Revenue & Expense - Policy 

• Interest revenue is recognised when earned 
 
Analysis of Finance revenue and Finance expense 
 

 

 
 
 

Council Only Consolidated

2018 2018 2017 2018 2017

Budget

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Alps2Ocean Cycletrail 

Friends of the Alps2Ocean Cycletrail 143              125              437              143              437              

Otago Community Trust -               -               100              -               100              

McKenzie District Council -               -               -               50                50                

Cultural Facility redevelopment

Local residents, businesses and organisations 10                2,000           15                10                15                

General purposes and other projects

Otago Community Trust 11                -               -               11                -               

North Otago Rugby 33                20                32                33                32                

Rotary Club Of Oamaru - Craig Fountain 10                -               -               10                -               

Other grants and donations 215              243              316              307              324              

Total Grants and Donations $422 $2,388 $900 $564 $958

Finance Income

Bank deposits 359              506              473              471              607              

North Otago Irrigation Co Ltd 558              558              609              558              609              

Observatory Village Charitable Trust 288              273              87                288              87                

Other community loans 15                17                15                15                15                

Total Finance income 1,220           1,354           1,184           1,332           1,318           

Finance Expense

Interest on bank overdraft -               -               1                  -               1                  

Interest on other external borrowings -               -               -               8                  11                

Total Finance expense -               -               1                  8                  12                

Net Finance revenue/(expense) $1,220 $1,354 $1,183 $1,324 $1,306
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Note 5: Operating Revenue – Non-trading Gains / (Losses) 
 
Non-trading Gains / (Losses) - Policy 

• Vested Infrastructural Assets – assets that are received for no or nominal consideration are recognised at 
their fair value when Council obtains control of the asset.  Fair value is usually determined by reference to 
the cost of constructing the asset which may be, in turn, based either on information provided by the 
property developer, or on certified engineers’ certificates 

 
Analysis of revenue from Assets vested in Council: 
 

 
 
 

  

Council Only Consolidated

2018 2018 2017 2018 2017

Budget

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Land & Improvements 12                -               281              12                281              

Buildings Assets -               -               230              -               230              

Roading & Bridges 365              -               -               365              -               

Stormwater Drainage 160              -               -               160              -               

Water Assets 193              -               -               193              -               

Sewer Assets 241              -               200              241              200              

Plant Assets 1                  -               8                  1                  8                  

Other Assets 4                  -               7                  4                  7                  

Total Assets Vested in Council $976 $ - $726 $976 $726
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Note 6: Personnel Costs 
 
Personnel costs - Policy 

• Defined contribution plan employer contributions – contributions to Kiwisaver and similar schemes are 
accounted for as defined benefit superannuation schemes and expensed as incurred 

Analysis of Personnel Costs: 
 

 
 
Remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer  
 Council only 
 2018 2017 
 $000 $000 
   
Michael Ross (retired at 30 June 2017) - 289,785 
Neil Jorgensen (from 1 July 2017 to 15 September 2017) 62,369 - 
Fergus Power (from 15 September 2017) 193,716 - 

Total remuneration $256,085 $289,785 

 
Remuneration of Mr Ross included all employment related costs and accumulated leave on his retirement 
from Council at 30 June 2017.  On his retirement, Mr Ross was able to purchase at book value his Council 
vehicle, Council-provided laptop and other associated minor equipment.   
 
Mr Ross was a Council-appointed Director of North Otago Irrigation Company Ltd, receiving Director’s Fees 
of $12,000 in the 2017 year.    
 
Key Management Personnel 
 
Council considers the Mayor and Councillors, the Chief Executive and the five (2017: four) Group Managers 
to be key management personnel.   
 
Total remuneration of key management personnel is as follows: 
 Council only 
 2018 2017 
 $000 $000 
   
Senior management team, including Chief Executive 1,151 1,097 
Full-time equivalent members (number) 6 5 
Councillors 371 361 
Full-time equivalent members (number) 11 11 

Total remuneration $1,522 $1,468 

Total Full-time equivalent members 17 16 

 
 
 

Council Only Consolidated

2018 2018 2017 2018 2017

Budget

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Salaries and wages 10,503        10,969        10,364        29,325        28,324        

Redundancy and severance payments 10                -               -               12                98                

Defined contribution plan employer contributions 278              307              249              713              658              

Fringe Benefit Taxes 31                38                39                118              202              

Total personnel costs $10,822 $11,314 $10,652 $30,168 $29,282
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Note 6: Personnel Costs (continued) 
 
Mayor’s and Elected Members’ Remuneration  
 

 Council only 

 2018 2017 

 $ $ 

Waitaki District Council   

Mayor:   

Gary Kircher  94,269 92,668 

Elected Members:   

Craig Dawson (2017: from 8 October 2016) 26,272 16,756 
Peter Garvan 26,272 25,337 

Jeremy Holding (2017: from 8 October 2016) 26,272 16,756 

Jim Hopkins 26,272 25,682 

William Kingan  29,139 28,102 
Guy Percival  26,272 25,337 
Hugh Perkins 29,139 29,124 
Melanie Tavendale  32,379 30,027 
Janice Wheeler (2017: from 8 October 2016) 26,272 16,756 
Colin Wollstein  29,139 28,102 
Kathy Dennison (2017: to 8 October 2016) - 9,795 
Sally Hope (2017: to 8 October 2016) - 7,959 
June Slee (2017: to 8 October 2016) - 8,581 

Total Remuneration – Mayor and Elected Members $371,697 $360,982 

 

Ahuriri Community Board   

Chair:   

Graham Sullivan  11,461 11,092 

Elected Members:   

Antony Chapman (2017: from 8 October 2016) 5,730 3,730 

Brent Cowles 5,730 5,633 

Vicky Munro 5,730 5,633 
Calum Reid  5,730 5,633 
Michael Blackstock (2017: to 8 October 2016) - 1,904 

Total Remuneration – Ahuriri Community Board $34,381 $33,625 

 

Waihemo Community Board   

Chair:   

Kathleen Dennison (2017: from 8 October 2016) 11,669 7,440 
Geoffrey Foote (2017: to 8 October 2016) - 3,876 

Elected Members:   

Ken Brown 5,834 5,735 
Heather McGregor 5,834 5,735 
Paul Roy  5,834 5,735 
Carol Watson (2017: from 8 October 2016) 5,834 3,797 
Jane Carlyon (2017: to 8 October 2016) - 1,938 

Total Remuneration – Waihemo Community Board $35,005 $34,256 
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Note 6: Personnel Costs (continued) 
 
Employee Staffing Levels and Remuneration  
 
At 30 June 2018, Council had 106 full-time employees (2017: 96), and casual and part-time employees 
equating to 33 full-time equivalent (FTE) staff (2017: 39 FTE).   
 
133 employees received annual remuneration of less than $60,000 (2017: 128), and 75 staff (2017: 64) 
received annual remuneration greater than $60,000.  In the table below, these are expressed in bands of 
$20,000 or in bands adjusted as appropriate to ensure compliance with the Act: 
 
 
 Council Employees 
 2018 2017 
Remuneration band Number Number 
   
$180,000 – $299,999 3 3 

$120,000 – $179,999 8 6 

$100,000 – $119,999 10 10 

$80,000 – $99,999 23 13 

$60,000 – $79,999 31 30 

Total staff 75 62 

 
 
The Group, comprising Council and four CCOs, has a total of 45 employees receiving annual remuneration 
in excess of $100,000 (2017: 41). 
 
 
Severance Payments (Clause 33) 
Council made one severance payment of $10,014 during the financial year (2017: nil). 
 
Other members of Council’s group made severance payments totaling $1,614 (2017: $98,418). 
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Note 7A: Operating Expenses – Other operating costs 
 
Operating costs - Policy 
 

• Grant Expenditure 

- Non-discretionary grants are awarded when grant applications meet specified criteria, and are 
recognised as expenditure when such applications are approved and payment is made. 

- Discretionary grants are those which Council has no obligation to award, and are recognised as 
expenditure when approved by Council and when that approval is communicated to the applicant. 

- In all cases, grants, or portions of grants, which are not applied to the purpose for which they were 
provided, must be returned, thus reducing grants expense for the period in which the funds are received. 

• Leases 
Operating Leases 
Operating leases are leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an 
asset.  These are charged on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

 
 
Analysis of Other Operating Costs 
 

 
 
Community Grants and Donations in 2017 included grants made for the Waihemo Health Centre $150,000 
and the Otago Rural Fire Authority $338,000. 
 
 

Note 7B: Operating Expenses – Other Gains and Losses 
  
Analysis of Other Non-trading Gains and Losses: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Council Only Consolidated

2018 2018 2017 2018 2017

Budget

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Audit Fees - Audit New Zealand

Audit Current Year Annual Report 118              127              117              180              172              

Audit 2018-28 Long Term Plan 87                85                -               87                -               

Audit Fees - Other audit providers

Audit Current Year Annual Report -               -               -               24                23                

Other Services provided -               -               -               6                  8                  

Community grants and donations 903              840              1,212           982              1,281           

Directors' Fees -               -               -               409              352              

Impairment of Receivables (Note 15) 373              175              342              374              448              

Insurance premiums 406              318              318              712              608              

Operating lease expense 95                113              105              508              481              

Provision for closed landfill 106              (151)             186              106              186              

Other Expenditure 22,452        19,779        20,707        35,094        30,822        

Total Other Operating Expenses $24,540 $21,286 $22,987 $38,482 $34,381

(Gain)/Loss on Property Plant & Equipment 845              -               1,931           853              1,733           

(Gain) from Depreciation recovered on disposal (9)                 -               (20)               (178)             (179)             

(Gain)/Loss on forestry harvesting (60)               -               (208)             (60)               (208)             

(Gain)/Loss on revaluation of Forestry Assets (52)               -               (85)               (52)               (85)               

(Recovery)/Impairment of non-current financial asset -               -               -               (145)             947              

Total Other Gains and Losses $724 $ - $1,618 $418 $2,208
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 Council Only  Consolidated 
 2018 2017  2018 2017 
 $000 $000  $000 $000 

 

Note 8: Taxation 
 
Taxation - Policy 
Income tax expense includes components relating to both current and deferred tax, and is calculated using 
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by balance date. 

 

• Current tax 

- Income tax payable based on the taxable profit for the current year, plus any adjustments to income tax 
related to prior years. 

• Deferred tax  

- Income tax payable or recoverable in future periods related to temporary differences and unused tax 
losses, calculated at tax rates that are expected to apply when the liability is settled or asset realised.  
Temporary differences are differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in computing taxable profit. 

- A Deferred Tax liability is generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences, but a Deferred Tax 
asset is recognised only to the extent that taxable profits are likely to be available against which 
deductible temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. 

- Deferred Tax is not recognised if a temporary difference arises from initial recognition of goodwill or an 
asset and liability in a transaction that is not a business combination, and which, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit. 

 
Analysis of Taxation expense and Tax Provision 
 

 
 
Council has not recognised a deferred tax asset related to unused tax losses of $207,068 which can be 
offset against future taxable revenue (2017: $58,553).   
Whitestone Contracting Ltd has imputation credits of $2,070,100 (2017: $2,101,176) and Tourism Waitaki 
Ltd $nil (2017: $34,779) which can be used to impute dividend payments made to Council.  Imputation credit 
balances are not recorded in the financial statements. 
 

Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit

Net surplus / (deficit) before taxation 913           1,531        1,074        457           

Prima facie taxation at 28% 256           429           302           128           

Plus/(Less) Taxation Effect of Differences

- Revenue not liable for taxation (256)          (429)          37             29             

- Tax effect of other differences -            -            (38)            (56)            

Income Tax Expense -            -            $ 301 $ 101

This is represented by:

Current taxation -            -            354           231           

Prior year adjustment -            -            48             (208)          

Deferred taxation provision -            -            (101)          78             

Income Tax Expense -            -            $ 301 $ 101

Deferred taxation liability/(benefit)

Opening balance -            -            623           545           

Deferred taxation position current year -            -            (101)          78             

Total Deferred Tax -            -            $ 522 $ 623

Deferred taxation comprises:

Short term  temporary differences -            -            522           623           

-            -            $ 522 $ 623
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 Council Only  Consolidated 
 2018 2017  2018 2017 
 $000 $000  $000 $000 

 

Note 9: Public Equity 
 

Public Equity – Policy 
 
Public Equity is the Community’s interest in Council, measured as the difference between total assets and 
total liabilities.  Public Equity is disaggregated and classified into components that better distinguish the 
specific uses that Council makes of its accumulated surpluses. 
 
The components of equity are: 

• Ratepayers Equity 

• Restricted Reserves (Special Funds) 

• Operating Reserves 

• Asset Revaluation Reserves 
 

Capital Management 
 
Council’s capital is its equity (or ratepayers’ funds), comprising retained earnings and reserves.  Net Equity is 
represented by net assets. 
 
The LGA requires Council to manage its revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, investments, and general 
financial dealings prudently and in a manner that promotes the current and future interests of the community.  
Ratepayers’ funds are largely managed as a by-product of managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, 
investments, and general financial dealings. 
 
The objective of managing these items is to achieve intergenerational equity, which is a principle promoted in 
the Act and applied by Council.  Intergenerational equity requires today’s ratepayers to meet the costs of 
utilising Council’s assets, but not expecting them to meet the full cost of long term assets that will benefit 
ratepayers in future generations.  Additionally, Council has established asset management plans for major 
classes of assets detailing renewal and maintenance programmes, to ensure ratepayers in future 
generations are not required to meet the full costs of deferred renewals and maintenance. 
 
The Act requires Council to make adequate and effective provision in its Long Term Plan (LTP) and in its 
Annual Plan (where applicable) to meet the expenditure needs identified in those plans, and sets out the 
factors that the Council must consider when determining the most appropriate sources of funding for each 
activity.  The sources and levels of funding are set out in funding and financial policies in Council’s LTP. 
 
      

Ratepayers Equity 
 

     

Balance at 1 July 310,208 310,208  310,208 310,208 

Transfer from Operating Reserves - -  - - 

Balance at 30 June $310,208 $310,208  $310,208 $310,208 
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 Council Only  Consolidated 
 2018 2017  2018 2017 
 $000 $000  $000 $000 

 

Note 9: Public Equity (continued) 

 
Reserves 

 
Reserves are a component of equity generally representing a particular purpose to which various parts of 
equity have been assigned.  Reserves may be legally restricted or created by the Council.   
 

• Revaluation Reserves 
Asset revaluation reserves represent unrealised gains on assets owned by Council, being the difference 
between revalued assets and the value of those assets originally incorporated in Council’s or other entities’ 
financial statements.  The gains are held in the reserve until such time as the gain is realised and a transfer 
can be made to operating reserves. 

      

Balance at 1 July 415,187 407,181  425,073 416,724 
Roading Increase 46,519 -  46,519 - 
Roading Disposals (to operating reserve) - -  - - 
Water & Waste Increase - -  - - 
Water & Waste Disposals (to operating reserve) (926) (813)  (926) (813) 
Property Increase (Decrease) - 9,741  309 10,084 
Property Disposals (to operating reserve) (330) (922)  (330) (922) 

Balance at 30 June $460,450 $415,187  $470,645 $425,073 

      
Represented by      
Infrastructural Assets 405,118 359,525  405,118 359,525 
Council Property 55,207 55,537  55,207 55,537 
Council Other (Museum) 125 125  125 125 
Waitaki District Health Services Ltd  - -  7,388 7,079 
Whitestone Contracting Ltd - -  2,807 2,807 

Balance at 30 June $460,450 $415,187  $470,645 $425,073 

 

• Operating Reserves 

 
Operating reserves are established by Council decision and may be altered by Council without reference to 
third parties or the Courts.  Transfers to and from these reserves are made at Council discretion. 

 
 
Balance at 1 July 21,932 19,271  36,193 34,707 
      
Net surplus/(deficit) after tax 913 1,531  773 356 
      
Transfer from Revaluation Reserves 1,256 1,735  1,256 1,735 
Transfer from Other Reserves 2,314 1,975  2,314 1,975 
Transfer to Other Reserves (1,900) (2,580)  (1,900) (2,580) 

Balance at 30 June $24,515 $21,932  $38,636 $36,193 

 

Operating Reserves represent the un-appropriated surpluses of the entities and as such are paper transactions 
and not fully represented by cash funds. 
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 Council Only  Consolidated 
 2018 2017  2018 2017 
 $000 $000  $000 $000 

 

Note 9: Public Equity (Continued) 
 

Other Reserves 
These consist of Reserves and Trust Funds created or received by Council under terms that restrict their use.  
All such funds are available only for the purpose specified. 
 

• Restricted Reserves 
Restricted reserves are reserves subject to specific conditions accepted as binding by Council and which 
Council may not revise without reference to the Courts or third parties.  Transfers from these reserves may be 
made only for certain specified purposes or when certain specified conditions are met. 
 
 
Balance at 1 July 14,838 14,237  14,838 14,237 

Deposits and Interest 1,870 2,550  1,988 2,307 
To Operating Reserves to meet disbursements (2,282) (1,949)  (2,400) (1,706) 

Balance at 30 June $14,426 $14,838  $14,426 $14,838 

      
Represented by      
Special Funds 12,366 13,050  12,366 13,050 
Trust Funds 2,059 1,787  2,059 1,787 
Loan Funds 1 1  1 1 

Balance at 30 June $14,426 $14,838  $14,426 $14,838 

 
Additional analysis of the movements in Other Reserves, and specifics of the purpose of significant types of 
Other Reserves, are provided in the table appearing on the following page.   
 

• Trust Funds 
These are funds provided for distribution to local community and sporting groups by SPARC and Creative 
Communities nationally.  Depending on the number and quality of funding applications received, Council 
may not be able to distribute all funds provided and may carry any balance remaining undistributed forward 
for future periods.   
 
 
Balance at 1 July 4 -  4 - 
Deposits and Interest 30 30  30 30 
To Operating Reserves to meet disbursements (32) (26)  (32) (26) 

Balance at 30 June $2 $4  $2 $4 

      
Represented by      
SPARC Commission Funds - -  - - 
Creative Communities Funds 2 4  2 4 

Balance at 30 June $2 $4  $2 $4 

Total Other Reserves $14,428 $14,842  $14,428 $14,842 
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Note 9: Public Equity (Continued) 
 
Other Reserves (Continued) 
 

Balance at Transfers to Transfers from Balance at Transfers to Transfers from Balance at

Type of Reserve Purpose of Reserve 1 July 2016 Reserves Reserves 30 June 2017 Reserves Reserves 30 June 2018

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Special Reserves

Development Funds

Roading 543                252                (245)               550                340                (413)               477                

Water 1,764             297                (728)               1,333             586                (604)               1,315             

Sewer 2,145             176                -                 2,321             242                (156)               2,407             

Total Development Funds A 4,452             725                (973)               4,204             1,168             (1,173)            4,199             

Other Council-created Funds B

Disaster & Insurance Excess Funds Contingency for rapid response C 3,719             202                (66)                 3,855             139                (41)                 3,953             

Land Endowment Fund Operational funding D 1,559             298                (236)               1,621             51                  (817)               855                

Community Housing Fund Community housing projects & upgrades E 752                26                  (170)               608                18                  (114)               512                

Forestry Planting Fund Net proceeds from forestry activities F 1,174             249                -                 1,423             44                  (104)               1,363             

Other Council-created funds Established for other specif ic purposes 904                563                (128)               1,339             75                  70                  1,484             

Total Special Reserves 12,560            2,063             (1,573)            13,050            1,495             (2,179)            12,366            

Trust Funds

Waitaki Heritage Fund Support for heritage projects 259                251                (136)               374                122                (11)                 485                

RMA Reserve Future recreational developments G 717                193                (220)               690                341                (80)                 951                

Oamaru Public Gardens 190                7                    -                 197                8                    (55)                 150                

North Otago Museum 133                8                    (9)                   132                14                  -                 146                

Other community purposes 377                28                  (11)                 394                8                    (75)                 327                

Total Trust Funds 1,676             487                (376)               1,787             493                (221)               2,059             

Reserved Funds

SPARC and Creative NZ Funds Funds for community organisation grants -                 30                  (26)                 4                    30                  (32)                 2                    

Loan Funds Repayments of heritage loans 1                    -                 -                 1                    -                 -                 1                    

Total Reserved Funds 1                    30                  (26)                 5                    30                  (32)                 3                    

Total Restricted Reserves $ 14,237 $ 2,580 ($ 1,975) $ 14,842 $ 2,018 ($ 2,432) $ 14,428

Note A - Development Contributions fund infrastructure projects that provide expanded service capacity resulting from or in anticipation of grow th

Note B - With the exception of the Disaster Fund, Council-created funds may only be accessed by Council resolution

Note C - The Disaster and Insurance Excess Funds provide emergency funding to allow  Council to respond quickly in the event of disaster

Note D - Endow ment Funds provide additional operational funding for specif ic Council activities 

Note E - Funds from the sale of community housing units are held for other community housing initiatives

Note F - Proceeds from Forestry activities held to fund future re-planting requirements

Note G - Financial contributions received from developers under the Resource Management Act provide and upgrade parks and green spaces to service new  subdivisions

Future expansion and upgrading 

infrastructure for grow th

Grants, donations, bequests and other gifts 

for specif ic purposes
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Note 10: Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment – Policy 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment consists of: 
 
Operational assets – including land, buildings, landfill (post closure), library books, plant and 
equipment, furniture and fittings, and motor vehicles. 
 
Restricted assets – mainly parks, reserves and other property owned by Council for benefit or service 
to the community and which cannot be disposed of because of legal or other restrictions. 
 
Infrastructure assets – the fixed utility systems owned by Council.  Each asset class includes all items 
that are required for the network to function, for example, sewer reticulation includes reticulation 
piping and sewer pump stations. 
 
Land (both operational and restricted) is measured at fair value, and buildings (operational and 
restricted), library books and infrastructural assets are measured at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation.  All other asset classes are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. 
 
Accounting for Revaluations 
Land and buildings, library books and infrastructural assets are revalued with sufficient regularity to 
ensure that their carrying value does not differ materially from their fair value, and at least every three 
years.   
 
The results of revaluations of property, plant and equipment are credited or debited to other 
comprehensive revenue and expense, and are accumulated in an asset revaluation reserve for that 
class of asset.  Where this results in a debit balance in the asset revaluation reserve, this balance is 
not recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense but is recognised in the surplus or 
deficit.  Any subsequent increase on revaluation that off-sets a previous decrease in value recognised 
in the surplus or deficit will be recognised first in the surplus or deficit up to the amount previously 
expensed, and then recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense. 
 
Additions 
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is 
probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to Council 
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.   
 
In most instances, an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised at its cost.  Where an asset 
is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value as at the date of acquisition. 
 
Work in Progress 
Capital projects that are incomplete at balance date are regarded as Work in Progress, and are 
included in Fixed Assets.  Such assets are not depreciated until they are complete and 
commissioned.  Movements into Work in Progress represent the value of work done on incomplete 
capital projects, while movements out of Work in Progress represent the final capitalisation of the 
completed project. 
 
Subsequent Costs 
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to Council and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably. 
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Note 10: Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment – Policy (continued) 
 
Disposals 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount 
of the asset.  Gains and losses on disposals are reported net in the surplus or deficit.  When revalued 
assets are sold, the amounts included in asset revaluation reserves in respect of those assets are 
transferred to retained earnings. 
 
Depreciation 
Other than Land and certain elements of cultural and heritage collections, and unless otherwise 
stated in the table below, Council fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis at rates that will 
write off the cost, or valuation, of the assets to their estimated residual values over their useful lives.  
Useful lives and related depreciation rates of major classes of assets have been estimated as follows: 
 
Infrastructure Assets 
 Roading 
  Formation, base course Not depreciated N/A 
  Pavement structure 30 – 70 years 1.43% - 3.33% 
  Surfacing 4 – 17 years 6.67% - 25% 
  Drainage, Footpaths 10 – 100 years 1% -  10% 
  Bridges, retaining structures 50 – 100 years 1% - 2% 
  Street lights, railings 4 – 35 years 2.85% - 25% 
 Water Schemes 
  Headworks 10 – 100 years 1% - 10% 
  Reservoirs 10 – 150 years 0.67% - 10% 
  Pumps 10 – 20 years 5% - 10% 
  Reticulation 40 – 150 years 0.67% - 2.5% 
 Sewerage Schemes 
  Reticulation 50 – 120 years 0.83% - 2% 
  Pumps 10 – 20 years 5% - 10% 
  Treatment works 10 – 100 years 1% - 10% 
 Stormwater - reticulation 80 – 150 years 0.67% - 1.25% 
 Transfer stations, landfill development 3 – 25 years 4% - 33.33% 
 Alps2Ocean Cycle Trail   
  Track formation, base course Not depreciated N/A 
  Track surface 10 years 10% 
  Bridges, retaining structures 50 – 60 years 1.67% - 2% 
  Facilities – signage 12 years 8.33% 
  Facilities – livestock proofing 35 years 2.85% 
     
Buildings 15 – 100 years 1% - 6.67% 
   
Harbour – wharves and breakwater 40 – 100 years 1% - 2.5% 
     
Airport – runway (including apron and taxiway areas) 12 – 80 years 1.25% - 8.33% 
     
Motor vehicles 3 – 10 years 10% - 33.33% 
     
Cultural and heritage assets – library books 7 years 14.28% 
   
Office equipment 2 – 5 years 20% - 50% 
     
Office furniture & fittings 2 – 10 years 10% - 50% 
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Note 10: Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment – Policy (continued) 
 
Depreciation 
Residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed and, if necessary, adjusted at each year end. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment with a finite useful life is reviewed for impairment at each balance 
date, and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be 
recoverable. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount, which is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 
 
Fair Values 
Council considers that current book values for fixed assets accurately reflect fair value overall. 
Property and infrastructural assets are revalued regularly in accordance with Council policy. 
 
Revaluations 
Certain classes of assets, as detailed below, are revalued on a three-yearly cycle.   
 
Land and Buildings  
Property holdings, with the exception of Parks and the Oamaru Airport, were valued at 1 July 2016 by 
Andrew Parkyn, of QV Asset & Advisory.  Parks infrastructural assets were valued at 1 July 2016 by 
George Jason Smith of AECOM NZ Ltd, while the valuation of the Oamaru Airport and associated 
assets was completed by Miles Wyatt also of AECOM NZ Ltd.   
 
Infrastructural Assets 
The roading network, including bridges and retaining structures, was valued as at 1 July 2017 by Tui 
Craven, Asset Data Manager, and reviewed by Thayalan Sivachelvan, Road and Traffic Safety 
Manager, both of Opus International Consultants Ltd. 
 
The valuation of water, waste and drainage assets as at 1 July 2015 was prepared by Council’s 
engineers, and peer reviewed by John Vessey, of Opus International Consultants Limited. 
 
Harbour Assets 
Deemed cost of harbour wharves and other structures, and of the Oamaru Harbour breakwater, was 
established by Royds Garden Limited, Consulting Engineers, at June 1992, with subsequent additions 
recorded at cost.  These assets are not revalued. 
 
Library Collection 
Library collections are carried at depreciated replacement cost.  Valuations are performed annually by 
the Head Librarian and are not subject to independent review because they are based on readily 
available market prices. 
 
Cultural and Heritage Assets 
These assets provide a cultural or heritage service to the community, and include North Otago 
Museum artefacts, the Forrester Gallery art collection and the Libraries’ resources.  They are 
recorded at valuation, based on net current value, with subsequent additions at cost. 
 



 

 
Waitaki District Council Annual Report  113 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

Note 10: Property, Plant and Equipment (Council Only) 
 

 

2018 Cost/ Current Current Current Revaluation Cost/ Accum Depn & Current Current Revaluation Current Year Accum Depn & Book Book

Council Only Valuation Year Year Year  Valuation Impairment Year Year  Impairment Impairment Value Value

01-Jul-17 Assets Assets Disposals  30-Jun-18 Charges Depreciation Disposals  Charges Charges 30-Jun-17 30-Jun-18

Constructed Transferred 01-Jul-17  30-Jun-18  

by WDC to WDC  

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Land 47,579 128 (529) 47,178 47,579 47,178

Buildings and  Improvements 44,763 1,601 12 (273) 46,103 3,273 2,604 (54) 5,823 41,490 40,280

Infrastructural Assets

   - Roading 473,999 6,550 365 31,184 512,098 13,756 5,974 (13,446) 6,284 460,243 505,814

   - Bridges 22,664 612 114 23,390 1,775 628 (1,775) 628 20,889 22,762

   - Water Supply Schemes:

Treatment Plants and Facilities 15,467 409 (66) 15,810 1,363 794 (27) 2,130 14,104 13,680

Other Assets (ie Reticulation) 41,775 4,706 193 (908) 45,766 1,694 861 (65) 2,490 40,081 43,276

   - Sewerage Schemes:

Treatment Plants and Facilities 8,102 657 (19) 8,740 626 314 (4) 936 7,476 7,804

Other Assets (ie Reticulation) 33,497 898 241 (172) 34,464 1,364 693 (45) 2,012 32,133 32,452

   - Drainage Schemes 15,142 152 160 (37) 15,417 445 223 (2) 666 14,697 14,751

   - Solid Waste Facilities 1,300 1,300 1,092 35 1,127 208 173

   - Oamaru Harbour 32,509 32,509 5,417 338 5,755 27,092 26,754

   - Alps to Ocean 4,207 151 4,358 386 154 540 3,821 3,818

Total Infrastructural Assets 648,662 14,135 959 (1,202) 31,298 693,852 27,918 10,014 (143) (15,221) 22,568 620,744 671,284

Operational Assets

   - Plant, Equipment and Vehicles 2,188 235 1 (197) 2,227 1,208 170 (125) 1,253 980 974

   - Office Equipment and Fittings 3,883 402 (179) 4,106 3,034 319 (173) 3,180 849 926

Total Operational Assets 6,071 637 1 (376) 6,333 4,242 489 (298) 4,433 1,829 1,900

Collections 2,045 114 4 (106) 2,057 558 83 (93) 548 1,487 1,509

Capital Works in Progress 6,111 6,166 (3,737) 8,540 6,111 8,540

755,231 22,781 976 (6,223) 31,298 804,063 35,991 13,190 (588) (15,221) 33,372 719,240 770,691
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Note 10: Property, Plant and Equipment (Council Only) 
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Note 10: Property, Plant and Equipment (Consolidated) 
 

  

2018 Cost/ Current Current Current Revaluation Cost/ Accum Depn & Current Current Revaluation Current Year Accum Depn & Book Book

Consolidated Valuation Year Year Year  Valuation Impairment Year Year  Impairment Impairment Value Value

01-Jul-17 Assets Assets Disposals  30-Jun-18 Charges Depreciation Disposals  Charges Charges 30-Jun-17 30-Jun-18

Constructed Transferred 01-Jul-17  30-Jun-18  

by WDC to WDC  

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Land 50,856 249 (529) 50,576 50,856 50,576

Buildings and  Improvements 56,594 1,680 12 (283) (833) 57,170 4,089 3,034 (64) (1,143) 5,916 52,505 51,254

Infrastructural Assets

   - Roading 473,999 6,550 365 31,184 512,098 13,756 5,974 (13,446) 6,284 460,243 505,814

   - Bridges 22,664 612 114 23,390 1,775 628 (1,775) 628 20,889 22,762

   - Water Supply Schemes

Treatment Plants and Facilities 15,467 409 (66) 15,810 1,363 794 (27) 2,130 14,104 13,680

Other Assets (ie Reticulation) 41,775 4,706 193 (908) 45,766 1,694 861 (65) 2,490 40,081 43,276

   - Sewerage Schemes

Treatment Plants and Facilities 8,102 657 (19) 8,740 626 314 (4) 936 7,476 7,804

Other Assets (ie Reticulation) 33,497 898 241 (172) 34,464 1,364 693 (45) 2,012 32,133 32,452

   - Drainage Schemes 15,142 152 160 (37) 15,417 445 223 (2) 666 14,697 14,751

   - Solid Waste 1,300 1,300 1,092 35 1,127 208 173

   - Oamaru Harbour 32,509 32,509 5,417 338 5,755 27,092 26,754

   - Alps to Ocean 4,207 151 4,358 386 154 540 3,821 3,818

Total Infrastructural Assets 648,662 14,135 959 (1,202) 31,298 693,852 27,918 10,014 (143) (15,221) 22,568 620,744 671,284

Operational Assets

   - Plant, Equipment and Vehicles 26,070 2,574 1 (1,492) 27,153 18,274 1,572 (1,286) 18,560 7,796 8,593

   - Office Equipment and Fittings 5,914 698 (274) 6,338 4,322 465 (260) 4,527 1,592 1,811

Total Operational Assets 31,984 3,272 1 (1,766) 33,491 22,596 2,037 (1,546) 23,087 9,388 10,404

Collections 2,045 114 4 (106) 2,057 558 83 (93) 548 1,487 1,509

Capital Works in Progress 6,548 6,166 (4,151) 8,563 6,548 8,563

796,689 25,616 976 (8,037) 30,465 845,709 55,161 15,168 (1,846) (16,364) 52,119 741,528 793,590
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Note 10: Property, Plant and Equipment (Consolidated) 
 

 

2017 Cost/ Current Current Current Revaluation Cost/ Accum Depn & Current Current Revaluation Current Year Accum Depn & Book Book

Consolidated Valuation Year Year Year  Valuation Impairment Year Year  Impairment Impairment Value Value

01-Jul-16 Assets Assets Disposals  30-Jun-17 Charges Depreciation Disposals  Charges Charges 30-Jun-16 30-Jun-17

Constructed Transferred 01-Jul-16  30-Jun-17  

by WDC to WDC  

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Land 47,303 162 281 (351) 3,461 50,856 47,303 50,856

Buildings and  Improvements 55,280 1,259 230 (380) 205 56,594 7,522 3,016 (31) (6,418) 4,089 47,758 52,505

Infrastructural Assets

   - Roading 468,088 5,911 473,999 9,202 4,554 13,756 458,886 460,243

   - Bridges 22,054 610 22,664 1,183 592 1,775 20,871 20,889

   - Water Supply Schemes

Treatment Plants and Facilities 14,474 1,346 (353) 15,467 775 786 (198) 1,363 13,699 14,104

Other Assets (ie Reticulation) 41,658 531 (414) 41,775 855 863 (24) 1,694 40,803 40,081

   - Sewerage Schemes

Treatment Plants and Facilities 8,102 8,102 312 314 626 7,790 7,476

Other Assets (ie Reticulation) 33,301 68 200 (72) 33,497 683 683 (2) 1,364 32,618 32,133

   - Drainage Schemes 15,078 64 15,142 223 222 445 14,855 14,697

   - Solid Waste 1,300 1,300 1,033 59 1,092 267 208

   - Oamaru Harbour 32,509 32,509 5,076 341 5,417 27,433 27,092

   - Alps to Ocean 3,443 764 4,207 246 140 386 3,197 3,821

Total Infrastructural Assets 640,007 9,294 200 (839) 648,662 19,588 8,554 (224) 27,918 620,419 620,744

Operational Assets

   - Plant, Equipment and Vehicles 25,663 1,821 8 (1,422) 26,070 17,901 1,631 (1,270) 12 18,274 7,762 7,796

   - Office Equipment and Fittings 5,109 846 (41) 5,914 3,997 378 (53) 4,322 1,112 1,592

Total Operational Assets 30,772 2,667 8 (1,463) 31,984 21,898 2,009 (1,323) 12 22,596 8,874 9,388

Collections 2,127 101 6 (189) 2,045 647 86 (175) 558 1,480 1,487

Capital Works in Progress 4,668 4,868 (2,988) 6,548 4,668 6,548

780,157 18,351 725 (6,210) 3,666 796,689 49,655 13,665 (1,753) (6,418) 12 55,161 730,502 741,528
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Note 10: Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 
 
Capital Work in Progress 
Capital Work in Progress consists of the following asset categories: 
 
 

 2018 
$000 

2017 
$000 

Infrastructural Assets – roading and bridges  651 92 
Infrastructural Assets – water supply schemes   6,658 4,095 

Infrastructural Assets – sewerage schemes   111 805 
Infrastructural Assets – drainage schemes   64 64 
Property and other assets  1,056 1,055 

Total  $8,540 $6,111 

 
Restricted Assets 
The asset categories Land, and Buildings and Improvements, include properties that are restricted.  These 
restrictions affect Council’s right to use, or dispose of, the asset, and may derive either from legislation (such 
as the Reserves Act 1977) or from the terms of particular endowments or bequests which determine the 
purpose for which the assets may be used.  These assets have a carrying value of $8,626,666 (2017: 
$8,806,482). 
 
Insurance (mandatory disclosure under Schedule 10, s31A of the LGA 2002) 
Risk management, insurance and risk financing are key considerations in the protection of public assets.  
Council can provide key services in the future only if its infrastructural assets, in particular, remain available 
for use, and must consider carefully ways of managing risk effectively and making the best use of insurance 
and other mitigation tools.   
 
- Water, Waste Water and Storm Water Assets 
Total carrying value $111,960,755.  Individual assets valued in excess of $1,000,000 are insured –  
value of these assets for insurance purposes is $34,429,640 (2017: $34,429,640).  Council mitigates the risk 
related to the remaining assets through its membership of the Local Authority Protection Programme (LAPP), 
use of depreciation reserves and the Disaster Fund (refer below). 
 
Estimated cost of full replacement of the assets totals $201,680,000, based on the most recent valuation at 1 
July 2015, and subsequent additions at cost or valuation, and can be analysed as follows: 
Water Supply schemes – treatment plants and facilities    $31,340,000 
Water Supply schemes – other assets (ie reticulation)    $69,457,000 
Waste Water (Sewerage) schemes – treatment plants and facilities  $21,219,000 
Waste Water (Sewerage) schemes – other assets (ie reticulation)  $53,340,000 
Storm Water (Drainage) schemes       $26,324,000 
 
- Land and Buildings 
Land has a carrying value of $47,178,043 and cannot be insured.  Restoration might be funded by the 
Earthquake Commission if the loss resulted from an earthquake or landslip. 
 
Buildings have a carrying value of $40,280,395, and a value of $112,041,131 (2017: $99,684,369) for 
insurance purposes.  Council self-insures buildings which would either not be replaced in the event of loss, or 
would be funded from depreciation reserves and the Disaster Fund (refer below). 
 
- Roading Assets, including bridges and footpaths 
Total carrying value $528,576,324.  Not specifically insured, but significant loss or damage would be 
subsidised by the New Zealand Transport Agency, which has previously funded costs arising from storm 
events.  Current rates of financial assistance may change in the future.  Any un-subsidised cost would be met 
from depreciation reserves, and the Disaster Fund (refer next page).  Estimated cost of full replacement of the 
assets is $710,737,428 based on the valuation at 1 July 2017. 
 
- Solid Waste facilities, Oamaru Harbour and the Alps2Ocean Cycle Trail 
Total carrying value of $30,746,310.  Not specifically insured.  Replacement or reinstatement would be funded 
from operational budgets or depreciation reserves.   
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Note 10: Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 
 

- Art Works, Museum Collections, Library Books 
Total carrying value $1,509,227.  Valued at $3,950,550 for insurance purposes (2017: $3,918,550), being 
$2,950,550 for Council’s own art works (2017: $2,918,550), and $1,000,000 for art works on loan to Council 
(2017: $1,000,000).  The balance of Council’s own art works is uninsured.  No provision has been made to 
self-insure these items, as they are considered unique, and could not be replaced. 
 
Library books are not insured, and their replacement would be met from depreciation reserves. 
 
- Vehicles, Plant and Equipment, Furniture and Fittings 
Vehicles have a carrying value of $973,622, and a value for insurance purposes of $1,108,997 (2017: 
$1,010,275).  All are insured for replacement value.   
 
Other items with a carrying value of $926,121 are not insured.  Individual items are not generally of material 
value, and depreciation reserves would provide funding for replacement.   
 

- Summary of Insurance Cover arranged by Council 
Total carrying value of Property Plant and Equipment    $770,691,139 
Total value of cover for insurance purposes    $151,530,318 
Total value of uninsured assets     $619,160,821 
 
Significant uninsured assets include: 
Roading Network (NZTA subsidies, Council reserves)    $528,576,324 
Water, Waste water and stormwater assets (LAPP assistance)     $77,531,115 
Land holdings (uninsurable, potential Earthquake Commission funding)    $47,178,043 
Solid Waste, Harbour, Cycle Trail      $30,746,310 
 
In the event of the destruction of or significant damage to uninsured assets as a result of a natural disaster, 
financial support might be provided from NZTA subsidies, the LAPP fund, the Earthquake Commission and 
Council’s own reserves, including the Disaster Fund and the Insurance Excess Fund (details below).  
Furthermore, assets that were destroyed might not be rebuilt or, if reconstructed, might not be in the same 
configuration as the previous asset, in order to control and reduce cost. 
 
Disaster Fund, Insurance Excess Fund (refer also Note 9 – Special Reserves)  
Council has specific reserves to enable it to provide a rapid response to a significant and damaging event and 
to provide a reserve to meet uninsured losses that may arise.  At 30 June 2018, the Disaster Fund stood at 
$3,749,846 (2017: $3,697,570), and the Insurance Excess Fund totalled $203,094 (2017: $156,869).  Council 
maintains committed cash facilities with its bankers to provide additional and immediate funding to meet any 
shortfall. 
 
Critical Judgements in applying Council’s Accounting Policies in relation to Property, Plant and 
Equipment 
 
Management has exercised these critical judgements in applying Council’s accounting policies: 
 

• Classification of Property – Community Housing 
Council owns and maintains properties to provide community housing.  The receipt of market-based rental 
is incidental to holding these properties, which are held for service delivery objectives as part of Council’s 
social housing policy, and are accounted for as property, plant and equipment. 
 

• Classification of Property – Unoccupied Land 
Council owns unoccupied land which is classified as property, plant and equipment.  Given the uncertainty 
over the future intended use of the land, Council has not classified the land as investment property.  
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Note 11: Intangible Assets 
 
Intangible Assets – policy 
 
Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance.  The main categories of 
intangible assets are: 
 
Software 
Computer software licenses are capitalised based on costs incurred to acquire and bring into use.  Costs, 
including employee costs and related overheads, associated with developing software for internal use are 
recognised as an intangible asset. 
 
Costs related to staff training, maintaining computer software and developing and maintaining Council’s 
website are expensed when incurred.   
 
The useful life of software is 3 to 10 years and the cost is amortised on a straight-line basis. 
 
Carbon Credits 
Carbon credits are recognised at cost on acquisition.  Carbon credits received from the Crown under the 
Emissions Trading Scheme are recognised at fair value, being the value on the tradable carbon credit market 
at the time of receipt.  Carbon credits are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually, and are 
derecognised when they are used to satisfy carbon emission obligations. 
 
Credits have been purchased in past years to meet anticipated future obligations related to emissions at the 
Oamaru landfill facility.  These obligations have now been satisfied by surrendering (disposing of) credits based 
on volumes of waste accepted at the facility up to its closure.  Remaining purchased credits, and those vested 
in Council by Central Government in the 2012/13 financial year, are held against the potential liability that would 
arise should Council, in the future, decide against replanting forested areas after harvesting or fire. 
 
Other Intangible Assets, include: 

- Goodwill 
Goodwill arising as part of a business combination is measured, as at the date of acquisition, at fair value of 
consideration transferred, less fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed.  It is subsequently 
assessed for impairment, and its value adjusted accordingly, on an annual basis, or more frequently as 
indicators of impairment become apparent. 

- Resource consents 
Resource consents are initially valued at cost, and subsequently amortised on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the specific consent. 

- Other 
These are other intangible assets with an identifiable useful life of 25 years, and are amortised on a straight-
line basis. 
 
If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is assessed as impaired and the 
carrying amount is written down to the recoverable amount.  For revalued assets the impairment loss is 
recognised against other revenue and the revaluation reserve for that class of asset.  Where that results in a 
debit balance in the revaluation reserve, the balance is recognised in the surplus or deficit. 
 
For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit. 
 
  



 

 
Waitaki District Council Annual Report   120 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

 
 

Note 11: Intangible Assets (continued) 
 

 

 

Impairment of Intangible Assets 
Intangible assets with a finite useful life are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may no longer be recoverable, and at each balance date.  If 
there is an indication of impairment, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated, and an impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell, and value in use.   
 
Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an asset where the future economic benefits or service 
potential of the asset are not primarily dependent on the assets’ ability to generate net cash inflows and where 
the entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future economic benefits or service. 
 
 
 

 
 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Other Total

2018 2017

Software
Carbon 

Credits
Other Total Software

Carbon 

Credits

Council only

Balance at 1 July

Cost 2,150      24           165         2,339      2,114      63           165         2,342      

Accumulated Amortisation (1,512)     -          (146)        (1,658)     (1,307)     -          (140)        (1,447)     

Opening Book Value 638         24           19           681         807         63           25           895         

Movements for the year

Additions 180         -          -          180         36           -          -          36           

Disposals - cost -          (8)            -          (8)            -          (39)          -          (39)          

Amortisation charge (200)        -          (6)            (206)        (205)        -          (6)            (211)        

Disposals - accum amortisation -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          

Net movement for the year (20)          (8)            (6)            (34)          (169)        (39)          (6)            (214)        

Balance at 30 June

Cost 2,330      16           165         2,511      2,150      24           165         2,339      

Accumulated Amortisation (1,712)     -          (152)        (1,864)     (1,512)     -          (146)        (1,658)     

Closing Book Value $618 $16 $13 $647 $638 $24 $19 $681

Consolidated

Balance at 1 July

Cost 2,289      24           988         3,301      2,245      63           988         3,296      

Accumulated Amortisation (1,584)     -          (617)        (2,201)     (1,349)     -          (589)        (1,938)     

Opening Book Value 705         24           371         1,100      896         63           399         1,358      

Movements for the year

Additions 180         -          -          180         44           -          -          44           

Disposals - cost (33)          (8)            -          (41)          -          (39)          -          (39)          

Amortisation charge (217)        -          (30)          (247)        (235)        -          (28)          (263)        

Disposals - accum amortisation -          -          -          -          -          -          -          -          

Net movement for the year (70)          (8)            (30)          (108)        (191)        (39)          (28)          (258)        

Balance at 30 June

Cost 2,436      16           988         3,440      2,289      24           988         3,301      

Accumulated Amortisation (1,801)     -          (647)        (2,448)     (1,584)     -          (617)        (2,201)     

Closing Book Value $635 $16 $341 $992 $705 $24 $371 $1,100
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 Council Only  Consolidated 
 2018 2017  2018 2017 
 $000 $000  $000 $000 

 

Note 12: Forestry Assets 
 
Forestry Assets – Policy 
 
Forestry is the estimated worth of the maturing tree stocks in Council’s forests as at date of valuation.  The 
valuation method adopted is Net Present Value based on the age and condition of the trees.  Trees under 
fifteen years are valued at replacement cost.   
The cost of maintaining forestry assets is included in the reported surplus or deficit.   
 

Analysis of Forestry Assets 
 

Balance at 1 July 226 253  226 253 

Impact arising from harvesting activities (25) (112)  (25) (112) 
Gains / (Losses) arising from changes in fair value 
less estimated point of sale costs  

52 85  52 85 

Balance at 30 June $253 $226  $253 $226 

 
Council has forest stands covering a net stocked area of 102.1ha (2017: 102.7ha), planted mainly in pinus 
radiata in the Waitaki district.  These are at varying stages of maturity, mainly from 20 – 30 years.  Council’s 
forestry holdings are primarily for aesthetic and land protection purposes. 
 
The annual valuation, dated 30 June 2018, was performed by David Janett, B.For.Sc, MNZIF, a registered 
forestry consultant, on behalf of Forestry Management Limited.  A pre-tax discount rate of 9.0% (2017: 9.0%) 
has been used to discount the present value of expected cash flows.  All costs and prices used are based on 
current market information. 
 
Council is exposed to financial risks arising from changes in timber prices.  Council is a long term forest owner 
and has therefore not taken any measures to manage this risk. 
 
Insurance 
Council's forestry assets are subject to the risk of fire and storm damage.  In the current financial year Council 
arranged insurance providing maximum cover of $180,424 (2017: $180,424) for the forestry plantations, up to 
$250,000 (2017: $250,000) for fire-fighting costs and up to $111,800 (2017: $111,800) for replanting and other 
re-establishment costs.  The reduced level of insurance cover reflects the decreased value of the forest asset 
after logging activities undertaken during the year. 
 
Emissions Trading Scheme 
The forestry plantations are professionally managed and Council adheres strictly to a replanting plan 
developed by its advisers to ensure that there is no liability related to the Emissions Trading Scheme.  Council 
holds 8,340 carbon credits specifically related to its forestry asset (refer note 11). 
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Note 13: Other Financial Assets 
 
Other Financial Assets – Policy 
 
Financial assets, other than shares in subsidiaries, are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs, if 
any, unless they are carried at fair value through surplus or deficit, in which case transaction costs are expensed 
when incurred. 
 
Term deposits, community and other loans (Loans and Receivables) 
Loans and receivables are reported as current assets except for those with maturities greater than twelve 
months after balance date, which are included in non-current assets. 
 
Loans made at nil or below-market interest rates are initially recognised at the present value of their expected 
future cash flow, discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial instrument.  For loans to 
community organisations, the difference between loan balance and the present value of future cash flows for the 
loan is recognised in the surplus or deficit as a grant expense. 
 
After initial recognition, term deposits, community and other loans are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.  Where applicable, interest accrued is added to the outstanding balance of the 
investment. 
 
At year end, all assets are assessed for indicators of impairment.  Impairment is established when Council and the 
group will not be able to collect amounts due according to the original terms of the investment.  Indicators of 
impairment include: significant financial difficulties of the debtor, the probability that the debtor will enter into 
bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation, and default in payments due. 
 
If assets are considered impaired, the amount of the impairment is recognised in the surplus or deficit. 
 
Listed and unlisted shares (available for sale) 
Council may hold shares in businesses, whether listed or unlisted, for strategic or other reasons.  The intention at 
the time of acquisition is normally to hold long term, but the assets may be realised prior to maturity.  Shares held 
at year end are classified as Non-Current Assets unless disposal is contemplated within the following twelve 
month period. 
 
After initial recognition, unlisted shares (other than those in subsidiaries) are measured at their fair value, with 
gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense, except for impairment losses, which 
are recognised in the surplus or deficit.  When sold, any cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other 
comprehensive revenue and expense is transferred to the surplus or deficit. 
 
For shares, a significant or prolonged decline in fair value provides objective evidence of impairment.  If such 
evidence exists, the cumulative loss recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense is transferred to 
the surplus or deficit.  Impairment losses on shares recognised in the surplus or deficit are not reversed through 
the surplus or deficit. 
 
Shares in subsidiaries 
Council consolidates in the group financial statements all entities where Council has the capacity to control 
financing and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from the activities of the subsidiaries.  This right exists 
through the exercise of majority voting power on the governing body or where such polices have been 
irreversibly determined by Council, or where the determination of such policies is unable to materially affect the 
level of potential ownership benefits arising from the activities of the subsidiary. 
 
The investment in subsidiaries is carried at cost in Council’s parent entity financial statements. 
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Note 13: Other Financial Assets (continued) 
 

Analysis of Other Financial Assets 
 
Non-Current 

     

Available for sale      
Shares in other companies (see below) 145 145  145 145 
      

Investments Carried at Cost      
Shares in Subsidiaries  4,912 4,912  - - 
      
Loans and Receivables      

Mortgages and Secured Loans 28,606 25,060  31,125 27,435 

Total Non-Current Other Financial Assets $33,663 $30,117  $31,270 $27,580 

 

Current      
Term Deposits maturing between 3 & 12 months 4,250 9,425  6,885 12,876 
Mortgages and Secured Loans 96 16  16 16 

Total Current Other Financial Assets $4,346 $9,441  $6,901 $12,892 

 
Maturity Profile 

     

Within one year 4,346 9,441  6,901 12,892 
One to two years 366 301  366 301 
Two to five years 21,095 17,047  21,095 17,047 
Five years and over 7,290 7,857  9,665 10,232 

Total Other Financial Assets $33,097 $34,646  $38,027 $40,472 

 
The effective interest rate on mortgages and secured loans at year end was 3.25% (2017: 3.42%). 
 
Loans and Receivables 
Mortgages and Secured Loans include: 
 
North Otago Irrigation Co Ltd (NOIC) 17,000 17,000  17,000 17,000 

 
This advance matures in August 2022, and is secured by a General Security Agreement covering the 
Company’s assets including Water Supply Contracts and Memorandum of Encumbrances between NOIC 
and the Irrigators.  Interest is based on the 1 year bill rate plus a margin, and is reviewed annually. 

 

Observatory Village Lifecare Ltd 11,086 7,222  16,686 12,822 
Less: Provision for Impairment - -  (3,081) (3,225) 

 

Council’s advances are secured by a General Security Agreement over the company’s assets, with interest based 
on the 1 year bill rate, plus a margin.  Council’s lending is capped at a maximum of $11,750,000. 
The Group’s advance is also secured over the company’s assets, and includes an interest-free element on which 
repayments are expected to commence in the 2028 financial year. The loan has been recorded at fair value based 
on discounted cash flows using a discount rate of 6.09% (2017: 6.09%), and has resulted in a reduction in the 
impairment provision of $145,000 (2017: an increase of $947,000) which is shown in Note 5. 
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Note 13: Other Financial Assets (continued) 
 
Shares in Other Companies Carried at Cost 
Council holds shares in the following unlisted companies: 
 

 
As there is no market for shares in these companies, or any like market or shares for sale, a fair value cannot 
be accurately estimated for these holdings. 
 

Note 14: Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents – Policy 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.  The carrying value of cash at 
bank and term deposits maturing within three months approximates fair value.   
 
Analysis of Cash and cash equivalents 
      
Cash at bank and in hand 166 63  821 602 

Deposits with initial terms of 3 months or less 2,050 4,420  2,940 4,938 

Total Cash Equivalents $2,216 $4,483  $3,761 $5,540 

 

Note 15: Trade and Other Receivables 
 
Trade and other receivables – Policy 
 
Short-term receivables are initially measured at the amount due, less any provision for impairment.   
 
A receivable is considered impaired when there is evidence that the amount due will not be fully collected.  The 
amount that is impaired is the difference between the amount due and the present value of the amount that is 
likely to be collected. 
 
Receivables are generally short-term and non-interest bearing.  Accordingly, the face value of Accounts 
Receivable approximates their fair value.  Receivables are inclusive of GST where applicable.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Civic Financial Services Limited (balance date 31 December) 

• Shares held 120,000 120,000  120,000 120,000 

• Percentage of Issued Shares 1.07% 1.07%  1.07% 1.07% 

• Book Value $113,908 $113,908  $113,908 $113,908 

Lower Waitaki Irrigation Co Limited (balance date 31 December) 

• Shares held 2,909 2,909  2,909 2,909 

• Percentage of Issued Shares 11.50% 11.50%  11.50% 11.50% 

• Book Value $31,016 $31,016  $31,016 $31,016 
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Note 15: Trade and Other Receivables (continued) 
 
Receivables comprise 
 
Receivables from non-exchange transactions 
Outstanding debt related to rates, external grants, 
infringements and fees and charges for services 
that are partly subsidised from rates 

5,650 2,981 

 

6,743 3,993 

Receivables from exchange transactions 
Outstanding debt related to commercial sales, and 
fees and charges that are not subsidised from rates 

963 489 
 
3,778 3,482 

Total Receivables $6,613 $3,470  $10,521 $7,475 

 
Analysis of Receivables, and other information 
 
Rates 1,491 1,331  1,491 1,331 

Government Funding 3,558 1,278  4,587 2,255 

Inter-company 40 19  - - 

Infringements 62 55  62 55 

Sundry Debtors 1,811 1,146  4,745 4,201 

Total Receivables 6,962 3,829  10,885 7,842 

Less Provision for Impairment (349) (359)  (364) (367) 

Total Receivables $6,613 $3,470  $10,521 $7,475 

 
The only significant concentration of credit risk outside the group is with the New Zealand Transport Agency 
for Council, while the Southern District Health Board is also significant for the group.  Given the nature of 
these organisations, the risk is considered very low. 
 
Aging profile of Receivables 
 

Not yet overdue 5,882 3,041  9,415 6,285 

Overdue 0 – 30 days 91 269  344 523 

Overdue 30 – 60 days 74 74  150 267 

Overdue more than 61 days 915 445  976 767 

Total Receivables $6,962 $3,829  $10,885 $7,842 
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Note 15: Trade and Other Receivables (continued) 
 
Analysis of Provision for impairment 
 

Individual provision 38 37  53 45 

Collective provision 311 322  311 322 

Total Provision $349 $359  $364 $367 

 
General receivables are assessed for impairment and individual provisions are applied.  The collective 
impairment relates to rates outstanding over 12 months and to a portion of current year rate penalties. 
 
Movements in the Provision for impairment 
 
At 1 July  359 773  367 899 

Increase / (Decrease) in Provision  65 3  73 (11) 

Less Receivables written off  (75) (417)  (76) (521) 

Total Provision  $349 $359  $364 $367 

 

Note 16: Assets Held for Sale 
 
Assets held for sale – Policy 
 
Non-current assets held for sale are recognised as a current asset when a sale is highly probable, there is 
commitment to a plan to sell the asset, and the sale is expected to occur within a year.  Such assets are 
valued at the lower of carrying value and fair value less disposal costs. 
 
Impairment losses for write-downs of assets held for sale are recognised in the surplus or deficit.  Any 
increases in fair value (less costs to sell) are recognised up to the level of any previously recognised 
impairment losses.  Property held for sale is not depreciated while part of this classification.   
 
Analysis of Assets held for Sale 
 
Land – North End Industrial Park, 3 sites 1,150 1,150  1,150 1,150 

Land and buildings – Boundary Creek site - 369  - 369 

Total Assets held for Sale  $1,150 $1,519  $1,150 $1,519 

 

The Boundary Creek site was sold in July 2017.  The North End Industrial Park sites are subject to an 
agreement for sale and purchase, with deferred settlement.  Interest is charged on the outstanding balance at 
Council’s internal lending rates.  The sale must be settled by June 2023, but the precise timing cannot be 
determined. 
 
Classification of Assets held for Sale 
 
Non-current asset 1,150 1,150  1,150 1,150 

Current asset - 369  - 369 

Total Assets held for Sale  $1,150 $1,519  $1,150 $1,519 
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Note 17: Construction contracts 
 
Construction contracts – Policy 

 
Contract revenue and contract costs are recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to 
the stage of completion of the contract at balance date.  This is measured by reference to the contract costs 
incurred as a percentage of total estimated costs for each contract.  Contract costs include all costs directly 
related to specific contracts, those that are specifically chargeable to the customer under the terms of the 
contract and an allocation of overheads incurred in connection with the group’s construction activities in 
general. 
 
An expected loss on a contract is recognised immediately as an expense in the surplus or deficit.  Where the 
outcome of a contract cannot be reliably estimated, contract costs are recognised as an expense when 
incurred, and if it is probable that the costs will be recovered, revenue is recognised to the extent of costs 
incurred. 
 
Construction work in progress is stated at the aggregate of contract costs incurred plus recognised surpluses 
less recognised losses and progress billings.  If progress billings exceed aggregate costs incurred plus 
surpluses less losses, the net amount is reported as a liability. 
 
Analysis of Construction work in progress 
 
Contract costs  - -  6,952 5,291 

Profit recognised to date  - -  838 949 

Gross construction work in progress  - -  7,790 6,240 

Less progress billings  - -  (7,612) (6,137) 

Net construction work in progress  - -  178 103 

Other contracts  -   -  115 52 

Total Work in Progress  - -  $293 $155 

 

Note 18: Inventories 
 
Inventories – Policy 
 
Inventories are held for sale, or for the provision of goods and services, and comprise materials on hand at 
year end, measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost is determined on a first-in first-out 
basis.  Any write down from cost to net realisable value is recognised immediately in the surplus or deficit. 
 
Analysis of Inventories 
 
Retail Inventories  10 11  84 93 

Logged Timber  - 15  - 15 

Metal and Soil Stocks  - -  355 515 

Other Supplies  - -  477 504 

Less Provision for Obsolescence  -   -  - (45) 

Total inventory classified as Current  $10 $26  $916 $1,082 
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Note 19: Provisions 
 
Provisions – Policy 
 
A provision is recognised for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when there is a present 
obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of future 
economic benefit will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation 
using a pre-tax discount rate reflecting the current assessment of the time value of money and of the risks 
specific to the obligation. 
 
Landfill Aftercare and Site Restoration      

Opening 921 736  932 755 

Provision utilised (167) (94)  (167) (102) 

Additions to Provision 274 279  280 279 

 $1,028 $921  $1,045 $932 

      
Analysed:      
Non-Current 719 788  719 788 

Current 309 133  326 144 

 
$1,028 $921  $1,045 $932 

 
Estimating Landfill aftercare costs – Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
 
Council has operated landfills in Oamaru and Palmerston, and is required by the conditions of its consents to 
maintain and monitor those landfills after their closure, including establishing a provision to undertake clean-
up work at these and other potentially contaminated sites. 
 
Council has engaged an independent consultant, David Brown, NZCE-Civil, REA, of Waugh Consultants Ltd, 
to assess and value Council’s landfill aftercare provision. 
 
Cash outflows for post-closure costs in relation to the Oamaru landfill, which closed in April 2017, will be 
incurred over the next twenty years, commencing in 2018, while those related to the Palmerston landfill are 
expected to occur over a twenty year period commencing in 2027.  The extremely long-term nature of this 
liability means there are inherent uncertainties in the estimation of the costs that will be incurred.  Future cash 
outflows have been estimated based on existing technology and known or assumed changes to legal 
requirements. 
 
The provision is based on the remaining expected life of the remaining landfill, as determined by current and 
expected future volumes, and the anticipated costs of cleaning up, capping and monitoring the sites.  Gross 
projected costs, before being discounted to present value using a discount rate of 5.0% (2017: 5%), amount to 
$1,338,010 (2017: $1,285,570). 
 
Site Restoration 
This provision is to allow for the restoration of land used for quarrying and other processes. 
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Note 20: Employee Entitlements 
 
Employee Entitlements – Policy 
 
Short-term benefits 
Employee benefits that are due to be settled within 12 months of balance date are measured at nominal 
values based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay.  These include salaries and wages accrued up 
to balance date and annual leave earned to, but not yet taken at balance date. 
 
Council recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses if contractually obliged or where there is a past 
practice that has created a constructive obligation, and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made. 
 
Long-term benefits 
Employee benefits that are due to be settled beyond 12 months after balance date, such as long service 
leave, have been calculated on an actuarial basis, taking into account: 
 

• likely future entitlements accruing to staff, based on years of service, years to entitlement, the likelihood 
that staff will reach the point of entitlement and contractual entitlements information; and 

• the present value of estimated future cash flows, applying an appropriate discount rate and inflation factor.  
The discount rate is based on the weighted average of Government interest rates for stock with terms to 
maturity similar to those of the relevant liabilities.  The inflation factor is based on the expected long term 
increase in remuneration for the employees. 

 
 
Analysis of Employee Entitlements 
      
Accrued Pay 415 400  1,361 1,193 
Annual Leave 711 674  2,514 2,628 
Long Service Leave - -  114 114 
Sick Leave - -  46 35 
Continuing Medical Education - -  79 172 

 $1,126 $1,074  $4,114 $4,142 

Analysed:      
Non-Current - -  116 102 

Current 1,126 1,074  3,998 4,040 
 $1,126 $1,074  $4,114 $4,142 
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Note 21: Borrowings and other financial liabilities 
 
Borrowings and other financial liabilities - Policy 
 
Borrowings on commercial terms  
These are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs, then measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method, and are classified as current liabilities unless settlement is deferred for at least 
twelve months after balance date. 
 
Finance Leases 
These transfer to the lessee substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of an asset, and are initially 
recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at the lower of the fair value of the 
leased item and the present value of the minimum lease payments 
Finance costs are charged to surplus or deficit over the lease period, while the amount recognised as an asset 
is depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the useful life of the asset 
 
Analysis of Borrowings and other financial liabilities 
      
Non-Current Borrowing      

Public Debt – secured - -  - - 

Other secured loans - -  8 10 

Total $- $-  $8 $10 

      
Current Borrowing      
Public Debt – secured - -  - - 
Other secured loans - -  1 1 

Total - -  $1 $1 

Total Borrowings $- $-  $9 $11 

      
 
Repayment Terms 
The following is a maturity analysis of total debt: 

Payable no later than one year - -  1 1 

Later than one, not later than five years - -  8 10 

 $- $-  $9 $11 

 
Financing Costs 
Council has a Committed Cash Facility that can be drawn down for periods between 1 and 90 days.  Costs are 
based on the 90-day rate plus a margin consistent with that charged to similar organisations. 
 
Security 
Public debt reported by Council as secured is normally secured over future rates revenues, while debt 
reported by members of Council’s group is generally secured over property. 
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Note 21: Borrowings and other financial liabilities (continued) 
 
Internal Loans (Council Only) 
 
Council’s Liability, Management and Investment Policy established an internal loan system using cash 
reserves to fund activities in preference to raising external debt.  By using this policy, Council has repaid all its 
external debt.  Internal loans are deemed part of ratepayer debt as, at a future date when cash is needed for 
the purpose for which it has been raised, external loans may be required.   
 
Internal loan balances outstanding at 30 June 2018 were $24,326,220 (2017: $22,673,484), as below: 
 
Movements for the year ended 30 June 2018 
 

 
 
Movements for the year ended 30 June 2017 
 

  

Interest Balance Increased Principal Balance

Expense 1 July Borrowing Repaid 30 June

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Roads and Footpaths 15           467         150         (71)          546         

Waste Water 10           266         149         (56)          359         

Stormwater Damage 0             5             -             (5)            -             

Water Supply 339         8,947      4,228      (831)        12,344     

Waste Management and minimisation 8             433         -             (229)        204         

Arts, Heritage and Culture 4             112         -             (11)          101         

Parks and Recreation 19           807         14           (304)        517         

Community amenities 4             84           84           (4)            164         

Oamaru Harbour and Historic Precinct 67           1,852      281         (96)          2,037      

Commercial and Development Activities 267         9,700      464         (2,110)     8,054      

Support Services (733)        -             -             -             -             

-             22,673     5,370      (3,717)     24,326     

Roads and Footpaths 18           534         -             (67)          467         

Waste Water 16           313         18           (65)          266         

Stormwater Damage 0             11           -             (6)            5             

Water Supply 329         9,416      188         (657)        8,947      

Waste Management and minimisation 18           554         -             (121)        433         

Arts, Heritage and Culture 1             7             106         (1)            112         

Parks and Recreation 28           709         217         (119)        807         

Community amenities 4             107         5             (28)          84           

Oamaru Harbour and Historic Precinct 53           1,528      428         (104)        1,852      

Commercial and Development Activities 374         10,764     1,258      (2,322)     9,700      

Environmental Regulation and Safety -             -             -             -             -             

Support Services (841)        

-             23,943     2,220      (3,490)     22,673     
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Note 22: Trade and Other Payables 
 
Trade and other payables – Policy 
 
Trade and other payables are recorded at their face value.  They are generally non-interest bearing and 
settled on 30-day terms. 
 
Analysis of Trade and other payables 
 
Sundry Creditors 6,066 3,439  8,620 5,871 
Accruals 104 89  288 383 
Owing to Subsidiaries 904 604  - - 
Revenue Charged or Received in Advance 979 994  1,315 1,125 
Deposits 126 146  126 146 

Total Trade and other payables $8,179 $5,272  $10,349 $7,525 

 

Note 23: Commitments 
 
Capital Commitments 
 
Water infrastructure 795 5,323  45 541 
Roading infrastructure 4,120 1,736  4,120 1,736 
Property, Plant & Equipment 549 -  691 470 

Total Capital Commitments $5,464 $7,059  $4,856 $2,747 

 
Contractual Commitments 
 
Council and the group have long-term contractual commitments with the following payment profile: 

 
Not later than one year 10,669 10,567  10,089 9,989 
Later than one year and not later than two  9,903 7,843  9,429 7,863 
Later than two years  10,443 10,067  9,993 10,087 

Total Contractual commitments $30,794 $28,477  $29,511  $27,939 

 
Contractual commitments expected to be paid within twelve months after balance date include the balance of 
$663,182 to reach the approved lending cap of $11.75 million for Observatory Village Lifecare Ltd (2017: 
$1,027,540, approved lending cap of $8.25 million). 
 
Operating Leases 
 
Council and the group have commitments related to non-cancellable operating leases in relation to property 
and certain items of equipment, including photocopiers, with the following payment profile: 
 
Not later than one year 109 106  245  206 
Later than one year and not later than five years 25 96  214  162 
Later than five years - -   -  - 

Total Operating Lease commitments $134 $202  $459 $368 
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Note 24: Contingencies 
 
Council and Group 
 

• The Building Act 2004 imposes certain obligations and liabilities on local authorities related to the issuing 
of building consents and the inspection of work done.  In association with other local authorities, Council 
belongs to the Civic Liability Pool (CLP) established to provide insurance for claims under the Building Act 
2004.  Further calls may be made by the CLP on Council, and a liability will be recognised when there is 
certainty over the amounts involved. 

 

• Council is a member of the Local Authority Protection Programme (LAPP).  Members may be called upon 
to make a contribution should a future major natural disaster negatively impact the LAPP.  A liability will be 
recognised in relation to those future contributions when there is more certainty over their amount and 
timing.  Council is not aware of any such liability due at, or occurring since, balance date.  Refer to Note 10 
– Insurance section. 

 

• Council is not aware of any actual or potential personal grievance claims (2017: nil). 
 

• Council owns and manages closed landfills whose contents are unknown.  Resource consents require 
regular monitoring of these landfills.  Except for the former Hampden landfill, there are no known defects 
that might result in a claim, and Council believes defects at this site have been resolved.  Future changes 
to environmental conditions or land use may affect this position.  Council has established a Provision for 
Closed Landfills to reflect the estimated future cost of its obligation – see Note 19 for further information.   

 

• Council owns 234.95 (2017: 234.95) hectares of forest, all being pre-1990 forest in terms of the emissions 
trading scheme.  If this land is permanently de-forested, a de-forestation penalty may be incurred, the 
potential amount of which is unknown but unlikely to be incurred as Council has no current intention to de-
forest any of its forest holdings.  Council has been allocated and continues to hold carbon credits related to 
its forestry asset.  See Notes 11 and 12 for further information. 

 
• Council has no contingent assets. 

 
• A Group member is conducting an investigation to ensure compliance with the Holidays Act 2003 in 

circumstances where staff hours and patterns of work have varied. No conclusion has yet been reached as 
to whether there is likely to be any additional liability, and accordingly, no amounts have been included in 
this financial report. 

 
• A Group member has established performance bonds amounting to $1,499,517 (2017: $1,197,226) to 

guarantee performance obligations under particular contracts. These performance bonds are released 
when performance criteria are met.  

 

• As a significant property owner, Council faces a number of issues: 
 

- Depending on the scale and timing of any structural strengthening or other mitigation work that may be 
required following an assessment of the findings of the Canterbury Earthquakes Royal Commission of 
Inquiry, and statutory deadlines for its completion, Council may be required to reprioritise other capital 
expenditure; and 
 

- To mitigate the effect of extreme changes in insurance premiums following the Christchurch and 
Kaikoura earthquakes, Council self-insures a range of assets, and assumes larger excesses in some 
cases.  This strategy carries increased risk of financial loss to Council, the impact of which cannot be 
accurately quantified.  Council continues to monitor this risk and to consider ways by which it can 
practically limit its exposure.  See Note 10 – Insurance section – for further information. 
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 Note 25: Financial Instruments 
 
Council’s activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity 
risk.  Council and the group have policies to manage these risks and to minimise exposure from its treasury 
activities.  These policies do not allow any transactions that are speculative in nature. 
 

• Market Risk 
 

Fair value interest rate risk 
The risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.  
Council’s exposure is limited to any borrowing, short-term bank deposits and short- and longer-term 
investments in other entities, mainly Whitestone Contracting Ltd, North Otago Irrigation Company Ltd, 
Observatory Village Charitable Trust, Observatory Village Lifecare Ltd and major registered banks with which 
Council may from time to time have dealings. 
 
Cash flow interest rate risk 
The risk that cash flows from financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.  
Borrowing and investments issued at variable interest rates expose Council to cash flow interest rate risk.  
Council’s investment policy requires a spread of investment maturity dates to limit exposure to short-term 
interest rate movements. 
 
Currency risk 
The risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.  
Council does not enter into foreign currency transactions. 
 

• Credit Risk 
 
The risk that a third party will default on its obligations causing Council to incur a loss.  Due to the timing of 
cash inflows and outflows, surplus cash is invested with registered banks.  Council’s investment policy limits 
the amount of credit exposure to any one institution.   
 
The maximum credit exposure for each class of financial instrument is the total carrying amount of cash 
equivalents, trade receivables and loans and receivables as summarised in the table below.   

 
Community and other loans (Note 13) 28,702  25,076   31,141 27,451 
Term deposits (Note 13) 4,250 9,425  6,885 12,876 
Cash at bank (Note 14) 2,216 4,483  3,761 5,540 
Accounts Receivable (Note 15) 6,613 3,470  10,521 7,475 

Total Financial Instruments $41,781 $42,454  $52,308 $53,342 

 
No collateral is held as security against cash equivalents and some short-term community loans.   
 
Credit Quality of financial assets, excluding Accounts Receivable, that are neither past due nor impaired 
can be assessed by reference to credit rating or historic information about default rates. 

 
Cash with institutions rated AA or better by 
Standard and Poor’s 

6,466 13,908  10,646 18,416 

Cash with other entities with no default history 28,702 25,076  31,141 27,451 

 $35,168 $38,984  $41,787 $45,877 
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Note 25: Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

• Credit Risk (continued) 
 

Receivables arise primarily from Council’s statutory functions, and there are no procedures in place to 
monitor or report the credit quality of receivables with reference to internal or external credit ratings. 

 
Council has a significant geographic concentration of credit risk in the Waitaki District of New Zealand, but 
there are no other significant concentrations of credit risk.  Council’s largest receivable balance is the New 
Zealand Transport Agency, which owed 17.93% (2017: 18.53%) of the total debtors due to Council at 
balance date.  The Southern District Health Board is the most significant debtor of Waitaki District Health 
Services Ltd.   

 
• Liquidity Risk 

 
The risk that Council will encounter difficulty raising funds to meet commitments as they fall due.  Prudent 
liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. 
 
Council maintains flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available.  In meeting its liquidity 
requirements, Council maintains a target level of investments that mature within specified timeframes. 
 
Group members have total bank overdraft facilities of $1,750,000 (2017: $2,100,000).  
Council has uncommitted facilities of $10,000,000 (2017: $10,000,000), and other Group members a further 
$1,500,000 (2017: $1,500,000) for the purposes of meeting borrowing needs.   
 
Subject to the continuance of satisfactory credit ratings, the facilities may be drawn down at any time. 
 

Other Matters 
 
Council has performed a sensitivity analysis and estimated that a change in interest rates of 1% would increase, 
or decrease, Council’s surplus by approximately $363,000 (2017 $342,000). 
 
Contractual Maturity Analysis 
 
The tables on the following pages analyse financial assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings at 
balance date based on the remaining term to maturity date.  Amounts disclosed represent undiscounted cash 
flows, including future interest payments, estimated based either on the contracted fixed rate or on the 
appropriate floating rate at balance date. 
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Note 25: Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Carrying Contractual Due within Due between Due between Due later

Amount Cash flows 1 Year 1 & 2 Years 2 & 5 Years than 5 Years

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Council only - 2018

Other Financial Assets

 - Investments in CCOs 4,912            -               -               -               -               -               

 - Investments in other entities 145              -               -               -               -               -               

 - Loans to other entities 28,702          32,860          1,011            1,261            22,564          8,024            

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,216            2,256            2,256            -               -               -               

Trade and Other Receivables 6,613            6,613            6,613            -               -               -               

Term Deposits 4,250            4,378            4,378            -               -               -               

Total Financial Assets 46,838          46,107          14,258          1,261            22,564          8,024            

Trade and Other Payables 8,179            8,179            8,179            -               -               -               

Employee Entitlements 1,126            1,126            1,126            -               -               -               

Total Financial Liabilities 9,305            9,305            9,305            -               -               -               

Net Liquidity $ 37,533 $ 36,802 $ 4,953 $ 1,261 $ 22,564 $ 8,024

Council only - 2017

Other Financial Assets

 - Investments in CCOs 4,912            -               -               -               -               -               

 - Investments in other entities 145              -               -               -               -               -               

 - Loans to other entities 25,076          28,292          592              1,845            22,033          3,822            

Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,483            4,503            4,503            -               -               -               

Trade and Other Receivables 3,470            3,470            3,470            -               -               -               

Term Deposits 9,425            9,689            9,689            -               -               -               

Total Financial Assets 47,511          45,954          18,254          1,845            22,033          3,822            

Trade and Other Payables 5,272            5,272            5,272            -               -               -               

Employee Entitlements 1,040            1,040            1,040            -               -               -               

Total Financial Liabilities 6,312            6,312            6,312            -               -               -               

Net Liquidity $ 41,199 $ 39,642 $ 11,942 $ 1,845 $ 22,033 $ 3,822
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Note 25: Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

 
 
  

Carrying Contractual Due within Due between Due between Due later

Amount Cash flows 1 Year 1 & 2 Years 2 & 5 Years than 5 Years

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Group - 2018

Other Financial Assets

 - Investments in CCOs -               -               -               -               -               -               

 - Investments in other entities 145              -               -               -               -               -               

 - Loans to other entities 31,141          34,768          1,011            1,261            22,033          10,463          

Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,761            3,829            3,829            -               -               -               

Trade and Other Receivables 10,521          10,521          10,521          -               -               -               

Term Deposits 6,885            7,092            7,092            -               -               -               

Total Financial Assets 52,453          56,210          22,453          1,261            22,033          10,463          

Borrowings 9                  11                1                  2                  6                  -               

Trade and Other Payables 10,349          10,349          10,349          -               -               -               

Employee Entitlements 4,114            4,114            3,998            -               116              -               

Total Financial Liabilities 14,472          14,474          14,348          2                  122              -               

Net Liquidity $ 37,981 $ 41,736 $ 8,105 $ 1,259 $ 21,911 $ 10,463

Group - 2017

Other Financial Assets

 - Investments in CCOs -               -               -               -               -               -               

 - Investments in other entities 145              -               -               -               -               -               

 - Loans to other entities 27,451          33,892          592              1,845            22,033          9,422            

Cash and Cash Equivalents 5,540            5,700            5,700            -               -               -               

Trade and Other Receivables 7,475            7,475            7,475            -               -               -               

Term Deposits 12,876          13,262          13,262          -               -               -               

Total Financial Assets 53,487          60,329          27,029          1,845            22,033          9,422            

Borrowings 11                11                1                  2                  6                  2                  

Trade and Other Payables 7,525            7,525            7,525            -               -               -               

Employee Entitlements 4,102            4,102            4,040            -               102              -               

Total Financial Liabilities 11,638          11,638          11,566          2                  108              2                  

Net Liquidity $ 41,849 $ 48,691 $ 15,463 $ 1,843 $ 21,925 $ 9,420
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Note 26: Members’ Interests Transactions 
 
This information relates to Councillors and Community Board Members who, through their business and other 
external relationships, have, or may have, dealings with Council in a commercial context. 
 
All transactions are assumed to have been undertaken at normal commercial rates in the normal course of 
business.  All amounts are stated in whole dollars. 
 

• Mayor Gary Kircher is a Trustee of: 
o The Oamaru Whitestone Civic Trust, which leases heritage properties from Council.  Council 

provided rental and other services of $50,123 (2017: $53,090), and was owed $22,357 at 
year end (2017: $17,813).  The Trust has loans from Council, with $522,500 owing at year 
end (2017: $555,000) and received grants of $14,890 (2017: $15,196); Mayor Kircher has 
resigned his role subsequent to balance date; 

o The Observatory Village Charitable Trust (and associated entities), which is developing a 
retirement village in Oamaru.  In the 2018 year, Council provided planning and other services 
totalling $6,680 (2017: $30,821), and was owed $6,780 (2017: $28,272) at year end.  Council 
has provided loan funding of $11,086,818 (2017: $7,222,460), on which interest of $288,035 
has been paid or compounded (2017: $86,941), and has committed to lend up to a total of 
$11.75 million (2017: $8.25 million) to assist with completion of the project – refer to Note 23 

 
• Cr Colin Wollstein is a Director of North Otago Motor Group Ltd which, during the current year 

provided vehicle maintenance services to Council amounting to $6,087 (2017: $7,122).  At 30 June 
2018, Council owed $424 (2017: $2,262).   
 

• Cr Jeremy Holding (2017: Cr Melanie Tavendale) is a Trustee of the Waitaki Community Recreation 
Trust which operates the Waitaki Community Recreation Centre.  During the current year, the Trust 
received operating grants from Council amounting to $76,000 (2017: $74,460). 
 

• Cr Guy Percival is associated with Sam Percival Contracting.  In the current year, Council purchased 
services amounting to $28,563 (2017: $nil), and owed $nil at year end (2017: $nil). 
 

• Kathy Dennison, former Councillor and current Chair of the Waihemo Community Board, owns 
Palmerston Dental Surgery Ltd which rented premises to the value of $5,000 (2017: $3,992), and owed 
$958 at year end (2017: $958).  Mrs Dennison’s family is associated with Jeffrey Dennison Builders Ltd 
which undertook maintenance work on Council property amounting to $77,872 (2017: $44,218).  Council 
owed $44,566 at year end (2017: $nil). 
 

• Calum Reid, a member of the Ahuriri Community Board, is a Director and/or shareholder of several 
companies with which Council conducts business: 

o Calect Electrical Ltd – purchases by Council $1,564 (2017: $526) – Council owed $nil at year 
end (2017: $nil).   

o Waitaki Test & Tag Ltd - purchases by Council $3,031 (2017: $2,224) - Council owed $nil at 
year end (2017: $nil). 

 
Transactions with elected members, key management personnel and staff 
 
As part of a normal customer relationship, Councillors and staff, including key management personnel, may 
undertake minor transactions with Council, including the payment of rates, registering of dogs and incurring 
and paying other fees and charges. 
 
Close family members of Councillors, key management personnel and other staff may be employed by 
Council or other Group entities from time to time. 
 
The terms and conditions of any such personal transactions or employment arrangements are no more or less 
favourable than would have been the case had there not been a relationship with the Councillor, key 
management personnel or other staff member. 
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Note 27: Related Party Transactions 
 
Council is the ultimate parent of the Group, controlling four individual trading entities.  Through shared 
directorships and other relationships, there are other related entities, but none over which Council can exert 
control. 
 
All transactions between the parent and group members are completed on normal contractual terms, with 
payments made either in accordance with those contracts, or in the month following supply. 
 
Entities listed may transact business between themselves, but the values of such transactions are not detailed 
here and are not considered material for the purposes of this disclosure. 
 

Entity and details of transaction 
 

Council only 

2018 
$000 

2017 
$000 

• Waitaki District Health Services Limited (refer page 76)   

Services provided by Council 62 68 
Balance owed to Council at year end 
 

(4) 4 

• Tourism Waitaki Limited (refer page 75)   

Services provided by Council 196 157 
Balance owed to Council at year end - 13 
Services provided to Council 623 709 
Balance owed by Council at year end 191 - 
 

• Whitestone Contracting Limited and Group (refer page 77)   

Services provided by Council 89 51 
Balance owed to Council at year end 44 1 
Services provided to Council 5,503 3,605 
Balance owed by Council 713 604 
Dividends and Subvention payments made to Council 504 790 
 

• Ōmārama Airfield Limited (refer page 74)   

Services provided by Council 24 23 
Balance owed to Council at year end - - 
 

• North Otago Irrigation Company Limited (significant borrower)   

Interest charged by Council on funds advanced (Note 4) 558 609 
Outstanding balance of Council loan funding (Note 13) 17,000 17,000 
The company is developing and operating a significant irrigation system in the district 

 

• Observatory Village Lifecare Ltd & associated entities (significant borrower)  

Services provided by Council 7 31 
Balance owed to Council at year end 7 28 
Interest charged by Council on funds advanced (Note 4) 288 87 
Outstanding balance of Council loan funding (Note 13) 11,086 7,222 
Council has committed loan funding to a maximum limit of 11,750 8,250 
The company is developing and will operate a retirement village complex in Oamaru 

 
No provision is required and no expense has been recognised in relation to impairment of loans or other 
receivables due from related parties (2017: $nil). 
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Note 28: Funding Impact Statement (whole of Council) 
 

 
  

2018 2018 2017 2017

Annual Plan Annual Plan

$000 $000 $000 $000

Council Only

Sources of operating funding

  General Rates, uniform annual general charge, 

rates penalties
6,963          6,969          6,897          6,903          

Targeted Rates 23,163        23,107        22,877        22,819        

Rates Revenue 30,126        30,076        29,774        29,722        

Subsidies and grants for operating purposes 4,958          3,155          1,302          3,051          

Fees and charges 5,912          5,570          7,049          5,396          

Interest and dividends from investments 1,724          1,474          1,974          1,257          

  Local Authorities' fuel tax, fines, infringement 

fees and other receipts
1,702          1,128          1,581          1,312          

Total operating funding 44,422        41,403        41,680        40,738        

Application of operating funding

Payments to staff and suppliers 36,024        33,342        34,333        33,410        

Finance Costs -              -              1                  -              

Other operating funding applications -              -              -              -              

Total Applications of Operating Funding 36,024        33,342        34,334        33,410        

Surplus / (Deficit) of operating funding 8,398          8,061          7,346          7,328          

Sources of capital funding

Subsidies and grants for capital expenditure 3,503          6,296          5,803          5,919          

Development and financial contributions 2,675          693             1,549          595             

Increase / (decrease) in debt -              -              -              -              

Gross proceeds from sale of assets 955             265             806             135             

Total sources of capital funding 7,133          7,254          8,158          6,649          

Application of capital funding

Capital expenditure

 - to meet additional demand -              -              -              -              

 - to improve the level of service 8,913          11,809        5,140          10,938        

 - to replace existing assets 10,436        10,187        8,350          7,999          

Total capital expenditure 19,349        21,996        13,490        18,937        

Increase / (decrease) in Reserves (3,818)         (6,681)         2,014          (4,960)         

Increase / (decrease) in Investments -              -              -              -              

Total application of capital funding 15,531        15,315        15,504        13,977        

Surplus/deficit of capital funding (8,398)         (8,061)         (7,346)         (7,328)         

Funding balance -              -              -              -              
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Note 29: Reconciliation of Funding Impact Statements by Group of Activity 
 

 
 
  

2018 2018 2017 2017

Actual Annual Plan Actual Annual Plan

$000 $000 $000 $000

Operating Revenue

Roads & Footpaths 5,435 3,611 1,593 3,588

Sewerage (Treatment & Disposal) 680 673 670 659

Stormwater Drainage 6  -  -  - 

Water Supply 806 717 820 832

Waste Management & Minimisation 245 158 1,419 431

Arts, Heritage & Community 660 612 920 663

Parks & Recreation 1,430 1,047 1,485 944

Democracy and Accountability 2 34 67 87

Commercial & Development Activities 3,227 2,747 3,263 2,340

Environment, Regulation & Safety 1,727 1,681 1,618 1,449

Support Services (Net Allocated) 17,487 17,990 15,823 16,736

Operational Revenue per Activity FIS 31,705 29,270 27,678 27,729

Total Sources of Capital Funding

Roads & Footpaths 3,619 4,226 5,259 3,931

Sewerage (Treatment & Disposal) 208 100 100 110

Stormwater Drainage  -  -  -  - 

Water Supply 800 218 238 295

Waste Management & Minimisation  -  -  -  - 

Arts, Heritage & Community 23 2,000 18 788

Parks & Recreation 96 20 397  - 

Democracy and Accountability  -  -  -  - 

Commercial & Development Activities 1,994 489 1,908 1,350

Environment, Regulation & Safety 320 175 168 90

Support Services (Net Allocated) 73 26 70 85

Capital Revenue per Activity FIS 7,133 7,254 8,158 6,649

Add total Rates 30,126 30,076 29,774 29,722

Less Internal recoveries included (17,409) (17,943) (15,774) (16,713)

Revenue per Total Activities FIS 51,555 48,657 49,836 47,387

Remove increase/decrease in debt  -  -  -  - 

Proceeds from sale of assets (1,643) (265) (806) (134)

Adjust Sales contra account  -  - (1,703)  - 

Adjust Rate remissions offset against revenue (241) (242) (272) (242)

Adjust internal revenue  - 1 3 (3)

49,671 48,151 47,058 47,008
Revenue per Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and 

Expenditure
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Note 29: Reconciliation of Funding Impact Statements by Group of Activity (continued) 
 

 
 
  

2018 2018 2017 2017

Actual Annual Plan Actual Annual Plan

$000 $000 $000 $000

Total Applications of Operating Funding

Roads & Footpaths 8,569 7,072 6,129 6,800

Sewerage (Treatment & Disposal) 1,922 1,529 1,720 1,504

Stormwater Drainage 224 224 146 185

Water Supply 4,779 4,212 4,561 4,218

Waste Management & Minimisation 1,588 1,041 2,088 1,338

Arts, Heritage & Community 4,293 4,097 3,899 3,990

Parks & Recreation 4,757 4,586 4,523 4,568

Democracy and Accountability 3,591 3,993 3,451 3,798

Commercial & Development Activities 2,622 2,882 3,430 3,340

Environment, Regulation & Safety 3,991 4,338 4,299 4,210

Support Services (Net Allocated) 16,679 17,267 15,860 16,172

Total Operational expenditure per FIS 53,015 51,241 50,106 50,123

Less internal recoveries (16,991) (17,899) (15,772) (16,712)

Expenditure per Total Activities FIS 36,024 33,342 34,334 33,411

Less internal charges included in capital (419) (503) (422) (198)

Adjust internal charges (2) 1  - 1

Adjust Rate remissions offset against revenue (241) (240) (272) (242)

Add Depreciation and Amortisation (See Note 7) 13,396 12,119 11,887 11,380

48,758 44,719 45,527 44,352

Depreciation and Amortisation

Roads & Footpaths 6,654 5,309 5,129 5,078

Sewerage (Treatment & Disposal) 1,022 1,013 1,012 969

Stormwater Drainage 223 222 224 208

Water Supply 1,656 1,649 1,670 1,731

Waste Management & Minimisation 57 54 79 57

Arts, Heritage & Community 167 169 186 190

Parks & Recreation 951 1,014 872 870

Democracy, Accountability & Planning  -  -  -  - 

Commercial & Development Activities 1,339 1,359 1,138 1,093

Regulation & Safety 36 32 30 24

Support Services (Net Allocated) 1,292 1,298 1,123 1,123

Total Depreciation and Amortisation charges 13,396 12,119 11,463 11,343

Expenditure per Statement of Comprehensive Revenue 

and Expenditure
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Note 30: Explanation of Major Variances against Budget and the prior period 
 
Variances in revenue and expenditure to the prior year, and to budget, are generally detailed in the financial 
commentary in each activity area.   
 
The following provides further information concerning significant or unusual variances: 
 

Council only 
2018 

Actual 
$000 

2018 
Annual 

Plan    
$000 

2017 
Actual 
$000 

Revenue 

Rates       30,779        30,717        30,375  

Refer to Note 1 for further analysis  
Rates are levied in accordance with Finance Policies and the 2017/18 Annual Plan.  Variances from 
budget arise from subdivision activities and other changes in the rating database between the 
adoption of the Plan and the striking of the annual rates.  Rates revenue includes Penalties on 
overdue Rates and charges for water supplied by meter, and are net of remissions granted.  
Penalties on overdue rates were reduced due to debts written off in 2017, and changing volumes of 
water consumed have also contributed to the variance reported 

User Charges 5,116 3,907 5,909 

Significant variances: 

• Landfill charges – Oamaru facility now closed 

• Property rentals  

• Forestry activities 

• Water, sewer and stormwater connection charges 

 
160 

1,752 
218 
432 

 
76 

1,707 
- 

260 

 
1,330 
1,704 

755 
354 

Government Grants 8,160 7,163 6,339 

Refer to Note 2 for further analysis 
The NZ Transport Agency provided extra funding for repairs after the July 2017 weather event, and 
for installing LED streetlighting on state highways.  Received unbudgeted funding from the Ministry 
of Business, Innovation and Employment for construction of public toilets in Duntroon 

Other Grants and Donations 422 2,388 900 

Refer to Note 3 for further analysis 
Redevelopment of Council’s Cultural Facilities has been deferred, resulting in a reduction of $2m in 
anticipated funding for this project.  Grants from Trust Aoraki and Meridian Community Fund for on-
going construction of the Alps2Ocean Cycle Trail of $143k exceeded budget 

Expenditure 

Personnel Costs 10,822 11,314 10,652 

Refer to Note 6 for further analysis 
Council budgets for full staffing, and had fewer vacancies than in the previous financial year.   

Depreciation and amortisation 13,396 12,119 11,887 

Refer to Notes 10 and 11 for further analysis 
Increased depreciation charges arose from the three-yearly revaluation of Roading infrastructure 
completed in July 2017, which produced a value much higher than was budgeted 
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Note 30: Explanation of Major Variances against Budget and the prior period (continued) 
 

Council only 
2018 

Actual 
$000 

2018 
Annual 

Plan    
$000 

2017 
Actual 
$000 

Other expenses 24,540 21,286 22,987 

Refer to Note 7A for statutory disclosures 
Other significant variances: 

• Contractors, maintenance and other works 

• Consultants 

• Electricity 

 
 

14,958 
1,436 
1,728 

 
 

12,125 
1,986 
1,703 

 
 

13,880 
1,010 
1,627 

Other Gains and Losses (724) - (1,615) 

Refer to Note 7B for further analysis 
Forestry assets increased ($52k) due to improved log prices (2017: increase of ($85k)) and gains 
from harvesting totalled ($60k) (2017: ($208k)).  Losses on disposal of Fixed Assets were $1,751 
(2017: $1,931k), while gains on disposal were ($915k) (2017: ($20k)) 

 

Balance Sheet items 

Property, Plant & Equipment 770,691 740,550 719,240 

Refer to Note 10 for further analysis 
The Annual Plan projected an increase in value arising from the triennial revaluation of Roading 
infrastructure of $14.315m, the revaluation actually resulted in an increase in value of $46.519m 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,216 2,150 4,483 

Other Financial Assets – Term Deposits 4,250 6,750 9,425 

Refer to Notes 13 and 14 for further analysis 
Funds on hand were below budget due to significant progress being made on capital projects, and 
the ongoing effect of flood-related repairs following the adverse weather event in July 2017.  

Loans to other entities – non-current asset 28,606 25,032 25,060 

Loans to other entities – current asset 96 1 16 

Refer to Note 13 for further analysis 
Further loan funding for stage 2 of the Observatory Village project was approved after the adoption 
of the 2017-18 Annual Plan.  Current asset reflects the annual principal reduction to be made by 
Oamaru Whitestone Civic Trust, and an advance to Tourism Waitaki which was repaid 2 July 2018. 

Receivables 6,613 3,275 3,470 

Refer to Note 15 for further analysis 
Changes to the pattern of NZTA subsidy claims and finalisation of outstanding insurance claims 
have contributed to the year-end debtors’ position 

Provisions – non-current 719 390 788 

Provisions – current 309 74 133 

Refer to Note 19 for further analysis 
Projected costs for landfill capping and future monitoring of the site are reassessed annually.  The 
overall increase in the provision in 2018 reflects revised expectations of the amount of fill needed, 
and the methodology to be used in completing capping works at the closed Oamaru landfill site 

 

Statement of Cash Flows 

Net Cash from Operating Activities 13,034 15,968 15,316 

Net Cash from Investing Activities (15,301) (17,745) (13,296) 

Refer to the Statement of Cash Flows for further analysis 
The deferral of the Cultural Facilities redevelopment project resulted in reduced revenue from 
grants and donations, and reduced capital expenditure 
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Note 31: Events subsequent to Balance Date 
 
At the meeting of the Waitaki Heritage Fund committee held on 2 August 2018, the committee resolved to 
make a further interest-free advance of $70,000 to the Oamaru Whitestone Civic Trust to assist with the 
installation of a goods elevator in the Loan and Mercantile Building. 
 
Council is still negotiating with its insurers over final reimbursement of expenses incurred in resolving 
damages arising from the adverse weather event of July 2017, and remains optimistic that further funds will be 
received in due course. However there is no basis on which to estimate the quantum of any potential 
settlement and no adjustments have been included in these financial results. 
 
There were no other events arising since balance date relating to Council activities that require either 
adjustment in these financial statements, or inclusion in this Annual Report. 
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Opportunities for Māori to Contribute to the 
Decision Making Process 
 
Existing Arrangements 
Waitaki District Council acknowledges Māori as people with whom there is a special relationship.  Council is 
committed to giving effect to the principles and intent of the Treaty of Waitangi, and to engaging in genuine 
and appropriate consultation with Māori. 
 
Council has in place protocols for ensuring the Tangata Whenua Act 1991, Local Government Act 2002, and 
in the last triennium received and adopted a Memorandum of Understanding with Te Rūnanga o Moeraki to 
guide the ongoing relationship between Council and the Rūnanga.  Council also has a Relationship 
Agreement with Waitaha Taiwhenua O Waitaki Trust Board. 
 
Council continues to focus on its wider role including: 

• Encouraging Māori contribution to decision-making processes of all Council activities, not simply decisions 
under the Resource Management Act 

• Reference to Māori rather than to Tangata Whenua, thus including Mana Whenua and Taura Here 

• Reference not only to enabling contribution to decision-making but also to fostering Māori capacity to 
contribute 

 
Council reports annually against the Memorandum of Understanding through its Annual Report. 
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Principal Advisors  
 
Auditors 
Audit New Zealand - for and on behalf of the 
Controller & Auditor General 
 
Bankers 
Bank of New Zealand 
Oamaru 
 
ANZ Banking Group 
Oamaru 
 
ASB Bank 
Auckland 
 
Westpac Bank 
Dunedin 
 

 
Insurance Brokers 
Aon NZ Limited 
Dunedin 
 
Solicitors 
Anderson Lloyd 
Dunedin 
 
Dean and Associates 
Oamaru 
 
Hope and Associates 
Oamaru 
 
Simpson Grierson 
Wellington 
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Glossary of Terms
 
These definitions are intended to define terms 
used in the Annual Report.  For legal 
definitions see the Local Government Act 2002 
 
Annual Plan 
A plan describing activities Council will do, the 
reasons for doing them, the performance 
measures used and how much revenue and 
expenditure it needs to undertake each activity 
 
Activities 
All the things that the Council does 
 
Building Act 
Building Act 2004 
 
Community Boards 
Local elected bodies set up under the Local 
Government Act 2002.  Boards are consulted 
by Council and present community concerns to 
Council.  Waitaki District Council has two 
Community Boards: Ahuriri and Waihemo 
 
The Outcomes We Want for Our District 
As part of the 2015-25 Long Term Plan, 
Council agreed a number of outcomes we 
want for our district to promote social, 
environmental, economic and cultural 
wellbeing.  Further details can be found on 
page 12 of the 2015-25 Long Term Plan and 
on Council’s website www.waitaki.govt.nz 
 
CV 
Capital Value 
 
Development Contributions (DC) 
A development contribution / financial 
contribution is a charge levied on sub-dividers 
and developers to help pay for new, upgraded, 
or extended water supply, sewer or roading 
infrastructure that must be provided to service 
the new subdivisions or developments.  DCs 
are in addition to the requirement that the 
owners reticulate all of the new sections or 
buildings at their cost 
 
Dog Control Act 
Dog Control Act 1996 and Dog Control 
Amendment Act 2003 
 
Efficiency 
A test of whether a system or funding tool uses 
a reasonable amount of resources to allocate 
costs 
 
 
 

 
Food Act 
Food Act 1981 
 
General Rates 
Rates levied for the general purpose of the 
local authority.  Council may make and levy a 
general rate on every rateable property.  This 
may be: 

• A uniform rate in the dollar of property 
value on all properties; or 

• A differential rate in the dollar of property 
value on all properties;  
and 

• A uniform annual general charge per 
separately rateable property 

 
Health Act 
Health Act 1956 
 
Indicator 
Flag or signal.  Summary data that represents 
an issue of concern or measures progress 
toward achieving an objective or outcome 
 
Infrastructure 
Roads, bridges, water supplies, drainage 
systems, buildings, landfills and transfer 
stations 
 
Intergenerational Equity 
The concept that the cost of a service should 
be fairly spread over the life of the assets, so 
that all people who benefit contribute a fair 
share 
 
Land Transport Management Act 
Land Transport Management Act 1998 
 
Land Value 
Market value of the land at time of valuation  
 
Local Government Act 2002 (LGA) 
The law that defines the powers and 
responsibilities of territorial local authorities 
like Waitaki District Council 
 
LTP 
Long Term Plan 2015-25 (renamed in 2012 
from the Long Term Council Community Plan) 
 
NZ GAAP and NZ IFRS 
A set of accounting standards that Council is 
required to observe in its public reports 

http://www.waitaki.govt.nz/
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Glossary of Terms 
 
NZTA 
New Zealand Transport Agency 
 
OBPC 
Oamaru Blue Penguin Colony 
 
Operating Expenditure 
Expenditure for the normal services of the 
Council 
 
Outcome 
A desired state of affairs 
 
Rates 
Funds collected by the Council from levies on 
property.  These are based on capital value or 
land value of the property but the term is often 
used to include Targeted Rates 
 
Reserves Act 
Reserves Act 1977 
 
RMA 
Resource Management Act 1991 and RMA 
Amendment Act 1993 
 

 
Targeted Rates (TR) 
Rates levied for undertaking a specified 
function or for providing any specified service 
for the benefit of all or part of the district.  
Targeted Rates must be applied only to the 
purpose for which they are levied, and may be 
in the form of: 

• A uniform rate in the dollar of property 
value on all properties 

• A differential rate in the dollar of property 
value on all properties 

• A Targeted Rate per separately rateable 
property (TR) 

 
Sale and Supply of Alcohol Act 2013 
(Replaces Sale of Liquor Act 1989) 
 
Wastewater 
Wastewater is a combination of liquid wastes 
which may include chemicals, house wastes, 
laundry wastes, toilet wastes, animal and 
vegetable matter in suspension or solution and 
other wastes discharged from residential, 
business and industrial establishments 

 


